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SENATOR DEBORAH V. ORTIZ:  [Recording difficulties] … challenge for California, the better off we all are in developing good public policy.  So, I want to thank you all, who have been to a series of these hearings and probably will attend a few more, for joining us this morning.


Today, we are going to hear the perspectives of many interested parties on several issues related to regulation and radioactive waste.  All of you are very familiar with the complexity, political sensitivity, and the difficult science and powerful interests associated with this issue.


Present or principal legislators are Senator Kuehl, who will be making her own opening comments, and Senator Romero, who’ll be joining us.  They’ve been very active in addressing this issue.  


I understand that there are representatives here from the community that is affected by the regulations in California and elsewhere, as well as many administrators.  From my observations of the various committee hearings, I thought it was critical to have the representatives of the state come to the committee and give us some understanding of the challenges and how the state is preparing to deal with this.  I want to thank you all for being here.


We’ve got a number of speakers that are concentrated on two main panels, so we do ask that you all be very observant of the time and be as concise as you can in your remarks and answers.  I know some of this may be redundant for some of you; others may want to be redundant.  But I do ask that you try to move through and not repeat other witnesses’ testimony.  I understand that we’ve had a little bit of a change in some of the speakers.  Hopefully, we’ll be able to move through the agenda in a way that still is consistent with the kind of information we’re trying to extract through this hearing.  We ask generally that the presentations within each panel be restricted to ten minutes each, with more time available depending, again, on the Senators’ questions, which are, I think, the heart of this discussion.


We’re holding this important hearing today in order to facilitate a more informed awareness of the issues around low-level radioactive waste, including its decommissioning and disposal, but overall on the regulatory framework regarding this important area.  It’s my hope that we’re going to be able to become more informed on the roles and various responsibilities of various state offices, learning more about how these agencies and offices are handling things internally within their jurisdictions, but also, and very importantly, how they interact in the collaboration among these jurisdictional and complex policy issues.


We’ve also been able to draw together a group of very diverse stakeholders who, hopefully, can share with us their perspectives on the current policy situation in California and their areas of concern and what recommendations they may have on how the state should proceed in regard to radioactive waste in the future.


As you know, this has been a very contentious issue for some time.  There are communities that are affected by the risks associated with low-level radioactive waste and, therefore, legitimate concerns raised by those of us who represent them.  The stakeholders and the representatives have discussed these issues at length.  In areas where there are differences of opinion as well as understanding and perspective, they’re matched with very high levels of conviction.  Clearly, the controversy over radioactive exposure is historic.  It’s national and highly emotional.  I hope that we can work through this discussion in a manner which respects those passionately held opinions but also moves through the policy and the questions that we need to get through in this very short period of time.


The debate over these radiation standards is at least twenty years old and still without consensus.  At the federal level, there is a profound disagreement among and between various responsible agencies.  These issues generate a gut-level response from the public and strong interest from the press.  Again, I hope that today we can move forward to determine a course of action that will ultimately lead to resolution, if not agreement, on this policy.  I do not entertain any expectation that this hearing will resolve the scientific differences or establish a new standard.  In light of the recent court decision and legislative hearing on this issue in Senator Romero’s Select Committee on Urban Landfills on April 19th, I hope that we’ll be able to discuss in a more forward-looking manner how to best proceed and how to include the many perspectives already participating in this lively policy discussion.  


I understand that our first speaker who was prepared to give the overview today – Mr. Kip Wiley of the Senate Office of Research – has, unfortunately, been unable to join us.  He’s been called to work with a number of complex budget issues.  I think Senator Burton pulled rank on this committee, and I apologize for that.  The committee staff has prepared what I believe is a good general summary of the issues before us; a summary of the history, a summary of the science, and an introduction into the pending legislation.


I will now allow my colleagues, who have been working hard in this area, to make a few opening comments prior to hearing from the first panel.  Thank you for joining us.


Senator Kuehl?  


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I’m very pleased that you decided to hold this hearing and pull together this information so that we can hear essentially at the same time from numbers of people who appear to be in deep conflict.  Sometimes, when you hear from them one at a time, it’s very difficult to sort out the chaff from the grain.


Without apology, I have been and remain very critical of the role of the Department of Health Services (DHS) in this area.  As a member of your committee, Madam Chair, you know that I have been very pleased with the operation of DHS in many of the areas that protect public health.  This is a notable failure so far, I believe.  


My involvement in this essentially began before my first public action in 1999 in terms of the awareness of increased cancers in the residential census track next to the Santa Susana Field Laboratory, which is right up against one boundary of my district.  There was a failure at that time, in my opinion, by DHS to notify the public of this elevated cancer cluster.  I decided the Legislature should be involved in this as there had been very little attention paid to the nexus of low-level radioactive waste and public health by the Legislature.  Frankly, even today there’s only a few of us who are trying to be as aware of all the issues and facts as possible and to do something about it.  I brought, as you know, Madam Chair, Senate Bill 243, which essentially had all of these pieces in it, and it was a very complicated – especially for me – first attempt to do this.  


Therefore, what we decided to do this year was to try to approach the various issues involved in the disposal of low-level radioactive waste, decommissioning issues, cleanup standards, even an inventory of what exists in the state, etc., in separate bills which are making their way now through the Legislature.  Senator Romero has taken the lead in having a Select Committee on these issues, and I was very happy to see that.  


I’ve had numerous interactions with the Radiologic Health Branch, as has my staff, over the last four years, and I’m sorry to say that none of those contacts have been positive.  I have come to the conclusion, and I’m happy to be disabused as time goes on – at least I would love to be disabused of the conclusion – that there is an intractable force in this branch that is operating against the best interests of the health of the people of California.  Indeed, even though the Department of Health Services has indicated that they have taken no official position on our legislation, we have gotten a great deal of information that some staff who have regulatory authority are using the influence of their position and have sent out requests for opposition to the bills.  We can talk about that later after the first panel presents, but I thought it was a good thing to put in my opening comments so that those who are testifying may at least be able to explain why that might be an appropriate use of their authority.


Overall, however, it’s my great hope that the State of California can take the lead in the protection of public health in this area.  This is one of those science fiction kinds of things you read in various kinds of books, “Maybe we’ll take all of our waste and shoot it into space.  We’ll put it in a wormhole and hope that it turns out in the Delta Quadrant somewhere.”  Unfortunately, until those kinds of solutions are available, we have a responsibility, I believe, here in California to set a protective standard, to set regulation and statute, and to take a very strong position to protect public health.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Senator Romero.  Welcome.


SENATOR GLORIA ROMERO:  Thank you so much.  


I’d like to thank you, Madam Chair, for calling this meeting.  I think it’s going to be very important to continue to shed light on a body of work and investigation and findings that already is well in place.  I doubt that this will be the last of these hearings.  I’m sure, under the auspices of Health or the Senate Select Committee or other committees, that we’re going to continue to explore this issue.


I also want to make very clear from the beginning that I have serious concerns about the capabilities and the will of the Department of Health Services to protect the public – the people that I represent – from excess exposure to low levels of radioactive waste, and I want to state that from the outset.


The Radiologic Health Branch of DHS has consistently sided with the regulated community whenever there was a dispute involving the public health of California citizens and our children.  And I will say that I am very disappointed that the chief of the Radiologic Branch is, unfortunately, not here with us today to testify.  He did provide some very interesting testimony to the Senate Select Committee.  I was hoping to query him further today, and I was disappointed that he is not here to continue that discussion.


It seems that whether the issue is safe disposal or cleaning standards for line(?) facilities, DHS has adopted and continues to adopt the least-protective standards, failing to acknowledge its congressional authority to implement states’ rights, to move us beyond the floor and to lift us from simply the bare minimum, and to implement stronger protections that California has never been shy about advocating and holding forth on other issues in the past.


I became very involved and interested in this issue when I was elected to the Senate, and I formed the Senate Select Committee on Urban Landfills.  Why?  Because in my district, the 24th Senate District – L.A., East Los Angeles, San Gabriel Valley – you know what?  There sits, with my constituents, the nation’s largest operative landfill.  So, I am very concerned about what gets dumped into not only that landfill but the multiplicity of landfills that exist in L.A. County and in dense urban areas.


I first learned about the change in DHS regulations and essentially the deregulation of the disposal of low-level radioactive waste when I read about this in the Los Angeles Times.  I was shocked.  Where was the public input?  I was in the Legislature at the time.  I made some phone calls, and not surprisingly, a few other people who probably should be in the know were equally shocked, and I began to ask questions:  Was there cooperation between agencies?  Was there discussion?  What was the role for public input?  Was there a CEQA process?  I began to be very concerned, especially when I learned that the implications of this new change was that not only are we looking at essentially the deregulation of the disposal of radioactive waste – another deregulation in California that maybe was a bit hasty and maybe we should have some discussion about – but that there would not necessarily be restrictions.  


This isn’t just going to go to the neighborhood garbage dump that most of my constituents think are not toxic dumps – these are garbage dumps – but also, this could be released and used in consumer products:  spoons, belt buckles, kids’ braces.  My daughter wore braces.  I wouldn’t want to have radioactive waste ending up in her braces or in any other child’s braces.  All of this was done without DHS analysis as to the potential health impacts, and I believe that this change, this policy, is at direct odds with what I believe should be the fundamental premise of radioactive safety:  that radioactive waste should not be placed in intimate human contact.


As you know, we have taken steps to address issues related to low-level radioactive waste; myself, to simply restore a previous DHS regulation which I think was working well.  I have held hearings.  I have called for an audit of the decision-making process, and have been involved in this issue as we go forward.  But I believe that at this point, as we gather more information and we question those who regulate the citizens that we represent, that it’s time for us to ask questions.  I think it’s important for us to begin to put the questions out there:  Is it time to reorganize our agencies so that the Radiologic Branch is, perhaps, transferred to a different state agency?  Or, is there a process that we can begin to implement to ensure that government actually talks to each other?  The Waste Board should talk to the Water Resources Board, should talk to the Department of Health Services, should talk to Cal/EPA, and through it all, that each one of these bureaucracies should talk to the public, to the stakeholders, who ultimately live with and immediately adjacent to the landfills which ultimately bear the product of the decisions and the regulations that are changed sometimes in the dark of night.  I believe there should be this.  This is what we intend to do, to continue to have the discussion.


I think this is particularly important now that we have a frank discussion, particularly given the ruling by the court and essentially the rebuking of DHS for purposefully ignoring CEQA requirements in this particular endeavor.  I believe that no bureaucracy, especially a department that does so well in so many other aspects of health in the State of California. I’m very proud to say that our Department of Health Services is a shining example when it comes to protecting the health concerns of women and children and so many other ways, but I believe, and I agree, has failed in this endeavor, and not only that, I believe has played fast and loose with the facts.


I think we need to get to a situation and have the discussion where we begin to expect that we will have a regulator with the will and the ability and the tenacity to protect California’s citizens from any adverse potential effect related to radioactive waste and not to walk away from the issue.


I want to see as we go forward, and I have questions about, when an employee raises questions about allegations dealing with illegal dumping, I want to see that that agency responds to the individual, not walks away.  I want to see that the Department and any of our state agencies involved with radioactive waste does not obfuscate facts from the public and sister agencies and certainly legislators as well.


I think we can do our work.  I think it’s important.  For me, I think that the identity and the legacy of DHS is one in which we can move it in a positive fashion but only if we have a frank discussion, rolling up our sleeves, discussing with each other and our sister agencies what has occurred and what should occur.  I believe we can do this at this point.  I intend to be a willing partner in this.  I expect and I hope that the questions we ask and the research we called for is given to us; and please, on a timely basis as well.


I will continue to research this issue, and we will continue to move our bills through the Legislature.  I think we are at a critical juncture whereby we can begin to move California – really, reassert California – into the role that it should be:  being a true active defender of the public health and be willing to take on the issues that concern us and have the strong agencies that are willing to talk to its public, who ultimately we should be serving.


Madam Chair, I thank you for following up on this and having this hearing today, and let’s get started.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We have at least fifteen speakers.  I understand both Senators are on a tight timeline.  I, fortunately or unfortunately, live here in Sacramento, so I don’t have a flight to catch.  I do want to make sure that we get through the questions.


Before we move forward in the first panel, let me take a moment to introduce Jennifer Sanderson from Saint Francis High School who is shadowing us today.  I’m sure she will be, hopefully, a witness to government in action at its highest form, so let’s all be on our best behavior.  Thank you for joining us today.


 Let me provide a foundation again.  I observed the Select Committee hearing on television, since I’m not a member of that committee, and was quite alarmed at the enormity of the allegations and the complexity of the issues.  Then, of course, I observed the Local Government Committee hearing in which Senator Kuehl presented her bill, and the chair of that committee was good enough to actually recommend that there possibly be a hearing under the jurisdiction of the Health Committee.  I declined that because I thought there was a very thorough hearing in both the situations in which this issue was highlighted.  Then, once again, in the Budget Subcommittee there was an effort to transition the division into another department.  At that point, I said this is a very complex issue, we’re looking at pieces of it, and much of it is very alarming.  I thought it was very important to plough through some of the questions about the cooperation among the agencies, or noncooperation, as it was presented, and important for us to hear.  Fortunately enough, I have Senator Chesbro as well as Senators Kuehl and Romero on this committee, so I thought it would give us a third bite of the apple, so to speak, or fourth, actually, at this point.  So, that was what triggered my desire to have a hearing on this issue.


What also concerns me is the number of representations by the Department as well as others.  What is a disappointment today is that I did ask that a representative from Cal/EPA appear.  I understand that Mr. Winston Hickox has declined that invitation, which is disappointing to me because I think it’s very critical to be able to ask that very question of what the Secretary’s position would be on this policy issue as well.  We can all assume that shifting it over to Cal/EPA would be a good thing, but absent some position by Mr. Hickox, we can’t assume that.  So, I will weigh in as being quite disappointed that he is not here today to answer that question.  I don’t know that moving bodies over to another division is going to solve this problem, but rather than take up a lot of time arriving at a position, I want all of the witnesses to come and present the foundation.  We may or may not come to the same conclusions.  I think that there’s some very pointed questions that need to be raised across the system.  


I understand that Mr. Lowry is here from the Department of Toxics and Substance Control (DTSC), so that is much appreciated and, I think, is going to be very helpful.  There are a number of other agencies:  the Water Board as well as the Waste Management Board.  I’ve seen correspondence that members of the Waste Management Board are appalled that this is occurring or that there had not been cooperation, and that may, in fact, be the case.  But what I would also like to see is that independent body, if it feels so strongly about this issue, vote for and pass a policy that says, “This is our position.”  I’ve yet to see that from the Integrated Waste Management Board.  


So, I think there’s a lot of questions across the board.  If there is a recalcitrant employee in the Department that is doing things contrary to the Administration’s position, that warrants very serious consideration.  I simply want to put more questions out there rather than arrive at conclusions.  


I also want to, through the course of this hearing today, answer the very difficult question:  If, indeed, we no longer have the capacity or the locations to store waste that we are producing, what is the end result?  If we say, “It shall not go here or there,” and if we can’t arrive at appropriate safeguards, there are legitimate concerns that are raised.  We don’t know the science.  We really do have to ask the question of whether there’s a risk to the public and, if so, is it a public health risk, and what are the levels that we should develop as a policy beyond what the feds have imposed upon us, or beyond what we’ve operated as, as a result of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) standards?  Let’s go beyond, if appropriate, but we then have to ask that question:  What do we do with the waste that we produce here in California?  If we say, “It’s not going to go here or there” – Class 1, Class 2, Class 3 – are we going to say that some other state has to take that?  


I think each of the members who have worked very hard on this prior to   me – Senator Romero as well as Senator Kuehl – have asked that question in different ways, but I’ve also asked that question about an inventory.  We don’t quite know, and we don’t have a really good sense of what that inventory is like out there.  I know there are efforts in their various measures to try to arrive at that question.  


I was hoping not to arrive at absolute conclusions; rather, hopefully have the speakers guide us through the questions which will help us to either solidify positions that some have arrived at but also help me to form more questions, because, as I said, this is not going to be resolved in this hearing.


With that, since we’ve shifted panels, let me ask the participants to come forward for Item 3:  “Discussion of the role, perspectives, responsibilities, and collaboration between state agencies in the development of radiation policy.”  I believe our first participant and speaker is Mr. Lowry, who is the director of the Department of Toxics and Substance Control.  He is here representing Cal/EPA, though I would have preferred Mr. Hickox to be here.  Not that Mr. Lowry isn’t important.  We’ve worked together, and I do appreciate you being here.  Thank you, but please let the Secretary know that I’m a bit disappointed.


I don’t know if we were able to forward to you a number of questions ahead of time, but let me open up with the first question.

· How does DTSC relate with DHS on mixed waste, waste that is both toxic and radioactive?  

· What had been the formal or informal methods of collaboration between DTSC and DHS?  

· Given your experience with toxic substances and mixed waste, what is your perspective on a state radiation standard?

And,

· In what way can you envision the Department working with other agencies that are directly or peripherally involved with low-level radioactive waste that would be an improvement over the current situation?


MR. ED LOWRY:  Thank you, Senator, for inviting me here today.  I would like to express the Secretary’s regrets for not being here.  Were he here, there would be a marshal from the Superior Court of the State of California taking him back to jury duty, where he is now serving on a trial.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Then we’ll call him back when he’s off jury duty, because they will certainly throw him off, I’m sure.  I hear it’s a toxic dumping case.


MR. LOWRY:  The video that they show to the jurors says, “You’re entitled to a jury of your peers, not a politician or a bureaucrat.”  He thought that would get him off; in fact, he’s been sworn and is a member of a twelve-member jury.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Then I will withhold criticism of him.  He is doing what he should be doing.  But we’ll get him back another time.


MR. LOWRY:  Fine.


What I would like to do in answering your questions – as you know, you have a number of folks on the agenda representing state agencies in the Executive Branch – is to give you a perspective, and I will very rigorously adhere to the ten-minute rule because I think I’ll have less than that, and then be able to answer questions.  Some of the questions I will actually hope to defer to Dr. Bontá of Department of Health Services.


Within the California Environmental Protection Agency there are three organizations that have a role related to waste, as you’ve talked about it:  DTSC, which I’m the director of, State Water Resources Control Board, and the Integrated Waste Management Board, as well as the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.  We do have people here who can address their roles.  I thought it would be useful to give you a very brief overview of our role in that.  


We have within the regulatory framework of DTSC, which receives its legislative authorization under RCRA and CIRCLA relating primarily to chemical hazardous waste, three active Class 1 facilities within California that we regulate.  They accept hazardous waste for disposal.  Two of those facilities accept what’s known as “naturally occurring radioactive materials,” primarily from the oil drilling and geothermal, I think as well, industries.  We do not have enforcement or regulatory authority over radioactive wastes, and pursuant to Public Resources Code 43210, all enforcement activities are performed by the Department of Health Services in those arenas pursuant to that section.


We do have authority over mixed waste, and mixed waste is a combination of hazardous wastes and radioactive wastes.  Our approach to that is to regulate the hazardous parts of that waste and to defer regulatory decisions to DHS – and by that I mean Department of Health Services – in terms of standards and authority.  We do, however, coordinate with them and speak actively with them about those issues.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You defer the enforcement of the standards to DHS.


MR. LOWRY:  Right.  They are the agency commanded by statute to deal with enforcement activities as it relates to radioactive waste, even though they could be in hazardous waste landfills that we regulate and license.  A standard provision in a permit which we have would be to conform with other laws and regulations of the State of California, which would then incorporate their standards and authority into that permit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You mentioned you speak to them regularly.  Is that formally or informally?  Do you initiate that?  Is it when an issue arises you get a call?


MR. LOWRY:  We have people at various levels who deal with permitting matters, modifications to permits, and enforcement issues.  Our staff are able to call their staff and ask, “What is going on there?  Do we have a problem here?  What do you want to do about it?”  I have with me Dr. Jeff Wong, who’s the deputy director of the Science, Pollution Prevention, and Technology branch of my department.  He and Mr. Reilly have talked on occasion about various subjects related to this.  I do not think that we have a formal committee which meets on radioactive issues with respect to DHS, but it is an agency-to-agency collaborative approach, I guess is the best way I can characterize it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you wouldn’t mind, I’d like you to be a little more specific on an issue.  Well, Senator Kuehl has a question, but I would like you to come back and answer the question:  Given your experience with toxic substances and mixed waste, what is your perspective on a state radiation standard, and in what way can you envision the Department working with other agencies?  You’ve given a general discussion that you do, but I don’t know if you’ve given specifics on how they may do it better.  So, think about that, and let me allow Senator Kuehl to raise some questions.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I have one question related to the issue that Mr. Lowry was addressing at this moment about the relationship, and what you said was a collaboration with the Department of Health Services.  Have you ever requested information regarding the Department of Health Services’ standards and procedures specifically dealing with radioactive waste and been frustrated at your inability to get an answer or – I don’t know how to say this – found them to be somewhat less than forthcoming in some aspects?


MR. LOWRY:  We have asked that on various occasions.  I don’t have the details on all of these requests, and so forth, for decisions and advice from DHS.  I think, in general, we are satisfied with the information which we’ve received from them.  We are, like any other organization, sometimes frustrated at the pace of information which we get.  As a director, I’m frustrated with the pace of information I get from people within my own department on occasion.  But I would not say that that’s above or beyond a level of frustration that would have occurred in any other situation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Romero?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Madam Chair, let me ask you first.  Since we do have a big agenda, would you prefer that people testify and then open it up?  I heard you say ten minutes.  I’m hoping it’s not that everybody has ten minutes plus questions because we’re going to miss our planes; we’re going to leave and not have input.  So, what are your thoughts on this?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  My hope was to try to get through all of the speakers per panel.  There’s some specific questions that we have certainly forwarded, and I’m trying to get Mr. Lowry to answer those questions and then move on to the next speaker.  So, I’m working from a series of questions.  Ten minutes is a nice ideal timeline for each of the panelists’ questions, but we spent a half hour on the opening comments.  Let’s do ten minutes with questions per speaker.


So, go ahead, please.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I have a question then.  I’m assuming you weren’t here in 1992.


MR. LOWRY:  That’s correct.  Certainly not in the position which I occupy now.


SENATOR ROMERO:  That was when the reorganization took place.  Governor Wilson reorganized the Department’s Toxics.  We were removed from DHS in 1992, but the Radiologic Branch stayed behind in DHS.  Of course, separate and apart from that, you have completely independent boards.  You’ve got the Waste Management Board, the Water Board, and other boards as well.


Does this make sense?  Again, we collaborate, but I want to know how.  If a proposed regulation gets put out there, how do you talk to each other?  Does it make sense?


MR. LOWRY:  Does the current structure of environmental organizations within the State of California make sense?  No, it does not make perfect sense.  It is a creature of the various statutes which are related, in some sense, to federal law and to historical action policy and sometimes accidental as to how we’re put together.  The California Environmental Protection Agency is modeled loosely on the Environmental Protection Agency of the United States, but we have water boards which have been around longer than USEPA.  We have a Department of Toxics which led, as part of DHS, some of the regulation of toxics and followed USEPA and others.  So, it is a historical meshing of agencies with different mandates, different statutory authorities, and what we are trying to do within Cal/EPA is to work as best we can in a multimedia approach, coordinated by the Secretary, to make sure that we’re talking to each other.


SENATOR ROMERO:  How?


MR. LOWRY:  How do we do that?  Each of the executives of the Cal/EPA have weekly meetings with the Secretary.  It’s called “The Lunch Bunch.”  We meet every Tuesday and talk about what’s happening within our organizations; what each of the executives needs to know about the other organization.  The chair of the Water Board – Art Baggett – and I have coordinated and convened, along with the Waste Board, several committees to try to, on various subjects, say, “This is not working very well.  Members of the public come to us and they think they have a sign-off, and the Water Board says ‘But you didn’t get our sign-off,’ or vice versa.”  So, I would say in the last three years there have been significant attempts to reduce the silo mentality and Balkanization, or whatever, between these organizations.  It’s a ten-year Balkanization in the making, which we’re working pretty hard to overcome.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’ve asked my staff to guide me on our ten-minute rule.  I don’t have a flight.  I think Senator Kuehl’s here close to noon.  I don’t know, Senator Romero, whether your flight is earlier.  Let’s try to make noon the timeline.  With that, let me thank Mr. Lowry, unless there are further questions for him.


Is Mr. Wong prepared to come forward, as well as Ms. Cantú?


MR. LOWRY:  In terms of Mr. Wong, he is my technical brains, and if there are questions which you might want to ask him about how this works, that would be fine.  He does not have a prepared statement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have some technical questions regarding the mixed waste, just so that we get a better understanding, so if he could quickly come forward and address a little bit about what mixed waste is, how we receive it, where it comes from, and what kind of threat it poses, and whether there’s some uniformity in the scientific community about mixed waste.  I think much of what we’re addressing is that issue of mixed waste, and I think it’s helpful to distinguish that from other types of radioactive waste.


Welcome.


DR. JEFF WONG:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Tell us a bit about mixed waste and what kinds of threats it can pose.  How do we get it, and what is it?


DR. WONG:  Mixed waste is usually, as I think Mr. Lowry explained earlier, a waste that comes from an operation that may lead to waste streams that has both radioactive and chemical components.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where does it come from?


DR. WONG:  The mixed waste that I’m familiar with is usually due to weapons manufacturing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How does that end up in a landfill?


DR. WONG:  In our agency, the material would not end up in the landfills that we would have in our jurisdiction.  Mixed waste would go normally to licensed landfills, licensed center C landfills, either in Washington or in Nevada.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And these are the Class 1 facilities?


DR. WONG:  They’re facilities licensed to take that material.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And we have three of those in California?


DR. WONG:  We have three Class 1 facilities, but I’m not sure that they would take material classified as mixed waste.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, they would go into Class 2 and Class 3?


MR. LOWRY:  No, they would go to facilities out of state licensed to take radioactive materials.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Any questions of this witness?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Dr. Wong, DHS proposed a policy of allowing, virtually unrestricted, disposal of material from sites with residual radiation as high as 25 millirem.  Do you see any potential problems with allowing unrestricted disposal of material with radiation that high, or at that level?


DR. WONG:  That’s a policy judgment.  To arrive at whether or not that would be considered safe, in my mind we’d need to collect the input from a number of stakeholders and obtain some kind of consensus as to whether or not that’s prudent public policy for here in California.  Traditionally, 25 millirem has been used by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.  Lower standards, such as 15 millirem, has been proposed for use by the EPA as an environmental standard.  And there are some states that propose even lower standards.  Again, it’s a policy decision.  It’s not a technical or scientific decision.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Maybe you can help me understand then.  If we have a site that has residual radiation, let’s say, at 25 millirem, is that an average, or does that mean that every single piece of that site, including hot spots or whatever, is at that level or lower?


DR. WONG:  Exposure associated with 25 millirem would come from a very careful site characterization; that is, you would sample the site and try to figure out for the proposed land use what would be the exposure that would occur to the residual material that would be left on that site.  I wouldn’t think it would be proper to have a hot spot that would, let’s say, represent 100 millirem and then try to average out with all of the rest of the site that could have lower and then say the average across would be 25.  I think in most cases the cleanup would involve the excavation and removal of those hot spots.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But it is just the excavation and removal of those hot spots with which we might be concerned in moving something to a landfill or a disposal site.


I guess one of the things I would like you to clarify, if you could, is I have a fear of multiple shipments from a site with residual radiation – let’s say as high as 25 millirem – going to a single municipal landfill.  Could that potentially be a problem?  Is there a cumulative factor to this that may make us feel a little more ill at ease about the removal of this material into a landfill or a disposal site?


DR. WONG:  If you have a unit of material being removed and then disposed of at a facility, and that material at the original site was associated at 25 millirem exposure, and then you had a second shipment of material to a site, that would not lead to a summation.  That would not lead, then, to a 50 millirem exposure.


SENATOR KUEHL:  No, I understand.


DR. WONG:  You definitely would be increasing the size of the source; that is, you would have a greater volume of material that would lead to potentially that kind of exposure.  But again, landfills are usually designed for containment to minimize exposure.  There is a component to exposure which is direct exposure.  That would be minimized by the material being buried.  And the containment of the material through liners or engineering, again, would minimize exposure.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But regular landfills that are not licensed for this or prepared, are you characterizing them also as being designed in a way that would allay our fears?


DR. WONG:  Nonlicensed landfills, municipal landfills, let’s say, in the very near term may contain it, but the radioactive materials are long-lived, and the idea behind a licensed landfill is to have an engineering structure that can contain the material for the long term until a point where the material is no longer a hazard.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I understand we haven’t established a basis for where we feel safe and where we don’t feel safe, speaking as a person that grew up in a neighborhood with a big sign that said, “Smoke Camel cigarettes.  They’re good for you.”  I guess if we are talking about municipal landfills and something at lower than 25 millirem going to regular landfills, the fact that this material is long-lived, would that be a source of concern for us in terms of the health of people around the landfill as we move this residual material which has been decommissioned there?


DR. WONG:  Again, I think it’s best to ask DHS because they have that responsibility for regulating that material.  But again, under their current operation or rules of process, materials that are less than 25 millirem could be disposed of at these places.  Whether or not that means it’s safe in my personal feeling or safe for society, again, that’s a social issue that I think you need to explore, as you will, here.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I had hoped to get a little more specificity on your opinions since you are the scientist in the division that’s supposed to give us an understanding of the science of mixed waste as well as this area.  I guess we can’t extract that out.


Senator Romero, did you have further questions?


SENATOR ROMERO:  We’ve referred to the Superfund legislation.  As I understand that legislation, that legislation seeks cleanups that allow one additional cancer death per one million people.  Of course, there are certain circumstances when the Department will accept one additional cancer per 10,000 people.  In your opinion, is the 25 millirem standard that was adopted by DHS and subsequently to that overturned by the court, is that 25 millirem standard as protective of human health as the Superfund guidelines that are carried with the legislation?  Are they as protective?


DR. WONG:  Senator Romero, you’re correct in stating that under the National Contingency Plan there is a risk range in which EPA prefers to make its risk management decision, and it is the 25 millirem standard used by the NRC.  It’s been stated in EPA documents that this standard exists outside of their preferred risk range.  So, it is beyond the circle of standard, the NCP standard.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I’m sorry, it is beyond what?


DR. WONG:  It is outside the circle of standard.


MR. LOWRY:  So, that would be less protective.


SENATOR ROMERO:  It is not as protective as the Superfund legislation.  Okay, thank you.


Also, people ask me, “Why should we be worried?”  Why should we treat nuclear waste different from any other form of hazardous waste for the average citizen out there and for the average Senator up here?  Why should we treat them different?  Is it come one, come all?


DR. WONG:  That’s an interesting question.  I think that the fundamental biological basis for harm is very much similar between chemical and radiological hazards.  I don’t think that they necessarily need to be treated differently.  With time, there is a larger public concern when you say “radiological hazards.”  There’s so much more public fear.  But again, in terms of a scientific basis, I don’t think that there is a difference.  Chemical waste is long-lived.  It doesn’t break down.  Radiological waste is long-lived, and it doesn’t break down.  Therefore, there’s a need for long-term containment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We need to get to the next speaker because we’re running out of time.  But what I see here, I think the questions between USEPA and NRC is the same kind of challenge we have here in California:  the difference between Cal/EPA and DHS when it comes to the discussion of Chromium-6 levels; an action level versus a public health level.  We’ve always seen this disconnect in the various jurisdictional bodies, and it was frustrating to me under the Chrome-6 debate that we do have two different standards and they are not aligned.  We have a more protective standard, and then we have action levels which, in some respects, some would regard as compromises.  So, we see the analogist dilemma on a federal level.


The 25 millirem standard, we ought to be revisiting it.  We ought to be, as the Senators are appropriately doing, asking for a lower level, but that has been the standard on the federal level that has been delegated to the state.  We essentially are the enforcement body for that 25 millirem standard, and it was that under the Wilson Administration.  Some will say we probably should have done better.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Senator, again too, there are differences at the federal.  NRC is 25, but that’s disputed by the national EPA and Congress—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is what I just said in terms of the difference we have in DHS and Cal/EPA on action levels as well as public health levels.  It’s exactly that disconnect that we see on a federal level that we have here on a state level, and therein lies the challenge as we make good policy.  Let’s reconcile.  Why do we have two different standards, one that is perceived as more protective of public health on a federal level and one less?  We see the same contradiction here in the State of California, which is the frustration.  We say, “Let’s give it to Cal/EPA.”  I want to hear Cal/EPA say, “I think it should be less than that.  I want it to be 1 millirem.”  I haven’t heard that today.  That’s my challenge here.  Let’s not think that we’re fixing a problem by shifting it over by an agency that hasn’t given us a clear message, and that’s what I want to hear in this committee hearing.  I know you guys are not authorized to do that, but let’s put that out there.


MR. LOWRY:  Very well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I do want to say, this is frustrating on a state level with the public health and the action levels, as well as the NRC and the USEPA difference in these standards.


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I have one last question, and I’m not sure if you’re the right people to ask, but I’ll renew it as others come forward.


Should we set a lower standard, let’s say a very low standard?  If it were the case, is what I meant.  Not ought we.  If it were the case that we set a lower standard, would that mean that every kind of radioactive waste above that standard would be considered low-level radioactive waste and have to go out of state?


MR. LOWRY:  Well, that’s a question maybe you have the wrong people up because you don’t have lawyers here.  I’m a lawyer, but I don’t practice laws in this position.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m a lawyer, and I don’t play one on television.  (Laughter)


MR. LOWRY:  So, your question is, suppose the standard were set at lower than 25, what would happen between that number and above?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, whatever we’re using now as the standard, if it’s 25, and something registers above that – and I thought you said we send it to another kind of facility for disposal – if we were to lower the standard, would that mean that everything above that standard would have to go out of state?


MR. LOWRY:  Well, it would not be there at unrestricted levels.  You could only go to a place, I would think, that is licensed to take that.  I don’t know that we have licenses right now which have been defined for that eventuality, because until today or last week or whatever, that’s pretty much a hypothetical issue.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a question we’ve got to get to.


I know we have violated our ten-minute rule.  I do want to hear—


MR. LOWRY:  Senator, on your list you have Celeste Cantú next and then Allan Hirsch.  It’s our request that you place Mr. Leary between Ms. Cantú and Mr. Hirsch when you call him up.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s have everybody come up.  Let’s have Ms. Cantú, Mr. Leary, and Mr. Hirsch come forward, and then after that it would be Mr. Reilly and then the director of Health Services, Director Bontá.


Ms. Cantú, welcome.


MS. CELESTE CANTÚ:  Good morning.  


My name is Celeste Cantú.  I’m the executive director of the State Water Resources Control Board.  Thank you very much for inviting us here today.  I have ten points to describe what we at the water boards do relative to this issue.  


Under the Water Code, the State Water Board and the regional water boards are charged with the protection of water quality for the State of California.  As a potential type of water quality contaminant, the water boards can regulate radioactive waste if it threatens the beneficial use of water.  So, it’s very focused.  This authority is limited by federal law which precludes states from regulating contaminants of NRC regulated waste unless otherwise specified.  Nevertheless, the State Board maintains that it can assert its authority if such waste escaped containment and threatened the beneficial uses of the state’s water.


State Board regulations for waste disposal provide a statewide framework based on the threat to beneficial uses of water with requirements for siting, operation, and closure of waste disposal sites.  The regional boards impose those requirements through issuance of waste discharge requirements and compliance and enforcement efforts to ensure adequate protection of water quality.  


The regional boards issue waste discharge requirements for a small number of waste disposal facilities that accept waste that are commonly known to contain radioactive constituents but are not under the regulatory purview of NRC or DHS.  So, we’re talking about very low-level radiation.  These are primary facilities that discharge drilling muds, like geothermal waste, and certain mining operations.  The waste discharge requirements specify waste prohibitions and monitor requirements for leachate, groundwater, and surface water.


Wastes with incidental radioactive properties such as watches, exit signs, etc., that are not distinguished from other nonhazardous solid waste, they’re typically disposed of, as such, in municipal solid waste landfills.  So, they’re not distinguished; they’re just considered waste.


The State Board shares regulation of municipal solid waste landfills with the California Integrated Waste Management Board and jointly implements the state program and federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA Subtitle D) program for municipal solid waste landfills.  The Waste Board is responsible for requirements for nonwater quality issues.  So, that’s shared.  


About 170 municipal solid waste landfills are accepting nonhazardous solid waste, so approximately 20 percent of those landfills have composite liners as required by new landfill areas constructed since 1993.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you repeat those last statistics?  A hundred and seventy landfills in California are accepting?


MS. CANTÚ:  Let me start from the beginning.  About 170 municipal solid waste landfills are accepting nonhazardous solid waste.  Basically, that’s everything.  Approximately 20 percent of those landfills have composite liners, as required of new landfill areas constructed after 1993.  Composite liner systems include leachate collection systems underlain by flexible or plastic and clay liners.  Again, we’re looking at water collection; something that we think is fluid and may eventually contaminate water.  The other 80 percent of the still operating landfills are either clay lined or unlined.  


All municipal solid waste landfills are required to monitor leachate, surface, and groundwater for constituents of concern.  These do not typically include radioactive constituents.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Again, the monitoring occurs by your agency?


MS. CANTÚ:  No, we articulate requirements that the landfill is required to monitor.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And who does the monitoring?


MS. CANTÚ:  The landfill operators.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, thank you.


MS. CANTÚ:  To assess whether radioactive constituents should be considered as monitoring requirements and all municipal solid waste landfills, the State Board sent a memorandum to our regional boards of April 25th of this year, requesting that the regional boards require that 10 percent of the state’s municipal solid waste landfills sample and analyze leachate and groundwater for gross alpha and gross beta radioactivity and potentially several radioactive constituents.  This is new.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is a sampling model of 10 percent across the system annually?


MS. CANTÚ:  Right.  Well, this is a one-time sample, that we want to get this information to assess whether or not we have a problem, whether or not there’s something that warrants further response from us.  Results of the sampling analysis will be forwarded to the State Board for initial review by September 30th of this year.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And when was that one-time request made?  What date?


MS. CANTÚ:  That letter was sent out April 25th of this year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that was by which—?


MS. CANTÚ:  The State Water Resources Control Board to our regional boards.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, go ahead.


MS. CANTÚ:  The State Board also shares regulation of hazardous waste facilities with DTSC.  The law requires that waste discharge requirements issued by the regional boards for Class 1 disposal facilities be incorporated into DTSC’s Hazardous Waste Facility Permit.  In general, these WDRs (waste discharge requirements) include leachate and groundwater monitoring requirements.  So, our requirements are included, then, in their permit.


Given the complex nature of the various authorities and the need for clear definition of roles, classification, and disposal monitoring of radioactive waste, the Water Board looks forward to working with you on these important issues.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your presentation.  Is that available for committee members?  I think you’ve covered a lot of important information very quickly.  Can you share that with the committee?


MS. CANTÚ:  Certainly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Questions, committee members?


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m not sure if it’s a question.  I appreciate the information.  I’m not surprised.  I mean, I don’t think we look for something until someone raises the issue that there may be a problem.  But indicating that only 20 percent of the municipal landfills are lined, that the landfills themselves report on the testing, I assume, concerning any leaks that may be of concern or the content that you ask them to check for of various kinds of contamination or contaminants, does not, at the moment, include any measurement for radioactive discharge or waste or impact from it or particular elements. 


MS. CANTÚ:  Routinely.  There are some exceptions, where we were aware of geothermal waste that had normally occurring low-level.  We were interested in that.  So, we do have evidence in waste discharge where we did specifically require additional monitoring and different standards, and we have a few instances of those.  They are inconsistent with each other.  They were the best effort at that point in time.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Have there been any incidents of leaks from these landfills that concern you?


MS. CANTÚ:  I think it’s characteristic that landfills almost always leak.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You said there were some exceptions; that you, in fact, might have discovered radioactive leaks.  Can you cite those exceptions and the mechanism of having determined that?


MS. CANTÚ:  I’m not aware of radioactive leaks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But what is the mechanism to have determined whether or not those were occurring?


MS. CANTÚ:  They were occasions where the regional boards found it fit to require either additional monitoring or had additional standards that they articulated in the permits, and they had it because they had knowledge of what was going to go in there.  Geothermal mud was one in particular, which has a very low-level—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What are the other exceptions, other than geothermal mud?


MS. CANTÚ:  Oil drilling, stoneworks, basically mining operations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Would that be naturally occurring low-level?


MS. CANTÚ:  I think those would all be naturally occurring, correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But for the interesting observations going into the permitting process to have triggered some red flags, there would not have been a mechanism to determine.


MS. CANTÚ:  Correct, because the presumption was, if it were so low, it was safe and therefore undistinguishable from your normal waste stream, because the standards were not such at the point historically that differentiated between where we’re now looking at a much more finely tuned standard of what is considered a threat to public health.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And this isn’t just the 20 percent that are double-lined.  This is 100 percent of the landfills would have potentially raised some of these exceptions in which you might have discovered some of this.


MS. CANTÚ:  We searched and I think we found three where we had evidence of increased levels of standards that grew out of the regional boards’ oversight.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has the State Water Quality Board ever enacted a policy that was proactive that said “We should do” or “We shall do” this, in order to determine the enormity, if at all, of significant receipt of low-level radioactive waste in landfills?


MS. CANTÚ:  I think not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do they have the authority to, in fact, do that?


MS. CANTÚ:  I would say that we have the authority where water quality that could potentially affect beneficial uses could be a threat.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think it’s important because you’re absolutely right; you actually have only jurisdiction on discharge, and the Department has jurisdiction on water quality monitoring.


MS. CANTÚ:  Oh, I think we have jurisdiction of water quality in general, but in terms of the Department – DHS you’re talking about?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Correct.


MS. CANTÚ:  Their purview, as I understand it, is more for public health in general, and they’re quite narrowly focused on water quality and the threats to that water quality.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And is it fair to say that that water quality standard is higher than the public health standard or lower than?


MS. CANTÚ:  I think they’re apples and oranges, and I have no way to reconcile between the two different standards.  I have no way of saying.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


Questions, Senator Romero?


SENATOR ROMERO:  I appreciate the testimony.  It’s always shocking when you hear the statistic again that only 20 percent of the landfills are lined.  I have always been told and heard that there will be leachate eventually; it is a matter of time.


I’m glad that the Chair raised this concern about there has not been prior to, apparently, this April 25th request to do a 10 percent sampling, there has not been the requirement to go out and to proactively test to see the levels that are out there.


First of all, when do you expect this data to be ready, the April 25th data you’re collecting?  And what specifically prompted the request at this time to go out and do the sampling?


MS. CANTÚ:  If I might, I’ll step back one moment.  Twenty percent of the landfills have composite liners, and those are the kind of new and improved, since 1993, liners.  The balance of them have the more traditional clay-lined liners.  So they’re not all not lined, just to be clear on that.


What prompted us – I heard reference to the L.A. Times article earlier, and that may have actually been it.  We got the spider sense that we should be worried about something out there.


SENATOR ROMERO:  The L.A. Times article?  Which one?


MS. CANTÚ:  There was one in March?  I don’t remember exactly.  Springtime.  I’m not certain that’s exactly what triggered it, but we began to get a sense that we should be worried about something, and we became aware of something that we were basically unaware of previously.  We were concerned and therefore curious.  


As to when this information might be available, we are expecting it back from our regional boards September 25th.  I’ve not heard any feedback that people are having any difficulties getting it.  Once we get it, that will determine exactly when we’ll be able to make sense of it and share it.  We may have surprises.  I don’t know what we’ll receive.  It will take some time for us to process it and make some sense of it.


SENATOR ROMERO:  One last question.  Were you aware or had any role in any conversation with DHS with respect to their regulations on the 25 millirem dumping?


MS. CANTÚ:  I certainly have not.  I’m not aware that our staff had.  We do most of our coordination with DTSC and the Waste Board regarding these kinds of matters.  We have a very lively discussion and conversation.  Our staff may call DHS, I understand, on a permit-by-permit basis where they’re seeking clarity or technical information.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Again, I hear DTSC, Integrated Waste Management Board, and Cal/EPA talk to each other, but we haven’t quite found out how you all, either individually or as a group, talk to the Department.  I’m not asking questions.  I’m just reiterating what the frustration is:  how to create that mechanism that makes sense.  It’s just ridiculous.  


Your presentation was very thorough.  Thank you.


I believe the request was to have Mr. Leary speak next and then Mr. Hirsch.


Welcome, Mr. Leary.


MR. MARK LEARY:  Good morning, Madam Chair, and members of the committee.  My name is Mark Leary.  I’m the executive director of the California Integrated Waste Management Board.


In the interest of time, and in a nutshell, the Board is the lead Cal/EPA agency over the management of nonhazardous solid waste.  In partnership with local government, industry, and the public, we work to reduce solid waste disposal, managing an estimated 66 million tons of nonhazardous solid waste generated in California each year to ensure that it’s managed in an environmentally safe way.  The Board does this by primarily regulating solid waste management facilities, by cleaning up abandoned and illegal dumpsites, developing waste reduction programs, providing public education outreach, assisting local government and businesses, fostering market development for recyclable materials, and encouraging recycling of used oil, tires, electronic waste, and nontraditional solid waste.


The Board’s regulatory authority is over nonhazardous solid waste which, by definition, does not include radioactive materials.  The Board has no authority to regulate radioactive materials, as you’ve clearly heard today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are they precluded by statute?


MR. LEARY:  You could say that.  We are defined to regulate solid waste.  Solid waste specifically does not include the medical waste, low-level radioactive waste, and hazardous waste.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has the Board taken a position to seek legislation to change that authority?


MR. LEARY:  No, it has not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is it likely to do so in the future?  It sounds like there’s a desire.


MR. LEARY:  It’s more appropriate to say that the Board has directed staff to enhance our relationships with DHS and our already well-nurtured relationships with DTSC and the Water Board to develop a petition on the management of low-level radioactive waste.  In other words, let’s continue to work with the Legislature and the Administration.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And is there a policy document?  Do we know what that looks like – the mechanism in enhancing those communications?


MR. LEARY:  Yes, it was done by Board direction at a board meeting in April of last year as a result of the consideration of the regulation that DHS came forward with.  We had recognized the need to expand our relationship with DHS.  That’s not to say, though, that for the Waste Board and for local landfills that low-level radioactive waste has not been an issue in the past.  In other words, voluntarily much of the industry, both public and private, has taken it upon themselves to set up radiation detectors at the entrance to landfills to detect the passage of radioactive material into landfills.  The landfills themselves, of course, are very concerned about this issue and the liability that might be included and the public perception of waste going into their landfills.  As a result, these detectors are in place not at every landfill but at a number of landfills, and when those situations arise where the detector goes off, that material is, by practice, put aside and contact is made with DHS or a local radiation health department program to further investigate why the detector was set off and what then to do with that waste.


The communication on situations and specific issues between DHS and the Board and our local arms, the local enforcement agencies, has been relatively routine over the years.  The whole policy perspective, though, is a relatively new one, as Celeste mentioned and the Department mentioned, that we continue to wrestle with.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Mr. Leary, to your knowledge, how is it calibrated in terms of setting off?


MR. LEARY:  That’s a great question.  We’ve come to find that these calibrations are quite high compared to this decommissioning standard of 25 because the background level at landfills and society at large is significantly high.  I understand, as a matter of practice, the industry standard is to set these detection levels somewhere around the neighborhood of 300.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Millirem?


MR. LEARY:  Millirem.


SENATOR KUEHL:  You mean the background.


MR. LEARY:  As part of the background because landfills are generally set in geologic formations.  Excavations have occurred, and soil has been disturbed.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But you might set it at a certain number above background?


MR. LEARY:  It’s generally estimated – again, this is kind of a soft industry practice, and it’s not something done by regulation by the Waste Board – but that level of 300 is just a means by which to differentiate between the normal background that might be encountered as material moves in the surrounding environment from that which is higher and coming into the landfill for disposal.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, most of the regulations for decommissioning, I think, are set at – when we talk about 25, we’re talking about 25 above background.  Or, that’s a question, I suppose, we’ll try to get on the record about.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did you complete your presentation?


MR. LEARY:  Generally, yes.  I’m trying to be responsive to you in the interest of time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If there’s something important we need to hear, feel free.


MR. LEARY:  I think, basically, I’ve covered the gist of it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


Senator Romero, did you have questions for this witness?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you too.  I appreciate the conversations we have had in the past.  Let me ask you, at what point in time did the Waste Board become aware of the change in DHS’ regulation with respect to the dumping of low-level radioactive waste into municipal landfills?  At what point did you become aware of this?


MR. LEARY:  It wasn’t specifically me, but as I understand the process, I think those regs were promulgated or attempted to be released for public review in November of 2001, and that’s when we became aware of them.  Our sensitivity to the issue was heightened at that point, and we started discussions with DHS.  In fact, DHS came to our board meeting in April to discuss the whole issue of radioactive waste management.


SENATOR ROMERO:  What was the response with respect to how forthcoming DHS was with respect to the rulemaking?


MR. LEARY:  I think there was some discussion among the Board and frustration at the board meeting that we hadn’t gotten notice in advance of those, but the Board’s interest in moving beyond that and generating good discussions heretofore have been realized.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what is your communication now with the facilities with which you oversee municipal landfills?  Since the court has overturned this, what are you telling the operators?


MR. LEARY:  Well, the Board has embarked on an improvement of our load checking program instruction to local enforcement agencies and to the industry at large.  The industry landfills have an obligation to have in place a load checking program not only for radioactive waste but for hazardous materials, medical waste, and all other kinds of materials that don’t belong in that landfill.  As part of our new, enhanced load checking instruction, we are emphasizing radioactive waste and radioactive waste detection as part of this load checking instruction.  So, we’re trying to get the message out this is an issue we want to be especially sensitive to.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And what particular training or health guards or protections are being given to the workers who actually handle this?


MR. LEARY:  As part of that training, we’re encouraging the use of personal detectors that we are all well aware that exist in the marketplace that workers can wear.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Does the employee have to go out and buy it him or herself?


MR. LEARY:  I don’t believe so.  I believe in most cases, where the landfill has embraced that practice, the landfill will purchase that for their staff.


SENATOR ROMERO:  If the operator decides to have that protection given to their employees, that will take place; otherwise, it’s at the choice of the operator?


MR. LEARY:  As part of their personal protective program, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Unless there are other questions, I want to thank the witnesses.


Mr. Allan Hirsch is our next witness.


MR. ALLAN HIRSCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair, fellow members of the panel.  My name’s Allan Hirsch.  I’m the deputy director for External and Legislative Affairs for the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.  


It’s almost easier to say what OEHHA is not as opposed to what we are.  We’re not a traditional regulatory body, and we’re the only Cal/EPA entity that does not have enforcement authority.  We do not oversee site cleanups.  We don’t regulate the use or disposal of hazardous substances.  We don’t issue permits, conduct inspections, nor do we establish regulatory standards.


We are the lead state agency for assessing health risks posed by hazardous substances, and that is primarily chemical contaminants in the environment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me weigh in right there because it’s really important.  You are theoretically the peer research “what if,” which is the disconnect between the public health standard or the action level debate that we have in California between action levels and public health standards.


MR. HIRSCH:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Department has public health.  You have action levels is appropriate to say.


MR. HIRSCH:  Right, Public Health Goals typically.  


What we do is scientific evaluations and assess health risks posed by hazardous substances.  Other regulatory bodies like DHS – several others like the Air Board – take the numbers and the evaluations that we generate, and they actually set the regulatory standards; or they can plan site cleanups around numbers that we generate too.  Also, we provide guidance to other state and local agencies concerning health and environmental risks posed by hazardous substances.


We were established concurrently with Cal/EPA back in 1991 based on the premise that there should be some separation between risk assessment and risk management, and the idea, as you had pointed out, was that we should be free to focus on the scientific work of assessing risks and providing that risk information to other agencies without being subject to many of the pressures that regulatory agencies – (quote/unquote) “risk management agencies” – generally face.  


OEHHA, quite simply, does not have a specific policy on radiation, nor do we have expertise in the management of radioactive waste.  Our programs and statutory mandates were set up to deal primarily with chemical contaminants.  So, we only deal peripherally with radioactive substances in certain instances when they fall within the jurisdiction of our programs.  Consequently, while we do work closely with DHS in some areas, and primarily drinking water contaminants, we don’t have the authority or the assigned role to work with them in the area of radiation and radioactive waste.


I could step you through our basic programs quickly here if you would like to hear them.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I just want to hear the certain instances that you referred to.


MR. HIRSCH:  Well, for example, we’re the lead agency for Proposition 65, and in that we perform many of the scientific evaluations that form the basis for listing chemicals.  Of the 700-plus substances on that list, one of those is radionuclides, and that covers various radioactive substances:  uranium, radon, radium, and tritium.  Those substances are subject to Proposition 65 which, as I’m sure that you know, is not a standard regulatory law.  It requires businesses to provide warnings to people who are exposed to those substances.


In the area of Public Health Goals, that is where we do risk assessments and identify levels of drinking water contaminants that would not be expected to pose a significant health risk.  Those are not regulatory numbers, but we give those numbers to the Department of Health Services, and they develop drinking water standards that, under law, are required to be as close to our Public Health Goal numbers as is economically and technically feasible.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And when you express the opinion of a significant or a nonsignificant health risk, is it expressed in terms of how many people in a population of “X” might be expected to suffer health damage of a particular kind?  How is a risk expressed?


MR. HIRSCH:  For cancer risks, yes, it’s sort of based on a 1 in a million or 1 in a hundred thousand.  How many people out of a million would face a cancer risk over a lifetime exposure to water with that?


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, for uranium and radon and tritium, etc., do you express that as a particular bright line that you draw in terms of a standard?


MR. HIRSCH:  We do have a uranium Public Health Goal, and that’s one of the things I was trying to mention.  We would identify a level that for cancer would not be expected to pose greater than a one-in-a-million excess risk to a person drinking that water daily over a seventy-year lifetime.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you articulate that standard in millirems?


MR. HIRSCH:  One times 10 to the minus 6.  It would be in a population of one million people drinking water with that contaminant level over a seventy-year lifetime, not more than one person would be expected to get cancer as a result of exposure to that substance.


That’s mainly where we get involved with radioactive substances.  Again, with the Public Health Goals, they’re mostly chemical contaminants, but we have a uranium Public Health Goal.


In the area of air, we evaluate health risks posed by toxic air contaminants, and we also recommend ambient air quality standards for consideration by the Air Resources Board in the Air Toxics Hot Spots Program.  If major facilities that emit emissions are required to track emissions of radioactive substances and do health risk assessments based on that, we would review those health risk assessments as part of our duties.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s another mechanism of capturing Public Health Goal information on low-level radioactive waste in landfills.


MR. HIRSCH:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have a standard that you could share with the committee that is comparable to the one million?


MR. HIRSCH:  Again, for cancer risks, we generally use a one-in-a-million standard as the ideal, as a goal.  Our sister regulatory agencies then determine what is actually feasible to achieve.  For example, with drinking water, the Department of Health Services takes our Public Health Goal.  They look at the cost and feasibility of treating water and the available technologies, and they would set an actual regulatory standard that is as close to our Public Health Goal as is economically and technically feasible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a question, because this is where I want us to get the connection here.  That one million standard for the uranium Public Health Goal that OEHHA has established or recommended as well for the ambient air quality, the relationship of that public health standard to the NRC and EPA standard, is it fair to say 15 or 25 millirem would be that standard?


MR. HIRSCH:  I have not looked at the uranium Public Health Goal specifically, but it would normally, like our other Public Health Goals, be stated in a concentration:  part per billion or part per million in water.  It would be whatever the units are for the drinking water standards.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That comparable part per million or part per billion, would that be a 15 or 25, somewhere in that range?


MR. HIRSCH:  I honestly don’t know that.  We could check on that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m just trying to reconcile that with where we’re trying to go with the higher and more protective standard that is articulated by USEPA.  Is it comparable, the 1 ppm/ppb?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Madam Chair, my information is that it’s much lower than 15.  Fifteen is the highest limit that the United States EPA recommends, and that’s related, as I understand it, to a 1 in 10,000 cancer risk.  The 1 in a million is like .05 millirem.  The 25 millirem standard is related to a 1 in 50 cancer risk.  This is my third year on this, but I think that’s generally what has been set out for us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I just think it would be helpful, if we’re going to look at the comparable federal agency that has that pure risk assessment function as OEHHA has – that they have determined that we can measure that by millirems or parts per million – I think it’s helpful for us to also say what would that be in California?  That’s all I’m trying to illustrate.


That’s not to say we shouldn’t get to the Public Health Goal, which I think is the objective of my colleagues, but let’s also highlight what other OEHHA standards are for Public Health Goals and the disconnect with standards and the enforcement parts.  It’s not to say it’s a good thing to have that, but if we’re going to simply say, “Gee, the USEPA says it’s this standard, therefore we should impose that in the enforcement in Department of Health Services,” we also need to illustrate the function at the state level of the public health standard that rarely, if ever, becomes an enforcement standard in the State of California.  That’s all.  That doesn’t mean we as Californians should not get to that place, but I also want to illustrate why that disconnect has been established not only on the federal level but on a state level.  If we’re going to be the legislative body and the Administration that says, “We’re going to be more proactive,” then let’s also work through the gaps in between that have never, ever resulted in a higher Public Health Goal.


I went through this, and I was incredibly frustrated, on the Chrome-6.  There was a good resolution with the Department, but I was in the same position to say, “Why is there is a disconnect between OEHHA standards and the Department’s standards?”  We got there, but it was with a lot of pain.  There was a lot of information, and this is exactly, I think, what my colleagues are attempting to do in this area, so let’s drive this home.  Would be helpful for OEHHA to come back, and I think you’ve got enough scientists there, and say, “What is that?  How does that reconcile with the standard that’s being recommended?” either the 1 or the 15 or 25.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Madam Chair, I did hear the witness say that they generally take as a standard a 1 in a million risk.


MR. HIRSCH:  That’s as a Public Health Goal.  There is a regulatory standard—


SENATOR KUEHL:  I understand.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not as a standard.  That’s the disconnect.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, they don’t set the standard, so that may be part of the problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right, but we’re attempting by legislation – you and Senator Romero – to establish the public health standard as the regulatory standard.  If we’re going to get there, I want to hear OEHHA say that it’s 1.  That’s all.  That the Public Health Goal we’ve established can be put into a standard for enforcement.


MR. HIRSCH:  Again, I think that “disconnect” (quote/unquote) is built into the system.  There’s the pure science on one side of the coin, and then there’s just the feasibility question of what can we have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I understand.  Thank you.


Senator Romero.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Let me ask you a quick question.  With respect to being able to get to that estimate, the risk assessment, do you have right now on staff the scientific folks who can do this?


MR. HIRSCH:  Risk assessment for specific contaminants?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  For low-level radioactive waste.


MR. HIRSCH:  We feel we have the basic expertise to do with radioactive substances what we do with chemical substances, which is do toxicity evaluations and that kind of thing.  But it’s not a part of our program.  We’re a scientific support agency.  In addition to our statutory mandates, we do what we are asked to do.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Have you been asked to do this in the past?


MR. HIRSCH:  No, we have not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m still trying to reconcile the 1, 15, 25 standards that we’ve thrown around here.  I’m looking at the GAO report, Radiation Standards:  A Scientific Basis Inconclusive, and EPA and NRC Disagreement Continues.  “Low-level radiation effects are assumed for regulatory purposes … Conclusive evidence of radiation effects is lacking below a total of about 5,000 to 10,000 millirem, according to the scientific literature we examined and a consensus of scientists whose views we obtained.”


There isn’t agreement as to whether 1, 15, or 25 is comparable to your standard of 1/million per seventy years that we’ve discussed here.  I know Senator Kuehl had suggested that there was evidence that it was a 1 ppm, but we’ve got GAO, in a report that was dated June of 2000, that suggests otherwise.  So, it would really be helpful, as we’re grabbling with whether or not to impose a stricter standard in California, to reconcile or come back and say, “We can’t reconcile, but these are the various levels, and these are the various sources that say yes, but others are inconclusive,” so we can get a sense for the members who are trying to lead in the direction of more protection of public health.  Let’s get that on the record and show what that standard should be.


Thank you.


Are there other questions?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Madam Chair, I think that, yes, we can get to this, but part of what I think is an interesting question is why did we deviate from where we are?  Why have we gone from what I have considered to be in terms of practice and in terms of looking at DHS regulation of eliminate and properly dispose?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where did we start from?  Walk me through.  Tell me the deviation that you refer to.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I’m talking about DHS policy in terms of how—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, DHS started at what and then went to what?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Less than 1 millirem and suddenly it’s 25.  And the claims have been to it having been 100 and 500.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And then they went to the 25.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When were they at … (tape changed - portion of text missing).


SENATOR ROMERO:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We will, but you are the one who said it, so I want you to give me the information on when the Department was less than 1 millirem.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I guess what I wanted to say was rather than going into the specifics right now, especially for this year, and diving into it, we can give you charts as far as what the different regs are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Kuehl, do you know when the Department was operating at less than 1 millirem?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Understand, what we were talking about – and I think your entire second panel is about these standards – but where you look at what the background is in a particular area, then you look at whether something in that area is over background.  As I understand it, the old regulation said that anything over background was called radioactive waste.  So, I think it’s important for us to hear from the two DHS folks that are about to come up if that’s the case.  


I agree very much with Senator Romero.  I believe it was quite a change.  Saying that you can go from nothing above background, or at least characterizing something as radioactive waste if it’s different from background – higher – to saying anything between zero and 25 above background still doesn’t count as radioactive waste was a pretty big change.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, and I want to know when that change occurred, based on the members who are saying that.  Maybe we’ll get the Director up here to walk through that, but thank you so much for your testimony.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re more than welcome.


Mr. Reilly, Director Bontá, welcome.  I assume that you have not only a statement but lots of questions to answer, hopefully.  Thank you for joining us.


DR. DIANA BONTÁ:  Madam Chair, I’m going to have Dr. Reilly first do a short presentation, and then I will do as well a short presentation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I would appreciate if someone could address the “when,” because I’m trying to reconcile my chronological history about when the Department was operating under 1 millirem, because I think that’s the crux of this.


DR. REILLY:  Very good, Madam Chair.


Madam Chair and members, my name is Dr. Kevin Reilly.  I’m the deputy director for Prevention Services with the Department of Health Services.  I appreciate the opportunity to come and talk a little bit today, and I will try to condense my comments down a little bit.


In your request of the Department, you had asked that I address a couple of things:  First of all, the radiologic health activities in the Department; and second of all, some of the rationale behind that decommissioning standard.  I’ll do both of those very quickly, if I may.


The Legislature – actually, your predecessors – decided that in the public’s interest, it was required that the people of California be protected from excessive and improper exposure to ionizing radiation, and they established a statutory framework in health and safety to do that.  The Legislature established the framework for the use of radioactive materials and registration of radiation-producing machinery, certification of radiologic technology and nuclear medicine, specific mammography machines and practices oversight, and a collection of fees from the radiation user community for the provisions of the Radiation Safety Program.


The Department of Health Services is tasked with the programmatic and regulatory oversight of radiologic health in California.  It’s developed a very diverse set of responsibilities to ensure that Californians are protected from potential hazards with unnecessary exposure to ionizing radiation.  The Radiation Machine Registration Inspection Program is the largest of the programs that we have:  Over 30,000 facilities and over 60,000 X-ray machines and other radiation-producing machines.  These range from the X-ray machines that you see in a dentist’s or doctor’s office to __________ used in medicine; the various levels of energy involved with those machines.  The facilities and machines are inspected on a routine basis.


Other important activities in the Department is the testing and certification of physicians and other practitioners of the healing arts as well as technologists and technicians involved in the delivery of healthcare services using radiation.  California is the only state to require testing and certification or permitting of physicians to operate and supervise the operation of X-ray machines in medical diagnosis and therapy.  Over 70,000 physicians, that I mentioned, and technologists are certified or permitted by that program.


A third important area of radiation protection and safety is the Department’s Mammography Accreditation Program.  Under federal law, each medical facility that performs mammography to detect breast cancer must be authorized to do so as an accredited body by the USFDA.  California is one of four states that is an accrediting body.  The Department’s actually a leader in this area of mammography, having this state accrediting program prior to the time the federal government initiated a program.  It still is the only state that requires all physicians interpreting mammograms to be radiologists and technologists.  They must have a valid certification of mammography.


Under the Radiologic Health Program in the Department is a licensing inspection of over 2,100 radioactive materials facilities.  These licensees range from single-person businesses using gauges to test soil moisture or calibrating machines to universities, government, researchers, the California Biotechnology Industry, medical care providers, and large multinational companies doing business in California.


Since 1962, California has had an agreement with the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and its predecessor agency, the Atomic Energy Commission, to conduct the licensing and inspection of users of radioactive materials into state subject to the Atomic Energy Act.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry, what year was that?


DR. REILLY:  Nineteen sixty-two.


California is currently one of thirty-two agreement states in the nation.  Agreement state activities include evaluating radioactive material license applications; issuing the licenses; conducting regular inspections of those licensees; responding to accidents, emergencies, and terrorism threats; and taking enforcement actions for violation of laws and regulations.  It’s important to note that the federal government retains regulatory authority over certain activities:  nuclear reactors, commercial nuclear reactors, federal agencies and federal facilities such as military bases, and U.S. Department of Energy laboratories.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you repeat the jurisdiction that remains with the federal government?


DR. REILLY:  Commercial nuclear reactors, federal facilities, and U.S. Department of Energy laboratories.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


DR. REILLY:  One of the requirements of an agreement state to maintain agreement state status is that that state adopt laws or regulations that are compatible with those of the NRC, and the state must adopt them within three years of adoption by the NRC.  


Prior to 1997, the federal government did not have a specific regulatory standard for decommissioning.  The standard used was the maximum annual radiation dose allowed to the general public from a licensed facility.  That’s 100 millirem per year.  This maximum public exposure dose is endorsed by national and international health and radiation protection organizations, including federal EPA and federal NRC.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, that was prior to 1997.  The state, as part of our terms and agreement with the feds, had to adopt the federal standards.  Those federal standards, prior to ’97, were 100 millirem?  No, prior to ’97, there were no standards.


DR. REILLY:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In ’97, the incorporation by reference, essentially, as a function of our agreement with the feds, was 100 millirem.


DR. REILLY:  Please let me be very clear.  This is an important point, that prior to ’97, there was not a specific standard for decommissioning.  Absent that specific standard in federal law, the standard that was used was the maximum annual radiation dose allowed to the general public from a licensed operating facility.  That standard is 100 millirem per year.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And what did Congress allow for each state to be able to implement on their own proactive authority?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Pre-’97?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Pre-’97.


DR. REILLY:  There was not a prohibition on states adopting more stringent standards for a decommissioned dose.  Simply, no specific standard in federal law.


SENATOR ROMERO:  In other words, any agreement state could, in the interest of protecting public health, choose proactively to adopt whatever standard that state felt was needed to protect the public health.


DR. REILLY:  Actually, there are several provisions in federal law about what federal law must be incorporated into state law.  Some of them have very tight compatibility requirements, others have less compatibility requirements.  It is true that this particular provision, the decommissioning – well, first of all, it wasn’t an issue before 1997 because there was no federal law to be compatible with.  The practice in the country was that absent a specific standard, 100 millirem was used.  


Now, since ’97, when the federal law took effect, the compatibility requirement is not stringent.  You must adopt at least 25, but you can go lower.


SENATOR ROMERO:  So, to get back to the original question I asked – yes or no?  California, in 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000 to date, as we sit, we have every right to choose whatever standard we believe is best to protect the public health.


DR. REILLY:  That’s correct.  The State of California can adopt—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Romero, I’m going to ask you respectfully to please go through the Chair.  I’m more than generous to allow statements, and I think it’s important.  You’re highlighting a point, but please go through the Chair.


Had you finished that point?  I want to let you finish because I have some of the same questions.  But let’s let him go through his testimony, and then we’ll go through the Chair.


Thank you.


DR. REILLY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I talked about the federal EPA and NRC position on that 100-millirem-per-year standard.  NRC placed specific federal regulations, absent prior to 1997 specific federal regulations, in order to decrease the public’s potential radiation exposure from decommissioned radiologic materials, and that standard was “as low as reasonably achievable,” a concept of ALARA – you will hear this acronym over and over again – with a maximum of 25 millirem.  The ALARA concept is overriding in federal law, and it’s overriding in state law, given we’ve adopted it by reference that we seek to hold exposures to as low as reasonably achievable.


The NRC regulation went through a very extensive national comment process before its adoption in 1997.  In compliance with the NRC agreement state requirements, DHS adopted an NRC-compatible decommissioning standard under the law with the maximum of 25 millirem in state regulation, effective November of 2001.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Could you repeat that?  Once again, the 100 was adopted based on what basis?


DR. REILLY:  In compliance with that NRC agreement state requirement that we adopt federal laws until retained agreement state status.  DHS adopted an NRC-compatible decommissioning standard NRC adopted in ’97.  Actually, effective 1998.  We had three years to adopt it.  So, in November 2001, we adopted a compatible standard of as low as reasonably achievable (ALARA) with a maximum of 25 millirem – the same standard as the federal government.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There are questions on this point, and I’ll hold off because I want to ask more, but let me ask Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I believe that there’s a confusion between any perceived requirement that we adopt the same standard as the feds and adopt a compatible standard which does not, in my opinion, preclude us from going higher.  Indeed, I believe you know that the United States EPA has been very critical of this standard and said they did not concur with this standard and, indeed, said in a letter that they understand that agreement states would be allowed to adopt more stringent requirements and strongly encouraged agreement states to go further than the requirements in NRC’s licensed termination rule.  Is that correct?


DR. REILLY:  It is true that the State of California, or any state, could adopt a more stringent standard.  In fact, several have.  I think most of those are, actually, prior to the federal rule going into place, but I believe there are three or four that have more stringent standards than 25.  There’s a handout, I believe, that covers that.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I just want to clarify, Madam Chair, because the notion of a compatible standard is often confused with “can’t go further.”  I thought it was important to say that we, indeed, could.


DR. REILLY:  Very true.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Could have gone lower than 100 is your point.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Could go lower than 25.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Romero, do you have a question before I weigh in?


SENATOR ROMERO:  I appreciate the clarification because, again, we’ve had this discussion before in the Senate Select Committee, and I wanted to make sure that we once again establish that, yes, we can choose the strongest standard possible.  It depends on our own will what we decide.


But let me also ask this too.  Do we not have our own state regulation, California code, Title 17, Section 30256(k)?   Are you familiar with that?


DR. REILLY:  Not by that number.


SENATOR ROMERO:  There it is there.  This is the question that was asked in the Senate Select Committee.  It’s been an ongoing discussion.  We can talk about the feds and everybody else, but do we not have our own state regulation adopted in 1994, I believe it was, that expressly states that, and I quote, “A license may be terminated when the Department determines that (1) radioactive material has been properly disposed, and (2) reasonable effort has been made to eliminate residual radioactive contamination if present,” unquote?  Is that not present state regulation?


DR. REILLY:  Senator, that reasonable effort issue may enter into the conversation.  It is in place here, and it may not be incompatible—


SENATOR ROMERO:  I’m sorry, just for me to understand, can you give me a yes or no?  Is that state regulation?


DR. REILLY:  Yes.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Let me ask you then, can you define the word “eliminate”?  I see it in state regulation, and I’m trying to understand this.  Can you please define it for me?  Does it have a standard English definition of the word?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is it a reg?  Maybe we can get … (inaudible) … so I can understand what you’re referring to.


SENATOR ROMERO:  It’s our own regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR ROMERO:  Maybe there’s some other definition of the word “eliminate,” and that will help me in moving forward on this issue.  What does the word “eliminate” mean in our own regulation?


DR. REILLY:  I would look at this regulation in terms of the total phrase:  “reasonable effort to eliminate.”  This may be a point of disagreement.  It may be a point of opinion.  I think that the language here – “reasonable effort to eliminate” – enters into the consideration of how 25 is compatible with that language.  “Eliminate” has a fairly specific definition.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And what is it?


DR. REILLY:  I don’t have my dictionary with me, Madam, but I believe it is “to remove.”  The issue is reasonable effort to remove, and that’s how the ALARA standard comes into place.


And let me explain ALARA just for a moment.  ALARA talks about a cost and advantage of benefit.  And this is not just specific to radiation.  It is true in hazardous materials cleanup as well as to how low is a reasonable level to go.  Material can be removed.  Large amounts of material can be removed to go to indistinguishable from zero or zero above background radiation.  Now, as you move material, there are associated risks with that, and you’ve heard about transportation risks – theoretical traffic accidents; industrial risks – accidents in terms of killing people, loading into backhoes – and things of that sort.  All that gets balanced out into what we’ve termed an ALARA standard that I believe is compatible with the “reasonable effort to eliminate.”


There are theoretical additional cancer risks from amount of radiation.  There is scientific debate over the application of that standard right now, and you will hear from a number of persons both pro and con.  


The extrapolation of risk to dose, down to very low levels, is something still subject to a lot of debate.  The comparison is what is the advantage you render by going to lower and lower doses versus the risk you incur by going to more and more removal of material?  That fine balance is the regulatory standard that we try to follow so that we don’t cause more problems than we theoretically are preventing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did you finish your presentation?


DR. REILLY:  Not yet.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me stay on this point because I think it’s the one that we keep coming back to.  I think it is important to remember the disconnect between USEPA and NRC, just as Senator Romero has outlined the disconnect between OEHHA and DHS.  It’s the same analogous challenge.


If we want to take away your authority to set standards, where you look at things other than pure research, as OEHHA has acknowledged, for the public health risk assessment process, then we need to go into statute and we need to say, “Standards shall not be established by the Department of Health Services that are different than the OEHHA standard.”  It’s exactly the frustration that I had, again, on the Chrome-6 stuff.  OEHHA says, “This should be the standard,” but DHS has this standard.  Essentially, the regulatory enforcement standard versus the clinical research recommendations.


So, when we have the goal for remediation from federal EPA, which is a risk-based radiation protection approach that is recommended that is lower than the NRC standard, this is the challenge we have.  I want you to bring it out because I think Senator Kuehl and Senator Romero are getting at it.  It’s fine if we want to go in that direction, and maybe we should, but there is designed by statute, by processes, to disconnect those two standards, and if we want to change those systems on a federal level and a state level, then let’s do that.  But let’s not say because this is the OEHHA standard, then that shall be the DHS standard.


DR. REILLY:  It’s interesting, talking about the differences and opinion between federal EPA and NRC.  You referenced a GAO report.  They were very specific, saying this has put the regulatory community into an uproar, if you will – a lot of conflict – because of the difference between two federal agencies that have slightly different degrees of authority and responsibility but still both have some look at radiation.  Fifteen and twenty-five, there is a difference there.  It may not be a significant difference in some people’s minds, but there is a difference.  To that point, Congress has instructed those two agencies to resolve their differences.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It sounds like we’re instructing you to resolve your differences with OEHHA.


DR. REILLY:  When we talk about risk in trying to translate the 15 millirem, federal EPA has been quite outspoken in recent times, saying that that equates to a 1 in 10,000 risk, and that it is, quote, “protective with public health.”  Twenty-five is above that.  We are hoping that those two federal agencies will resolve their differences.  However, California is still left with two different federal agencies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We interrupted your presentation about when California had the opportunity to adopt a standard that’s closer to protecting public health, that is closer to USEPA.  Why did California not do that?


DR. REILLY:  There’s consideration of what had happened in 1997 and 1998 with the federal review.  We could have gone to 15.  We could have gone to another number as well because there is permissive levels.  We tried to look at what made sense in terms of compatibility with the NRC standards, compatibility with what the practices across the country were, and 25 was the number that we came up with.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you moved from 100 to 25.


DR. REILLY:  To tell you the truth, there is no specific standard prior to the 25.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But you’ve been operating under 100.


DR. REILLY:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whether it was adopted, whether you guys bypassed the regulatory process, etc., you were operating under 100.


DR. REILLY:  We were.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Madam Chair?  In the court opinion that has been referenced, the judge said in dicta, as we say, “There is no standard in effect at present for decommissioning of a licensed radioactive site.  The 100 millirem standard is for sites in operation and not decommissioned sites.”  


DR. REILLY:  Yes.  As I mentioned, that was in practice on a nationwide basis, absent a federal standard for decommissioning.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, in other words, you can continue to operate your facility and do whatever you wanted to your employees, or whatever, at the 100 millirem standard, but it was not a standard for a decommissioned site, which is a site in which you can use it for other purposes – sell it to people – or decommission material which can be moved from the site.  Is that correct?


DR. REILLY:  That’s correct, and NRC recognized the lack of specificity.  Again, it also puts some problems at the state level and actually for NRC enforcement saying, “What do we use?  Practice 100 millirem because there is some background use of that?”  The thought was we didn’t want to have excessive exposure based on decommissioning.  There was recognition that that was not specific and that there was a need to have a specific standard in law so that a state like California that’s an agreement state or any other facility in the country regulated would know how to go ahead and decommission.  It so happened in practice 100 millirem was the value that was out there and was applied to decommissioning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that occurred pre-1997, and then in 1997, the state adopted the 25.


DR. REILLY:  Two thousand and one, there was a formal adoption in practice.  We utilized the federal standard of 25 between the time it was adopted at the federal level and the time we adopted it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What time period was that when the state began doing—


DR. REILLY:  Nineteen ninety-nine through the effective date of adoption of the regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I just had one further follow-up.  The GAO report that was also referenced – the GAO did issue a report concerning nuclear health and safety in which they connected 100 millirem to a 1 in 300 risk and 25 millirem to a 1 in 1,000 risk.  Is that your understanding from the GAO report?


DR. REILLY:  Those values are in that publication.  I think you’ll hear, perhaps, from scientists following me to start this debate on the idea of how much risk is associated with a very low level of radiation.  Those numbers are derived from a standard that is used, a tool that is an old tool.  It’s based on extremely high levels of radiation and clearly associated with risk of cancer.  What was sought to do was extrapolate down to lower levels of radiation to try to find out what potential risk is there.  There are limits to that, and there’s actually a huge scientific debate as to whether that’s appropriate, even scientifically correct, to do that.  


All that stated, that’s the only tool that we have right now.  It may be an imperfect tool, but that is why you see it cited in GAO, and you see it cited by anybody else who is trying to put into context what is the risk associated with those.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Madam Chair, I apologize to you.  As you know, I have to go to the airport.  I do have a few questions for Director Bontá on the subject of the activities of Department of Health Services vis-à-vis our legislation, as I indicated in my opening remarks.  I can either, at your—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let’s see whether we can get the Director to quickly go through her presentation and see if there may be something that answers the question, and then go into Senator Kuehl’s questions.  If we could do that within three minutes.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I appreciate it.  Of course, I’ll leave my notes with Senator Romero, who’s also aware of this activity.  She’ll be well staffed on it.


DR. BONTÁ:  I’ll be very brief, Senator Kuehl.


I want to thank all the Senators, certainly, for their interest in protecting the public’s health.  I want to assure all of you that we take, in the Department of Health Services, very seriously our charge to protect the public’s health and to improve the public’s health, and to offer to Jennifer that she come to another hearing where, perhaps, that is more visible at a future opportunity.


I want to talk very quickly about where we might go from here, because I think we’ve had some good discussions in this committee and previous times.  I want to start by saying I want to assure you that we’re committed to working with the Legislature to explore the feasibility of establishing in statute a standard that is lower than the 25 millirem federal decommissioning standard.  As we develop this standard, it will be important that we use the best available science, with strong consideration for the public’s concerns and expectations, but that is an offer.


As you are aware, the Department promulgated a regulation that, among other things, established a numeric standard consistent with the federal regulation developed by NRC, and the Department’s regulation was challenged in the Supreme Court of Sacramento on the basis of the Department’s reliance on the federal Environmental Impact Study conducted when the federal regulation was issued.  Now, the court ruled, as you know, that the Department should not have relied upon the exemption from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and should have conducted its own environmental impact report prior to issuing the regulation.  The court did not make findings or rule regarding the appropriateness of the standard but on the process by which it was issued.  A judgment was entered on May 16, 2002, and the Department awaits the final writ which will be based upon that judgment.


Now, I’ve been asked what standard will the Department apply following the judgment of the court, and so I want to address that here.  Without deregulation, and absent legislation, the relating standard governing radioactivity in California law is the requirement that licensees shall use, to the extent practical, procedures and engineering controls based upon sound radiation protection principles to achieve exposure to the public that is as low as is reasonably achievable (ALARA), which Kevin Reilly has addressed previously.  Therefore, an applicant must demonstrate that its site is being decontaminated to the ALARA standard.


Additionally, as an agreement state, in order to remain in compliance with federal regulations, the Department cannot release licensees that are unable to decontaminate using ALARA and a level of 25 millirem or below.


I’ll answer some of the questions and perhaps then can raise some of the other points.  I do want to say, though, that there has been some discussion about transferring the Radiologic Health Branch somewhere in the skin of another agency or within another part of the Administration.  It is the position of the Administration that we are committed to retaining the Radiologic Health Branch within the Department of Health Services because of the importance of significance of health and the many duties that we have in relationship to health.  That doesn’t mean that I’m not listening to your concerns about where we have an obligation, certainly, to have better communication.  We need to have that better communication with other agencies and with other departments.  


I would also say that we need to have increased public involvement.  We’ve not yet looked at what is the best format for doing that.  There is a variety of processes used by different state agencies and programs to facilitate public input, and we certainly want to work with you to assure that we are doing that on a proactive basis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Senator Kuehl had some questions.  I know she’s got a flight, and I want to assure her to get these questions in.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Director Bontá, we’ve been friends and colleagues for far more years than I’ve been in the Legislature and you’ve been in this position, though you were and are well regarded as one of the best public health officers in the state, and your work in Long Beach is still being recognized.  So, I have great faith in you and in your ability to work with us to achieve the best possible results and the best possible standards in this area for the health of the people of California.


I do, however, have the personal opinion that this section and some of the employees charged under your supervision have not acted to the highest standards – this is not about you, sir, so please don’t think that I’m couching critique here – in terms of their reactions to some of the attempts of the Legislature to deal with this issue.  I was very concerned in reading the only newspaper I generally read, the L.A. Times, and then getting more information about employees of the Department of Health Services specifically charged with overseeing some of the licensees encouraging them (the licensees) to oppose these bills.  Specifically, an employee, Barbara Hamrick.  Information has come to us that her duties involve investigation and licensing of radioactive material permit holders in the Brea area and that she has contacted industry radiation officers of actual licensees to oppose these bills.


You and I both support an individual’s right of free speech – bumper stickers and phone calls – but it just seems like there’s a real conflict here because a licensee would, I think, rightly presume that there was at least some official position being encouraged to oppose these bills.  Specifically, Moravek Biochemicals in Brea, who’s a large radioactive materials possessor licensee, and that there was an employee there who had raised some significant issues about illegal dumping, and Ms. Hamrick did not investigate these issues.


I don’t want to be sarcastic about it, but it seems funny that you may not have time to investigate some questions of illegal dumping, but you do have time to encourage your licensees – not you but this person – to oppose this legislation.


Do you have any awareness of employees of the Department urging opposition to this legislation?


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator Kuehl, I became aware – I think Senator Romero addressed some issues at previous hearings, and we had heard that there were some employees that were acting outside of the scope of their official responsibilities.  We had been asking what specific information.  We were aware of one employee, whom you mentioned, who had indicated that she was part of an Internet access chat room, and in that dialogue she made clear that she was an employee of the Department but was not speaking on behalf of the Department.


As you know, in our responsibilities of guiding employees, we also need to be protective of their rights as a citizen on their own time to express whatever is their particular point of view and that that is protected by the law.


I’m not aware of the circumstance that you’re saying that a specific company in California is indicating that that employee or any other employee is not properly doing the duties of their job.  I’d be very interested in absolutely exploring that and seeing what is the allegation, what work was accomplished, and in what fashion, because I take that extremely seriously, as does Dr. Reilly.  But we have not been aware of this specific allegation of this particular company indicating that.


There have been, certainly, employees in the Department who feel very much when you work in an organization you have certain convictions and you, at times, wish to voice them.  We’ve indicated that policy is set in the Department at the director’s level, at the chief deputy’s level, and at the deputy director’s level, and therefore, the employees of the Radiologic Health Branch are not authorized to create their own policy, to discuss that in public forums in inference that they are employees of the Department.  That is not something that we condone.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, most especially if they have any appearance of authority over licensees, that even though someone in such a position might say, “This is just my personal opinion, but I really think that you should hate this legislation and perhaps want to express that,” I mean, it’s pretty much like what just happened at MCA, where the employees at Universal were encouraged to say that they didn’t like Kevin Murray’s bill about musical performers and could they please report when they had sent their letter voluntarily.  So, it’s the appearance and propriety as well.


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator, I really want to know if you have evidence of any of that because we have counseled a particular employee, and we will counsel any employee who steps beyond the bounds.  That is very important to us.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I appreciate that, and I also will, and others will, provide a great deal of detailed information about the issue raised by a whistleblower at the facility that I indicated and whether or not these concerns were followed up on.  I appreciate, Madam Chair, your allowing me to do this a little bit out of context and appreciate the Director as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to give you a bit more time, if you’d like, since you do need to leave.  But I want in on this point.  I’m not real comfortable sharing a name and text in public right now, but if there is evidence of that, I would appreciate whatever it is.  If it’s a statement in a letter, I would welcome having a copy of that as well.


SENATOR KUEHL:  With just the few minutes that I will be here, and again I apologize, the issues that we’ve raised, I think, are separated yet connected.  The issue of whether or not it’s appropriate for the Department of Health Services – this is obviously not about you; this started way before you were here – whether that’s the right place for these kinds of oversight to go on generally in terms of radioactive waste.  It will be a question that we’ll continue to pursue.  I don’t think any of the legislation says let’s take it away at this moment.  This is not at issue in our legislation.  But the analogy that the Chair has drawn between the USEPA disagreement with the NRC and OEHHA’s different duty to say what the best health or appropriate standard might be and then anybody can be more practical in adopting what they think will work, it’s not a perfect analogy because USEPA actually has some regulatory authority which OEHHA doesn’t.  So, we may really need to think about where to centralize this.


The issue of potential laxity in one area or another in oversight is related in a way but not the same issue, and the larger one I would hope personally that we would be looking very seriously at the ability to connect dose and risk and really have a good discussion about where we want to set a standard.  Because, frankly, I think where we choose what dose is acceptable, it’s only about risk; otherwise, what are we talking about?  It’s really only about health.  When we talk about dose, that’s how much we’re being exposed to.  And then the question is, when I’m exposed to a certain dose, so what?  And the answer really has to be one of risk.  I know that the Administration has attempted sometimes to say, “Should we look at a dose standard or a risk standard?”   I don’t see that there’s really a difference.  Why would we care about dose unless it was about risk?


Am I incorrect in this?  I’m not a public health person.


DR. BONTÁ:  I think these are difficult issues, and that’s the crux of the debate as to where do you set the parameters to be the most protective of the public?  Where do you do that in terms of what you establish to be the lowest possible threshold (the ALARA)?  What do you allow as the upper limits in terms of an understanding from industry as to what responsibilities they have if it exceeds that?  Senator Ortiz previously mentioned how do we guide, then, where the materials should go?  It’s another part of the debate, certainly, in terms of establishing good policy.  What should be the restrictions on the property that remains is another part of the debate as well.  


I think all of these make for better policy, better discussions, but I would still hold that we have the ability to do that in concert with you.  I assure you that these issues relating to radiologic health have been elevated to Dr. Reilly’s and my attention and that we are personally taking more of a concerned interest in this.  Our being here today is very much in keeping with that, that we will keep looking at this and working very closely with members of the Legislature and with Cal/EPA and with Secretary Johnson from our agency as well.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But I think that it’s fair to say that we may, in the future, not agree about these standards, and I would maintain – I hope it isn’t disrespectful – that the Legislature may weigh in in terms of a stringent standard in the protection of public health, recognizing the Department of Health Services has done what it believes is correct within its purview and sufficient, and where we are allowed, by federal law, to say, “But you can go further as a state,” and we choose to go further.


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator, I’m not in disagreement nor is the Administration in disagreement on that point.  That is something that can be established in statute, and we would welcome the opportunity to explore jointly with you where that level should be.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I appreciate that, and I appreciate your patience, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh no, thank you for being here.


Before Senator Kuehl leaves, let me say I think what she is attempting to do, and I don’t want to speak for her, but what I’m reading between the lines in this discussion has been about trying to move from the ALARA standard, which is exposure level as low as reasonably achievable, which takes into consideration marked conditions of where we store or where we go, versus the public health standard under OEHHA.  So, I just want us to understand that even though some of us think we’d love to have the public health standard because it’s as low as possible, if there’s even a risk for one person out of a million, then some of us will argue that’s too much.  But, that’s saying that we will then move away from the ALARA standard essentially.


DR. REILLY:  Actually, the existing standard is as low as reasonably achievable with a ceiling of 25.  So, the issue is:  Can we arrive at 10?  Can we arrive at 5?  Can we arrive at whatever?  If that’s the case, given that benefit and risk analysis, then that’s what the standard is for that particular licensee.  So, the issue was what would the maximum be?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Twenty-five.


DR. REILLY:  Or another number.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Higher?


DR. REILLY:  No, not higher.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Director, I want to make sure I heard this correctly:  The Administration is committed to going below 25?


DR. BONTÁ:  That’s correct; that we would work with members of the Legislature to consider in statute rather than through a regulatory process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You have a couple of vehicles, at least, here.


DR. BONTÁ:  Looking at the opportunity to establish, with input from the public, with input from scientists, and from looking at what would be the best for California, because even though we look at federal standards, we want to be the most protective in California of all citizens.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s simply what others have said we should get to:  1 to 24.  Or, something less than 25 is the desire.  So, that’s good to hear that that’s where the Administration has authorized going.


Senator Romero, questions for the Director?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I’m going to ask you to please chair as I sneak out for a moment.


SENATOR ROMERO:  First of all, let me thank you for being here.  I’m encouraged to hear your comments today to say that you’re willing to work with the Legislature on making sure that California stands by the identity that we have and proudly hold.  We have been pioneers in many fields, and protecting the public health is certainly the most important element of it.  I’m looking forward to working with you so that we can move this issue forward in a way that I think all of us want to get there.


Having said that, I’m still concerned.  I keep hearing 25.  First of all, I want to say I’m glad we’re going to move below it.  I will state I think we need to move way below 25.  I actually think we should get back to where we were before Senator Kuehl and myself and others began pestering you with all these questions.  I still want to get back to the statute that we have on the books.  What does that mean?  Because I still read “eliminate.”  Orwellian speech hasn’t completely overtaken California yet nor should we allow that.  I still want to get back to a discussion of what does it mean to get to 1 millirem in California?  But we will have these discussions, I think, as we go forward, because we’ve got a whole other panel.  


I could keep you here all afternoon asking you these questions, but I do want to put out that I am still alarmed by even what I’ve heard today with respect to getting to ALARA, looking at under 25.  It’s still not good enough for me.  But I will look forward to working with you very closely to see what we can do to turn this around and to get to the best possible standard that we can have, and I think under your leadership we can have this.  


So, I want to put that out, and I won’t belabor that point.  But I will ask for a commitment that we can sit down at some point after this meeting and further discuss this.  And I put myself and my staff ready to work with you on this.  I know there’s many who want to testify.  That’s why I don’t want to belabor this, and I think other people may want to raise the question themselves.


Senator Kuehl just simply asked me if I would raise a couple of points with respect to the Moravek Biochemicals plant in Brea.  There was a concern.  It was called to her attention.  It was called to my attention as well.  There has been communication with Ed Bailey, also communication that has gone to him, to Barbara Hamrick.  I will go ahead and give you the information that I have with respect to the concerns about illegal dumping.  In particular, I want to make sure and hear a commitment from you that you will take the materials and follow up so we can resolve the concern about allegations of illegal dumping.


DR. BONTÁ:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Okay, thank you.


Let me ask if you want to continue with your presentation.  I think we had interrupted you.  Then I will go through some additional questions that I have.


DR. BONTÁ:  That was basically it, Senator.  I think what caused me concern is a statement that Senator Kuehl made, and yourself, in terms of             1 millirem.  Can I ask for some clarification on that so that we can provide clarification?  At what point were you thinking that we were at 1 millirem in terms of decommissioned sites?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Again, we can go back through all that we have.  There are different issues: if it’s commissioned, if it’s decommissioned, the cleanup, the “eliminate,” the big debate.  I don’t want to get into the big debate about Ward Valley.  Even at 2 millirem, that was too high.  I want to get into what was our practice.  As we heard in the Senate Select Committee, and I don’t want to repeat that testimony, there was testimony given to us by Ed Bailey at that time that even though it was allowable, as it was stated, that we could go up to 500 millirem or even 100 millirem, that probably the practice was not to go over much more than 1.


DR. REILLY:  There may be some confusion about another provision of state law that talks about a currently licensed facility.  Say, one of the 2,100 facilities has the ability in state law, both the federal and state level, to ask for what’s termed an “alternative method of disposal.”  I am wondering if that was the point in question, because we do have this rarely asked of us.  


The standard in state law says that a licensee can make a request of the Department of Health Services to release materials that do not pose a significant health risk.  They’re still licensed.  This is different than a decommissioning process.  Normally, a licensed facility has only certain ways that they can dispose of waste.  A low-level radioactive waste facility is typically the most common.  I’m sorry, maybe that’s not the case, but low-level radioactive waste disposal facility is one of the major ones.  


There is the situation on occasion where, perhaps, there’s construction done on the site – it is a licensed site – and there’s a large amount of concrete or a large amount of something else that has a very low-level radiation contamination.  In those particular cases, an entity can come to us – a licensee – and say, “We have this material.  We wish to dispose of it as solid waste,” or to do something else with it – sometimes hazardous materials, sometimes otherwise – “and we wish to have an evaluation to demonstrate that this does not pose a significant risk and have an exemption, if you will, to dispose of this as part of our regular operations, given we’re still licensed.”  


It so happens that in the last ten years we have had, I believe, six of those licensees come forward to us.  They presented to us a large amount of data demonstrating what the overall dose would be.  We went back and confirmed all that on site, and it so happens those were less than 1 millirem for each of those facilities.  That 1 millirem is not in statute.  The only citation in statute is “does not pose a significant public health risk.”  It so happens in those six situations, with concrete or other material that was at less than 1 millirem per year, that we approved for those to go – we actually concurred in several of them on federal actions – concurred with them to go to solid waste disposal or hazardous material disposal.


DR. BONTÁ:  And Senator, the reason I felt this was important, unless I was mishearing it, I was hearing statements to the effect that we were going from         1 millirem to 25, and that is not the case. 


SENATOR ROMERO:  And again, that will be the continuing debate.  I don’t want to belabor that, but I think there are other issues that we can go ahead with.


Let me go back to this issue as well.  As you know from the Senate Select Committee, I had asked for some documents.  I asked for some data.  To date, I have not received it.  We have consistently called the office.  I’ve been waiting for it.  There’s a reason that we want to get that information.  I’m going to ask you if, after this hearing, you will call me, please, to give me the status report of where that data is, and let me give you some indication of that.  We had asked for documents.  In the discussion about the 500 millirem that had been allowed, the 100 millirem, DHS had provided to us documents during the Senate Select Committee hearing that there were 275 licenses that were terminated under the 500 millirem standard.  To date, I have not yet gotten an answer to the question of does the DHS know where this waste was disposed of?


DR. REILLY:  I can answer that.  Those 275 facilities were prior to 1994 when the standard used was 500 millirem.  Again, these standards change over time.  At that point, between ’91 and—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Reilly, would you please speak up?  I think this is important, and I didn’t hear the earlier—


DR. REILLY:  I apologize.


This material was provided in response to some of the Senator’s questions about what were the various releases for unconditional use decommissionings that occurred over time?  As we talked about at your previous hearing, there have been standards that have changed over time.  Between 1991 and 1994, the standard was 500 maximum.  Five hundred millirem per year.  And approximately 275 facilities were released at that standard between ’91 and ’94.


Now, we do not know where the materials that may have come off those facilities went because those were released for what’s termed “unconditional use.”  That was a license that was terminated.  No longer was there a responsibility or requirement on the part of the former licensee to note what was happening.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And you have no tracking mechanism.  You have no computer database.  You didn’t track this.


DR. REILLY:  It was not a requirement, and we did not seek to find where that material went, if it went anywhere.  It’s very possible it stayed on site.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Let me ask another question, because I don’t want to take up too much time, and I’ve got to leave you eventually as well.  Between January ’94 and August ’98, the Department also indicated to the committee that 67 licenses were terminated while the standard dose in effect was 100 millirem.  Have you identified where that waste was removed to?


DR. REILLY:  The issue is the same for those facilities that were released for unconditional use.  Again, in a license termination, the entities were not required to notify us because, again, they were released for unconditional use under the assumption at that time that they posed no public health risk or concern.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Even though we have our statute on our books; again, to the statute that I handed to you.  There was no concern at all, even though we had our own statutes saying “eliminate.”  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is this the regulation?


SENATOR ROMERO:  California regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, that’s different than a statute.  And I don’t have a copy of that, I’m sorry.



SENATOR ROMERO:  We went through this in the Senate Select Committee as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It would be helpful to have the Chair of the committee actually have a copy of that.


DR. REILLY:  Adopted in 1994, I believe?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The reg was adopted in ’94.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Right.


DR. BONTÁ:  It indicates reasonable effort has been made to eliminate residual radioactive contamination, if present.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I want to go back to the original question.  If that was done, I still would like to get an answer as to the contradiction.  Not even dealing with EPA and NRC and all of them but our own here in California, adopted in 1998.  I want to eventually get some answer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ninety-four was the regulation.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Ninety-four.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not the statute.


DR. REILLY:  The one the Senator cited is ’94.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That says “reasonable effort.”  That’s not an absolute.  Do you have the full reg in front of you?  Do you have it so you can answer the Senator’s question?


DR. REILLY:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How does that regulation reconcile with what had been the practice, right or wrong, of 100 millirem?  I think the Senator’s position appears that no, we have a regulation that says zero.  


SENATOR ROMERO:  Well, I asked before – what does “eliminate” mean?  Does it mean 100 millirem?


DR. REILLY:  At that point, the interpretation was that reasonable effort to eliminate was within the context of the cost and benefits I talked about.  The 100 was the absolute maximum.  They could have gone all the way down to zero, to tell you the truth.  In fact, at least in our experience in recent years, more than half the facilities are released at zero because there is no environmental contamination.  That standard we’ll apply will be a different number.  The ALARA value will be different, depending on what the facility was and a lot of details as to what materials were used, what the degree of contamination was, and site-specific sorts of issues.  Indeed, these facilities were not released at 100.  They were released with the ALARA criteria, with 100 being a maximum amount within law that they would be allowed.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Between ’94 and ’98, when this was released, does the Department have a list of where this waste was disposed?


DR. REILLY:  Again, these were released for unconditional use, and that was not a part of our practice – is not a part of our practice.  We are terminating a license with the understanding that the material residual radiation left on site does not pose a significant risk to the health.  So, those sites do not get further follow-up because the licenses are terminated.  They’re no longer in place.  There’s no listing, no.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Between August 1998 and last month, when the judicial order struck down your regulation, the Department has stated that there have been almost 400 licenses that were terminated at 25 millirem between ’98 and last month.  Where did this waste go?


DR. REILLY:  At ALARA, with the maximum of 25, we do not know where that material went.  Again, they were released for unconditional use.  We do not have a listing of the destination.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you whether the Department tracks decommissioned, after licensing—


DR. REILLY:  We do not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has it ever?


DR. REILLY:  We never have.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Don’t you think, though, that you should know, especially in light of the court?  And I’m going to say again, put it forward.  Let’s work on building it forward.  But I am concerned right now that there is a whole lot of radioactive waste in people’s garbage dumps possibly, or maybe even in their children’s braces, because your regulation essentially said you can put it in children’s braces.  I am concerned that this potentially – maybe not – but potentially has been done.  I am hearing again that even as of up to last month, DHS has no idea, no record, no tracking of what happened.


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator, there are many, many of these facilities, and certainly if the number is 400 from 1998 until now, then, as Dr. Reilly has indicated, they’re decommissioned at ALARA, at zero, at very, very low levels.  If the concern is to establish a methodology in order to track this for the future, we’d certainly be open to discussing this with the Legislature as well as to how to properly set that up so that we can provide that information.  We’re not trying to withhold any information whatsoever from this committee or from members of the Legislature.  It’s a way to try and decide what is the information that we need, how do we keep track of that, what is the responsibilities either to us or to someplace else in terms of tracking it, and at what levels?


SENATOR ROMERO:  And I guess my point overall is that, yes, as we go forward, we should immediately begin to track.  Toxics tracks their hazardous waste materials.  I believe that we should track with deliberate speed at this point what we do in the future.  


But going back to the issue, the reason why I raised the concern as well is that I will still argue that DHS has played a little bit fast and loose with the regs in terms of arguing the 100 and 500 millirem that we have seen, again in the court decision being challenged by DHS.  If you can go back and give us that information, I would like to see it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me weigh in here, because I’m back as Chair – if you could form a response to the Senator’s question, or statement actually.  I’m looking at the regs here, and unfortunately, the reg that I think the Senator is referring to is a couple of pages, and the critical trigger is at the bottom.  And I hope that the Senator will stick around when we have others weigh in on this discussion.  I believe this is the regulation that governs the licensee and the persons, and it talks about transferring but keeping records of the license holder.  Again, it’s very lengthy.  Then, I think at the bottom of the reg that she’s referring to, again, it goes back to the standard that is reasonable, whether we like that standard or not.  We either need to change it in statute to go forward with what the Senator hopes to do, but we also need to say – I know the Director wasn’t there in 1994.  I suspect the Administration might have been in a different direction up until and including today.  There is no statute that does what Senator Romero is expecting the Department to have done in the past.  I think that is the policy question before us and the various legislative proposals.  


There’s a little bit of a mixing of apples and oranges, I think, and I think that we really need to continue to clarify.  I don’t think this regulation connects at all with the court order.  The court order, I believe, is a procedural question regarding CEQA, not an absolute standard.  


Senator Romero, I think it’s important to listen to this.  You continue to say:  This shall be the statutory standard.  They violated their trust to the public by abdicating that responsibility.  How dare you, Department.  


The court order was a procedural question:  You should have gone through CEQA; which you should have, by the way.  California ought to know that.  It did not say in that court order, either in the decision or dicta, that this shall be the standard.


Secondly, the regulation that’s referred to – again, I’m really confused because you’ve continued to say the Department was at 1, the Department moved to 100, and the Department’s at 25 now, and I’ve continued to ask for the source.  I want to know if the Department was ever operating under 1, and I want to know, based on your representations throughout this hearing and other hearings, what is the proof of that?  Where is the proof?  You’ve said it four times now.  Your staff, hopefully, can share with this committee.  If the Department, in fact, moved from 1 to 100, you ought to be chastised in public … (tape turned – portion of text missing) … then I think that’s important to know as well.


So, Senator Romero, I’m going to ask you for the fourth time, what document, what practice, what reg, what statute, what policy do you have that demonstrates that the Department moved from 1 to 100 to 25?  And now, as they’ve said, they’re going to go below 25, probably due to a lot of your focus as well as Senator Kuehl’s, which is appropriate.  But I don’t want on this record to stand unfounded the allegation that they have compromised the public health by moving from 1.  You’ve said that four times.  Where is the proof on that?


SENATOR ROMERO:  I will gladly compile it and provide it to you.  As well too, I will provide you a copy of the videotape of the Senate Select hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I watched with much interest that hearing.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Again, we talked about the standard and practice, and those are the issues.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I’m not sure that you understand the difference between OEHHA and DHS.


SENATOR ROMERO:  With all due respect, Madam Chair, I believe that I do.  But I think, perhaps, what we can do is when we bring up the next group, which were originally asked to testify early on and then were moved to the latter panel, I think some of these issues, perhaps, may be more clear.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.  I think it’s really important.  But once again, I’m going to ask where’s the proof the Department used to operate under 1?  I think it’s important.


Any other questions that you have or anything you want to weigh in on the committee’s process?  I want to thank you for your time.  


By the way, can you get Dr. Reilly or the Director an analysis of the regulation that the Senator is referring to as a statute and explain how that connects with her position, which is somebody’s abdicated responsibility?  It looks like to collect records and track, which I don’t understand the Department’s ever done, but it sounds like maybe that should be the case.  And it’s the problem here because we don’t have that inventory.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And Madam Chair, particularly, you can ask for the letter that was sent to Senator Boxer and Senator Kuehl with respect to addressing this issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I believe we have that.  Okay, thank you.


This next panel, I’d ask those that can to sit up here as quickly as possible.  I don’t want to lose Senator Romero before her witnesses get to speak.  Item 4 is the “Discussion of the effect and consequences of revised radiation standards.  Consideration of potential effects on the public health, business activity, and the environment.”  


I understand Ms. Ghio has asked to speak first since she’s got a flight.  You’re from Ligand?


MS. TERESE GHIO:  Ligand Pharmaceuticals.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.


How does this debate over radiation standards affect medical waste?  Can you tell us about how costs are affected by different standards?


Donna Earley would be next.  Randal Friedman would be after that.  If you could please come forward as I call your name.  Mr. Hirsch, I think you should join us because Senator Romero is going to leave, and I don’t want her to not be able to have your testimony.  Mr. Magavern, you’re local, I believe, so you would not have to rush and would be next, and then the other speakers on the panel.


Welcome.


MS. GHIO:  Thank you very much for moving me forward.  I actually, originally, moved my trip from yesterday to today because of this and have to be off to Canada and Washington.


My name is Terese Ghio.  I’m senior director at Ligand Pharmaceuticals in San Diego.  It’s a San Diego-based biotechnology company with approximately 350 employees.  Of those, approximately 120 are basic research and development bench scientists who have successfully discovered a number of compounds and biologics that are currently in use in humans primarily for the treatment of cancer.  The four products we currently have on the market were all discovered and developed with the use of radioactive materials.


It’s a typical biotech company.  Not all of our research scientists use radioactive materials.  At Ligand, we have approximately 60 scientists that actively work with radioactive materials on a daily basis.  From those 60 scientists, we generate over a ton of low-level radioactive waste per year, and that’s the long-lived radioactive waste tritium and carbon 14.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Over a ton a year?


MS. GHIO:  Over a ton a year of long-lived isotopes.  We generate quite a bit more of the short-lived.


I’m here today representing not just Ligand Pharmaceuticals but BIOCOM/san diego, an organization of over 300 biotech, biomedical, bioag, and medical device companies who employ over 35,000 citizens in this state, in San Diego.  As a whole, the healthcare industry employs over 225,000.


Let me read you a statement from our policy agenda that has been approved by our board of directors, which is made up of a number of CEOs.  Under our basic principles for low-level radioactive waste disposal, the BIOCOM principle is as follows:


“BIOCOM/san diego will oppose any legislation or regulation that would limit the amounts or processes of radioisotopes used in the life sciences industry.”


I’m going to keep it short, but this can be available to all the members of this committee.


To complete my background, I should tell you that I began my career as a scientist and have operated and managed EH&S programs (Environmental Health & Safety programs) for over twenty years.  I have been the radiation safety officer at a number of companies.  I am currently an appointed member of the San Diego Regional Quality Control Board.  In this position, I was appointed by Governor Davis in the year 2000.  In addition to my extensive scientific and technical background, I have been responsible for the interpretation and implementation of local, state, and federal legislative and regulatory initiatives in the State of California for over ten years.


Unfortunately, I can’t sound very optimistic as to what might be accomplished here today.  I am discouraged by messages sent through the actions of both the Legislature and the current Administration on radioactive materials use in this state.  This informational hearing is an excellent step in the right direction, and I thank and applaud Senator Ortiz for bringing us here together today.  Any actions in the right direction will take political will and persons willing to take the time to study the process, and I think that’s what we’re doing here today.  


Unfortunately, in the meantime, as today’s San Diego Union Tribune article correctly reported, the biotechnology industry’s small innovative companies’ ability to expand their operations are at a standstill.  There is no way to end a radioactive materials license in the State of California today.  The actions, or should I say the inactions, of Governor Davis and this Legislature, with a lot of help from the Committee to Bridge the Gap, is opposing and deterring the continued growth of our great industry.  Something is very wrong when the state doesn’t trust or believe its own experts.  


My lack of optimism is based on some of the earlier discussions here this morning.  Actually, my optimism has gotten a little bit better since the last panel when I listened to DHS.  You do understand that they are the experts.  When OEHHA came up and talked and they were talking about parts per million and radioactive materials, there is no way to measure radioactive materials and parts per million.  That’s not the way you measure it.  And this is where the science is lacking, where DHS has the scientific authority and expertise on staff.


You’ve heard a lot about standards for decommissioning, but do any of you really understand what radioactivity is, where it comes from, how it is used, why it is used, and what the factual issues are surrounding the risks of its disposal?  Who should be making these decisions?


Some quick facts and observations:  What are we doing here today?  I’m not quite sure this agenda has met anyone’s needs.  We have a system that is broken, not because of the DHS authorizing disposal of materials in sanitary landfills, but because of misperceptions and misrepresentations of facts.  Where’s the NRC?  Where’s the Radiologic Health Branch?


I’m in a position now to present you with facts about background levels of radiation, and you’re going to hear some more from other people, so I’m going to cut through this.  But please be aware that what we are asking – BIOCOM/san diego – is we need immediate resolution of this issue.  I am aware of ten facilities right now that every day I get another call they cannot move, cannot expand their operations because they can’t end their radioactive materials license.  I have met with the Governor’s staff, and I have met with the Legislature.  It’s fine that we’re all going through this process, but I can tell you, this process is not going to go fast.  The opponents on this topic are at opposite ends of the table.  The DHS and the Radiologic Health Branch have had gag orders on them by the Administration in the past, and I can tell you those gag orders are going to go back on because I do know of two major medical facilities – research facilities – that are about to file suit against the state in response to not being able to end their license.


So, given all of that, something is really wrong, but this is not a waste of my time or yours.  Over and over again, I’ve been told that you and the Administration listen to us, the licensees, and the opponents of radioactive materials, and you don’t know who to believe.  Let’s just believe in action and facts.  The facts are the NRC, in adopting the 25 millirem standard, concluded successfully an EIR.  Another fact:  The Committee to Bridge the Gap has stated that their intent is not to stop radioactive materials use in this state.  They stated this in the past two committee hearings at which I spoke with them.  However, their actions have done just that:  No disposal options, no decommissioning standard, and sponsorship of legislation that is technically infeasible to comply with.


Fact:  The cost of R&D in this state is skyrocketing.  If not energy, then water.  If not housing costs, then infrastructure.  And add to all of that the highest taxes, the highest insurance rates, and now, on top of it, the budget cuts.  Cuts to health care, cuts to services, and now actions to result in cuts to dollars that we could spend on R&D.  


Fact:  The actions of this state continue to add to a very unfriendly business environment.  Radioactive exposures to the general public from natural and background sources can range from 300 to 1,000 millirem per year.  When I move from San Diego and I go to Denver, I go from just over 300 millirem of exposure to 800 millirem.  Does that mean that there’s an excess 12 cancers per 50 people in Denver versus San Diego?  I don’t think so.  I think there’s been some misrepresentation of facts at previous meetings. 


It is unfortunate that I cannot stay to further discuss this with you, as I have a flight to catch.  But please just understand that long-lived versus short-lived isotopes are both extremely important to the biotechnology industry as is the ability for us to access high-level radioactive materials.  High-level radioactive materials decay into short-lived radioactive materials – or low-level.  High-level decays into low-level.  A good example is a new product that’s on the market from IDEC Pharmaceuticals:  Strontium-90 is used in generating the yttrium that is used for its medical products.  You get rid of high-level, you get rid of biotech.  You get rid of waste disposal options, you get rid of biotech.


So, this issue is not as simple as looking at concentrations of chemicals.  It’s a lot more complex than that.  And I thank you for your time and just wish I had more time to spend with you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How much time do you have to take questions?


MS. GHIO:  One question.  It’s a trip to Toronto.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Very quickly, obviously we’re trying to reconcile the standards.  Whatever the cutoff may be – if it’s 1 or it’s 25 – what are the consequences?  Class 1 facilities, which are the highest level, I understand, I believe there’s an agreement for the operators of those Class 1s to no longer take any waste.  We cannot take them in Class 2 and Class 3.  This is such a contradiction because you do research to cure cancer.  And this is the thing that alarmed me most is medical waste.  This is our life – saving lives.  Where do we send this?


MS. GHIO:  Well, that’s the whole issue of Ward Valley, which is the answer to that question.  Low-level radioactive waste belong in Ward Valley.  That is our position.  You’ll see that in the position from our board.  


But as far as where the standard should be now, _________ emergency regulation today, implementing ALARA with a cap of 25 millirem.  This process that we’re talking about today is not going to be solved this year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You heard the Department say their goal is to get below 25.


MS. GHIO:  Right.  But I’m saying today we need an emergency regulation because we have sites that can’t close.  We have people that can’t move.  We have industries that can’t close.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If they can’t close, where do they go?


MS. GHIO:  They can’t do anything.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They keep it on site.


MS. GHIO:  No, no.  They can’t move.  In other words, their lease has ended.  They are paying leases on facilities that they’re not occupying.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, waste stays on site.


MS. GHIO:  No, it’s not waste.  The site’s clean.  There is no measurable radioactivity on the site, but you cannot end the license in this state right now.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let me give Senator Romero a quick opportunity before you leave, if she has any questions.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I appreciate the testimony.  I know you have to hurry and leave.  Let me ask you – you started off talking about research and where you take waste from research.  I come out of an academic background, and I would like to see the continuation of that research.  That is a legitimate and important discussion.  However, I don’t see the connection between where you take the waste from research and getting to at what standard do we finally say this is what is an acceptable level?  What level do we finally move forward on this?  I don’t see the connection here, and I just wanted to go ahead and state that.


MS. GHIO:  The connection is dealing with radioactive material.  It doesn’t make a difference where it’s generated or how it’s generated.  It’s like if you have a chemical.  It doesn’t make a difference if it comes from the chemical industry or from the mining industry or from biotechnology.  A risk is a risk.  So, you can’t differentiate our waste from anyone else’s waste.  It’s based on the characteristics of that material.  One-third of all tritium on this earth is naturally occurring.  Two-thirds of it is man-made.  We work with man-made tritium at Ligand Pharmaceuticals.  How do you differentiate that from the naturally occurring?  How do you differentiate that from the tritium that’s from other industry sources?  You can’t.  It’s not appropriate.  It’s not scientifically sound to separate those wastes out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Any other questions, Senator Romero?


Thank you for your testimony.


Our next speaker is Ms. Earley, who is the director Environmental Health and Safety, Cedars Sinai Hospital.  Welcome.  I know Senator Romero has to leave at one, so if you could quickly go through so as to allow her to weigh in with any questions.


MS. DONNA EARLEY:  Thank you.


In the interest of time then, I will cut to the three issues that we as hospitals are concerned about.  The first one has to do with the proposed transfer of Radiologic Health to some other agency.  That is very concerning to us because of the health aspects of what we do.  Cedars Sinai Medical Center is an 800-bed, teaching/research hospital.  We have 200 laboratories.  A lot of cancer cutting-edge technology.  Almost all of our research labs involve the use of radioactive material, as do many of our new treatments.  So, every time a new treatment comes along, it requires a lot of evaluation in terms of risk benefit to the patient, risk benefit to the institution, to the public, from how the source gets manufactured through how it’s shipped, how it’s used, and how it’s disposed.  All of those issues have a very large component involving health, and we certainly urge that the Department of Health Services continue their oversight and that that would be much more appropriate.


The second issue, I urge some caution on one that we just briefly touched on today, and that was the reporting of the radioactive waste.  Post-September 11th, we’ve all become very focused on all of the vulnerabilities that we all have, in hospitals in particular, and in Los Angeles, Cedars Sinai in particular because of our affiliation with the Jewish community as well as some other activities that we have on our campus that have led us to be targets from various activists.  So, we are very concerned about the security of any data that would be submitted to some agency and the assurances that we would need that the location, the amounts, and the quantity of material would not be available for anyone in the public to be able to get into.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me reiterate.  The concern is that by disclosing what you have on site and the amounts, there’s a fear of terrorism.


MS. EARLEY:  Yes.  In fact, the statewide disaster drill this fall will be on such a scenario, so it is going to be very public.  People’s whole awareness about radioactive material and its use and potential misuse will be focused on.  So, anything that’s done, we urge.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Romero?  


Have you finished?  I just want to make sure she gets time to weigh in.


MS. EARLEY:  My last point, then, is about just the general topic of waste and waste disposal.  Medical radioactive waste in California right now is only allowed to go to one site, and that’s in South Carolina.  That site is scheduled to close in 2006.  Prior to it closing, every year they will only be accepting one-half the volume that they did the year before, which means you’re in a lottery and at some point, between now and then, we’re going to be shut out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Meaning you?  Your particular hospital or all of California?


MS. EARLEY:  All of California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Two thousand six.


MS. EARLEY:  Right.  There is one other site in biocare in Utah.  It does not take medical waste.  So, we only have one site in the country, and it is slated to close.  We have, at most, four years to find a solution, or we have no place to dispose of waste.  In that four years, the cost of disposal, as the volume goes down, is going to go sky high.  That impacts our research and the ability of researchers to competitively compete for grants when a higher percentage of their grant money has to go into disposal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is a solution we should have started working on twenty years ago.


MS. EARLEY:  As Teri said, we did, and it’s called Ward Valley.  We weren’t very successful at it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re not going to talk about that, right?  Because it’s a subject of litigation.


MS. EARLEY:  That’s right.  Though the argument can be made that regular community hospitals don’t have the issues that we at Cedars Sinai do because they use, mostly, short-lived isotopes, though not exclusively.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But mammograms are not short-lived.


MS. EARLEY:  Right, but that’s an X-ray.  They’re using in nuclear medicine, for instance, mostly short-lived isotopes.  However, they do use long:  strontium-89, for instance; some new technologies involving strontium-90; sezium.  The manufacturers of the pharmaceuticals do have these issues.  And so, though the community hospital may not have a waste storage, their supplier does.  And if their supplier can’t supply them with their isotopes, they won’t be able to deliver the product.  So, we just want to make sure that you won’t be fooled by the “Oh, this isn’t a hospital problem.”  It is a hospital problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, it’s the one part that actually triggered my concern.  Of all the low-level radioactive waste that is produced in California, what percentage – I don’t know if it’s you or someone here can share with me what that percentage is that is for medical waste.


MS. EARLEY:  You know, we get into these arguments about the percentage.  For me, it’s the hospital.  I don’t care.  I have my waste, and whether it’s one percent or a hundred percent—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Hirsch, it looks like you have an answer.  Rather than do your full presentation, why don’t you go on the mike so we can have you on the record.  That will give somebody else time to say no, it’s higher, or whatever.  


MR. DAN HIRSCH:  Congressional Research Service reports that approximately 90 percent of the waste is from reactors, and about .1 percent from medical for academic.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s helpful to know.


MR. HIRSCH:  This is, as I recall, the low-level radioactive waste that they’re talking about.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Had you finished your presentation?


MS. EARLEY:  Yes, in the interest of time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Romero?  Okay, thank you so much.  I think it is important we hear whether it’s 1 percent or 50 percent.


MS. EARLEY:  And it’s also important, whether you look at by activity or volume, because those are different numbers.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And distinguish that quickly.


MS. EARLEY:  Whether it’s radioactivity or whether it’s volume weight.  Is it tons, or are you talking about millicuries?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s your sense that it’s probably by volume.  It’s a higher percentage.


MS. EARLEY:  Medical waste is lower by volume but is a higher percentage by activity.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.


Our next speaker is Mr. Friedman.


MR. RANDAL FRIEDMAN:  Madam Chair, Senator.  Randal Friedman, California Governmental Affairs for Navy Region Southwest.  Thank you for this opportunity to speak.


Navy installations in California play a central role in our nation’s defense efforts.  Recent world events have demonstrated the compelling role California-based naval warships fill for our nation’s security.  The Navy represents a major sector of the California economy, including $12.3 billion in direct annual expenditures.  


Senate Bills 1444, 1623, and 2065 would have a significant negative impact on Navy activities in the State of California.  Some provisions of these bills appear to be unworkable based on technology and engineering concerns, would not realistically increase public safety, could degrade homeland security, could conflict with the Atomic Energy Act, and would impede efforts to transfer Navy property under the Base Realignment Closure Act, and I’d like to focus on that last one.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But didn’t I hear earlier that the federal government retains exclusive jurisdiction for standards of federal properties as well as base realignment?  Wouldn’t you be exempt?  We’d be preempted.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  The problem under base closure is when we look to transfer it, then the transferee is going to be subject to all of these, and they could never accept property.  The end result would be we would be holding the property in perpetuity.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Although, they’d be grandfathered in with land use authority, and it would restrict some of the land use decision-making process of the locals and the reuse committees.  That ultimate responsibility, whether it takes a hundred years, still rests with the military to clean up to the standard of the reuse.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  No.  The standard for reuse is subject to discussion, but the point is we could never transfer the property and even start the process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We don’t mind owning it as long as you continue to clean it up.  Go ahead.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  SB 1444 contains definitions of radioactive material, cleanup criteria, and a prohibition on averaging when modeling risk exposures.  These provisions could add years to the transfer and reuse of closed bases or could unnecessarily prevent the transfer and reuse of properties all together.  SB 1444 could require extensive radiation cleanups at sites previously radiologically released at levels, say, for unrestricted use.  The Navy is not prepared to revisit each of these sites at significant expense to the taxpayers for little to no benefit.  The bill would not realistically reduce the risk to future site users but would result in continued economic losses to local communities already negatively impacted by base closure.  


For example, a few years ago the former Mare Island Naval Shipyard was released for unrestricted future use with respect to radioactivity with agreement by California and EPA Region 9.  The residual radioactivity levels were either within background or represented cancer risk below 1 in a million.  Yet, Mare Island could not have been released if SB 1444 were in place due to the bill’s prohibition on averaging to establish cleanup levels.  The city of Vallejo’s efforts to replace the 7,100 jobs lost due to the shipyard’s closure would have been unnecessarily delayed or jeopardized.


The Navy remains absolutely committed to the full cleanup of these sites.  We’ve already spent hundreds of millions of dollars in these efforts.  We’re prepared to finish them out.  We do this in full consultation with the public and regulatory agencies.  I think you would find our cleanups are unique in that we have restoration advisory boards for each site that meet monthly.  Everything is done in the open.  However – and believe me, I’ve been working with probably twenty or thirty Ph.D.s and the Navy nuclear people back in Washington.  We are absolutely convinced that these bills would severely disrupt the base closure process.  As well, I don’t want to minimize the impacts to our ongoing operations, but in that sense, we’re similar to the industrial concerns, and I won’t repeat those.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do appreciate that.


Senator Romero, questions for this witness?  


MR. FRIEDMAN:  And I do have an original of the letter that we provided your staff.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Let’s go ahead and make sure that all the members of the committee get a copy of that as well.


Before Mr. Hirsch begins, let me invite all the other speakers to come forward and try to fill up the chairs.  Dr. Robert Lull from UC San Francisco; Mr. Bill Magavern from Sierra Club; Alan Pasternak from the California Radioactive Materials Management Forum; and the other two, Laurens Silver and Craig Barney, can come up if they can find a chair.


Mr. Hirsch, welcome.


MR. HIRSCH:  Thank you very much.  


I think a couple of the questions you asked earlier I can help with a bit by pointing to some documents that are in that blue binder, and perhaps your staff can help pull that out.  That was the briefing book for the landfills hearing.


I’m going to try to explain a little bit of how we got here and answer some of the questions that have come up here.  


You’ve asked what was the standard before all of this fiasco began.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to know when we were at 1.


MR. HIRSCH:  Let me answer that.  Senator Romero is correct that the regulation that’s been in place has always been to eliminate the contamination for cleanup, and I must distinguish between cleanup and disposal.  These really are two separate issues.  The cleanup standard in the regs would never hit a number.  Never.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a cleanup standard.


MR. HIRSCH:  For the cleanup, and we’ve never had a number for disposal.  I’m going to give you a cite to a statute, which I can hand to you, from the statute about disposal.  The statute bars any radioactive waste from being disposed of in any facility other than a licensed site.  So, for disposal was any radioactive waste.  For cleanup, it was to eliminate.  There was never any regulation in effect that permitted you to leave residual contamination at a certain amount behind for a cleanup and never a regulation or a statute that permitted you to dispose of it in an unlicensed site.


There was, however, a provision of the regulations which gave to Mr. Bailey, the branch chief of the Radiologic Health Branch, the authority to waive any regulation he wished upon application to grant exemptions.  And in a letter issued to Senator Kuehl and Senator Boxer in early of last year, which is in your   package – and I will find that for you in a moment—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a copy of it here.


MR. HIRSCH:  Okay.  In that, DHS said yes, for operating facilities, no radioactive waste is supposed to go to an unlicensed site.  We do grant exemptions, and we use a 1 millirem standard for granting those exemptions for disposal, for operating nuclear facilities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Operating.


MR. HIRSCH:  Operating.  They proposed about a year ago to adopt a cleanup standard for decommissioning sites of 25 millirem, which would be twenty-five times higher than that.  There was not a word in that proposed regulation about disposal.  It just said cleanup.  Senator Boxer and Senator Kuehl, because of an incident involving radioactive waste being shipped from the Rocketdyne facility in Southern California to the Buttonwillow facility, asked DHS to explain how radioactive waste could go to Buttonwillow, which isn’t licensed.  That’s that letter that you have there.  They say if it’s an operating site, no waste is supposed to go, but we can grant exceptions up to 1 millirem.  If it’s a closed site, you don’t have to ask for an exemption, and we’ll let it go to an unlicensed site at 25 millirem.  When asked what the statutory or regulatory authority was for the  25 … (tape turned – portion of text missing) … not yet adopted, and yet with relying on it, even though it had not yet become a regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s the 25.


MR. HIRSCH:  That’s the famous 25.  


Now, the reason there’s confusion about the hundred millirem is because DHS, in my view, tried to slip this regulation through.  The Integrated Waste Board wasn’t informed that their facilities were going to be receiving the waste.  They called, and in fact asked, “Is there anything in this reg that would affect disposal?” and were told no.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When did they try to “slip” it through?


MR. HIRSCH:  Last year.  The rule became final in November.  During last year there was this effort to promulgate it, and the Integrated Waste Board went to DHS and said, “We hear you’ve got some rule that could impact our sites, that could let radioactive waste go to our facilities,” and were told no, and a few weeks later the rule became final.  That’s in the staff analysis and also Senator Roberti’s testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is the 100 standard.


MR. HIRSCH:  That’s where the 100 comes in.  DHS didn’t want to do an Environmental Impact Report, so they gave themselves an NOE (Notice of Exemption) from CEQA, and the basis for it was that this was an improvement for the environment because they claimed to have done it in the past at 100 millirem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the Notice of Exemption was the attempt to bypass.


MR. HIRSCH:  CEQA.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Doesn’t the Notice of Exemption require a public hearing process?


MR. HIRSCH:  No, and that was what was so upsetting.  We didn’t learn about the NOE until the last day you could even go to court to challenge it.  That’s the whole point.  EIR, there’s public notice and you get to comment.  NOE, they do put the notice in the Clearinghouse.  For thirty days you can’t do anything about it, but you’re told thirty days in advance, if you’re checking that every day, that there’s going to be an exemption.  They did that, I think, in September, when the rule was going to take effect in November.


The 100 millirem was their claim that they had been using that in the past.  The actual regulation says it applies only to licensees and only for operations.  The court expressly ruled in its dicta, as Senator Kuehl pointed out, that the 100 millirem is irrelevant; it was not a standard; they had no legal authority to use it for cleanup or for disposal; that ALARA was not a standard that they could use for cleanup or for disposal; that they had no numerical number whatsoever in the past.  So, all of a sudden, we’re faced with the situation, not of my creation but of DHS’s, because they tried to bypass CEQA by sneaking it through without an EIR and without telling the sister agencies this was going to go on.


The first time any of us learned that DHS’s policy was to permit radioactive waste to go into landfills was when that letter was issued to Senator Boxer and Senator Kuehl early last year.  Up until that time, DHS’s public pronouncements repeatedly were if it is radioactive above background, it must go to a licensed site.  The three such in the country take _____________.  There have been three for the last forty years.  It’s always been the state’s practice, as the rest of the country, to send to those national facilities.  I’ll deal with the issue of __________________, if we have a moment later, but the policy of the state has always been if it’s radioactive above background, it cannot go to a landfill, it cannot go to a school, a park, a metal recycler, with one exception:  Mr. Bailey had the authority to exempt anyone he wished to from that rule.  But the rule has always been that it’s banned from landfills.


On the cleanup matter, the only regulation that exists is the one that says “reasonable efforts to eliminate,” but there is one guidance document that DHS has put out with a numerical standard.  Only one that has ever been produced.  That’s tab 11 in your book.  This is a 1994 DHS guidance document on cleaning up military bases for unrestricted use.  If I could call your attention to page 17, you will see that this entire document suggests using the risk range that we’ve been hearing about so much, that DTSC and EPA and all agencies that deal with chemical risks have, which is you’re supposed to clean up to 10 to the minus 6, falling back on exceptional circumstances to no more than 10 to the minus 4 at either 15.3/.2.  The DHS therefore sets as its cleanup standard for military bases .02 millirem to 2 millirem per year.


So, you see that going to 25 was a dramatic increase.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re saying a lot.  There’s a lot of handouts.  I’m trying to reconcile – actually, I’m still on your original point – where you said the Department uses this level as a statute or a reg.  I’m trying to find the source of “DHS uses this level when reviewing requests for alternative methods of disposal.”


MR. HIRSCH:  You’re correct.  The 1 millirem cannot be found in regulation or statute.  There is in the regulation the authority to grant exceptions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Authority to grant exceptions—


MR. HIRSCH:  From any reg.  It’s an amazing power.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know, but it’s been said that they’ve been operating at 1 and that they changed that practice.


MR. HIRSCH:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t have proof of that.


MR. HIRSCH:  It says “1” right in that paragraph.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They use it when they evaluate.


MR. HIRSCH:  Yes.  When someone requests an exemption from the ban on sending to municipal landfills, and they’re an operating facility, if they’re less than 1—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t want to misrepresent.  It’s a factor they look at in a variable when they’re making a decision, but it’s not the standard or the rule or the statute or the reg.


MR. HIRSCH:  I would agree with you, which is why we think it’s—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to clear that up because it’s been said they’ve always been at 1 and then they went to 100.


MR. HIRSCH:  Right.  Let’s be very clear.  The only statute that exists says no radioactive waste is to go to landfills, and you can be prosecuted if it goes.  The only reg that exists says you must clean up a facility to eliminate the contamination.  By practice, DHS claims to have used a 1 millirem standard outside of statute and outside of regulation to grant waivers, but there is no regulatory basis for doing so.  We’ve gone some forty years into this episode without them having followed APA rulemaking or CEQA and just kind of doing it on their sleeve.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you a question.  Assuming we go to 1 and it’s the right standard – or go back to 1, however you interpret it – or go to 5 or we stay at 25, if you have personally entered into agreements with all the Class 1 facilities in California to no longer engage in receipt of low-level radioactive waste – and we certainly shouldn’t even consider receiving them in Class 2 or 3 facilities because it’s not appropriate – and we don’t find the technology, the innovation, to short-live versus long-live or find a safe way of no longer doing this, where do we put – let’s say medical waste is 1 percent, or less than 1 percent.  Where does it go?


MR. HIRSCH:  Where it has gone for forty years.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know.  Tell me where that would be.


MR. HIRSCH:  There is not enough of this so-called low-level waste to have more than two or three facilities in the country. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s outside of California is your position.


MR. HIRSCH:  And it has always been.  I am open to it being in California and have endorsed Mr. Keeley’s bill that would help us try to get on some track to develop a safe site.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do we have the technology to develop a safe site now?  I’m curious because I think that’s our challenge here.


MR. HIRSCH:  We have the technology to do very much better than we have.  The fight that we’ve had over the past six dumps that were built in this country under the existing regs is that they were all facilities that are unlined holes in the ground, where they were permitted, by regulation, to leak.  Mr. Keeley’s bill would say we should design these so as to not leak.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And do we have the technology to design it today?


MR. HIRSCH:  We can do very much better.  I don’t think there is a perfect solution.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What if it takes us five years?  What if we run into 2006?  You do understand my challenge.  I agree, we should make California as safe as possible.  We should find safe means of disposal, higher standards of decommissioning, whatever, but we’ve still got to ask that question or we’re going to hit a wall here.


MR. HIRSCH:  We aren’t, and let me answer on that.  I’m surrounded, and the previous table as well, by five or six people who, for a decade, have said, “The sky is falling.  Tomorrow there’ll be no place for the waste to go.”  In the forty years in which there has been this situation, there has been a period of, I think, twelve months where there wasn’t a place where California could ship its waste.  The Envirocare facility can take all Class A waste, which is 95 percent—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where is Envirocare?


MR. HIRSCH:  In Utah.  At much lower cost than Barnwell.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  South Carolina, Utah – where else?  Nevada?


MR. HIRSCH:  The Department of Energy waste goes to Nevada or to Washington State.  That’s correct.  The Nevada Test Site receives the DOE waste generated in California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So it’s your position everything we generate in California needs to go to another state.


MR. HIRSCH:  No.  That’s why I support the Keeley bill, which is that we have come to an impasse over the possibility of having a site here.  Senator Kuehl’s bill wants to find out how much there is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s important.  


MR. HIRSCH:  The __________ is not even out there to be able to even make this economically viable, and all the studies indicate – President Atkinson’s report for the Governor.  It’s first-page conclusion that bottoms have dropped, I think, ten-fold, the activity dropped even more than that over the last twenty years, and that it’s questionable now that there’s any economic viability to building a single site for that small amount of waste here.  But that should be found out, and the first step is to support Senator Kuehl’s bill to find out how much there is.  Is it short- or long-lived?  And if we have enough, and if it’s economically viable, then Mr. Keeley’s bill says let’s learn the lesson of the last fiasco and set some better standards so we can build some consensus to actually site a facility.


You should know one thing about me.  During that Ward Valley fight, I was negotiating with some of the more moderate members of the radioactive waste generator community to establish a facility for medical, academic, and biotech waste.  The environmental community was willing to help get a site to have a facility.  We were going to use our influence with the community to make it happen.  Those are the ways that you have to resolve these problems, by putting the ideology aside, trying to improve the safety, and getting things to happen.  But this has become a very ideological battle.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  On both extremes.


MR. HIRSCH:  I agree.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s no middle here.


MR. HIRSCH:  Well, there is a middle.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t think it’s been represented is my sense.  I still see a gap, no pun intended.


MR. HIRSCH:  There’s so many gaps.  We need to “bridge that gap.”  Thank you for the plug.


If I may to some of the other questions that you were asking, you asked about the difference between millirem and risk.  Also, there seems to be some confusion about EPA and NRC versus OEHHA and DHS, and let me explain.  The federal Congress gave to the USEPA the authority to set radiation standards, and EPA has that authority in a whole series of areas.  It’s not like OEHHA which comes up with a goal and then other agencies set a regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I think it’s important for you to distinguish.  Even if they’re not parallel, California is unlike USEPA and NRC, and that’s the point that needs to be made here because I think they’re being used interchangeably.  OEHHA and DHS should adopt the NRC standard.  That’s your position policywise.


MR. HIRSCH:  No, I’m opposed to them adopting the NRC policy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or the USEPA standard, excuse me.


MR. HIRSCH:  I actually would like some modification of it, but close.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In California we don’t have that system.


MR. HIRSCH:  We do in a similar way.  If the question had been asked of DTSC, which is a regulatory entity and which handles the chemical waste, what risk levels do you use for regulating chemicals – if you ask Pesticide Division, all of them – they would tell you, “We use 10 to the minus 6.  We have some flexibility to fall back, but we regulate at 10 to the minus 6.”  So, OEHHA is an entity that gives us some science as to how many parts per billion of this compound produced 10 to the minus 6.  The regulator then does something with it.  But for all contaminants besides radiation, in this state and in this country we regulate, as a primary standard, at 10 to the minus 6.  


The USEPA, in the testimony which you have in that book as well, asked why is it that radiation of all of those carcinogens is a privileged pollutant?  That we’re permitted to have concentrations of radioactivity that the risk estimates are way beyond anything we would permit for any other carcinogen.  And what’s been suggested here is to try to move that radiation regulation more consistent with how we handle all other carcinogens.  


You asked what those numbers are.  EPA says you shouldn’t use millirem – they prefer risk – but most agencies will concede that, roughly, 15 millirem is approximately 300 times the 1 in a million standard.  Fifteen millirem is approximately 3 times 10 to the minus 4; whereas, the risk range is supposed to be 10 to the minus 6, falling back to no more than about 10 to the minus 4.  So, if you’re going to try to get to 1 in a million, you will be trying to get to about .05 above background.  


Now, it’s been said we get about 300 millirem from background, as though that’s harmless.  The National Academy of Sciences and all other regulatory bodies estimate that the background radiation we get produces something on the order of 5 percent of the cancers that are produced.  We can’t get away from it.  We’re being bombarded by radiation all the time.  The question is, do we want to add some percentage to that?  I think what Senator Kuehl’s bill is trying to do is say a nuclear licensee shouldn’t have contamination on their site in the first place. They should follow the rules and keep it clean.  But if there are spills, if there are accidents, then they should clean it up to a cleanup standard that’s consistent with how we regulate all other carcinogens.  I think that’s appropriate.  


What’s lovely about the Navy is they just told us that one of the most contaminated sites we had in the state – Mare Island – they’re willing to clean it up to 10 to the minus 6.  Their only concern is that they averaged a bit.  And you heard Mr. Wong state earlier, he thinks if you do have a hotspot, you shouldn’t average it, you should clean it up.


So, I think that there really is some room, if the ideological battle goes away, to be able to get some solutions here and that what’s being proposed is reasonable.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Hirsch, let me give Senator Romero an opportunity to ask questions.  She’s going to leave at one, so I want to make sure I give her a chance to weigh in.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Right.  I wanted to make sure that I could hear at least part of the testimony coming up here.


Thank you for your testimony.  Let me ask you, with respect to the court ruling, if you could address that because it is true, there are industries up and down the state.  Biotech.  I spoke with Senator Alpert this morning.  There’s a great deal of confusion with respect to what do we do now?  I’d be interested in hearing your perspective and the organization’s perspective as to what recommendation would you make?  As you’ve heard DHS indicate earlier, they are willing to take a look at this and to move forward.  I’m hoping that we can bridge that gap.  What are you recommending?


MR. HIRSCH:  Well, first of all, I was stunned by the assertion that this is a problem.  There was no standard, no numerical standard, until November – three months ago.  And the court stuck down the standard that became effective in November.  So, how someone can say that we’re now in a crisis when we’re exactly in the situation that we were in before November, before that regulation took effect, I don’t understand.


I got a call from a biotech firm yesterday, telling me that they thought they were being hijacked by DHS, who was saying they cannot terminate their license because they don’t have a standard.  I said, “Look at the regulation.  It says if you have eliminated, you can have your license terminated.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which regulation is that?


MR. HIRSCH:  That’s the one we’ve been referring to.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you give me a cite again?


MR. HIRSCH:  Sure.  It’s in your book.  It’s Title 17—


SENATOR ROMERO:  Section 30256(k).


MR. HIRSCH:  Right.  But that is an existing regulation that’s been in existence for years.  The biotech guy said, “We’re at background.”  So, I said, “Listen, if that’s the situation, I will join you in telling DHS that this is indeed appropriate.  You should have your license terminated.  I will certainly take no legal action whatsoever, but I’ll help you.”  


They’ve had this regulation for years.  The only thing that’s been struck down is something that was in effect since November, so we’re in the situation we were in before November.


But let me say one thing about the legal side of it.  I was absolutely stunned by Director Bontá’s announcement here today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which part?


MR. HIRSCH:  I don’t know if everyone caught it.  If I heard it correctly, Dr. Bontá said that in light of the court decision, they will be releasing sites – contaminated sites – based on the “as low as reasonably achievable” principle and a 25 millirem per year cap.  


Now, you must understand that the regulation that was struck down by the court six weeks ago was the use of “as low as reasonably achievable” with a 25 millirem cap.  The judgment says you cannot adopt that regulation or any regulation that’s similar without compliance with CEQA, without doing an EIR.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But it didn’t speak directly on the standard.  It said procedurally CEQA.


MR. HIRSCH:  Senator, you’re absolutely correct, and I agree.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They did not weigh in and say this shall be so.


MR. HIRSCH:  Of course, no.  They are not there to figure out what the standard should be but want to make sure that the agencies follow the law in adopting the standard.  


That’s not the decision.  Do you need a copy of it?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  I’m sure I have it in my pile of stuff.


MR. HIRSCH:  Because the decision said, clearly, the 100 millirem wasn’t a preexisting standard, that that was false.  The judgment says you cannot adopt a new standard, whatever it may be, without compliance with the EIR.  And Dr. Bontá just announced she’s going to use the standard that was struck – 25 millirem plus ALARA – while they figure out what to do.  I don’t understand how that can be.  I think that they are placing themselves in the position of being in contempt of court, and if I heard her correctly, we’ll be back in court with her, and I don’t understand why that should be.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me offer a different opinion.  I think what she says is during the duration – well, I don’t want to speak for her.  Certainly, you’re more than welcome to come forward, Director Bontá.  I interpreted that to mean we’ve got to go through CEQA; that it’s going to take time.  In the interim period of time, this is what we will rely on.  I don’t know, maybe you can shed some light on this.


SENATOR ROMERO:  But Senator Ortiz, as well too, if we can also address in light of it being struck, why not go back to what exists in our regs?  If we could have Director Bontá address that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is the representation that we exist in 1 in the regs?


MR. HIRSCH:  No, we eliminate.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Eliminate and properly dispose.


DR. BONTÁ:  What we would seek at all times is to go to ALARA, to as low as possible in terms of decommissioning the site.  The dilemma is now what standard do we uphold, and that’s why the questions from industry as to what will be the feeling on release of a property?  Again, we will try to work with industry to ensure that it was as low as reasonably possible.  


We do have a federal law that our attorneys have interpreted – and I’ll ask the attorneys to speak to this if need be – that under the current situation, that that’s what we would be following.  I did offer here that we want to work with members of the Legislature.  I don’t see an authority for us to do something different at this time in terms of looking at a lower standard than the 25 millirem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Tell me about the reference “no disposal of any radioactive” I think waste or rate.  The reg that continues to be referred to, I think they’re saying that we’re in violation of.  Can you cite that again?


MR. HIRSCH:  It’s a statute.  It’s Health and Safety Code 115215:  “Any person who knowingly disposes or causes disposal of any radioactive material regulated by this chapter, or should reasonably have known that it was being disposed of, at a facility within the state that does not have a license for disposal issued by the Department is in violation.”  Statute on disposal, not cleanup.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I assume you’re, hopefully, our attorney.  Welcome.  Please identify yourself.


MS. BARBARA YONEMURA:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I’m Barbara Yonemura, chief counsel of Department of Health Services.  I walked up here initially to speak to the regulation that had been referred to, not the statute.  I have not reviewed that particular statute that Mr. Hirsch just quoted.  


But the regulation in Title 17, 30256(k), which uses the term “reasonably eliminate,” is another way of stating the ALARA standard, and we recognize that that’s, again, part of the ALARA standard.  The ALARA standard is also in California regulation at 30253.  That’s where that regulation incorporates by reference the federal regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that in CCR as well, Title 17?


MS. YONEMURA:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s Section 30253 as well as 30256(k), CCR Title 17.


MS. YONEMURA:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Again, reiterate the ALARA standard.


MS. YONEMURA:  As I pull it out, the citation that Mr. Hirsch has brought to your attention does not use the same language that the citation in 30253 uses, but we interpret that as to having the same meaning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When reasonably achievable factors in, whether we like it or not, and impacts to the industry our capacity to implement or enforce standards, it requires you, just as CEQA does, to look at alternatives.  So please walk me through this just as a basic explanation of why that standard.  


SENATOR ROMERO:  Madam Chair?  As well too, as you walk us through this, if you can also differentiate between the NRC standard for cleanup versus disposal.  They are two different issues.  Cleanup and disposal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  NRC or DHS?


SENATOR ROMERO:  Both.  What we would be relying on, because they are different, and I think that’s very important for us to understand as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.


MS. YONEMURA:  I will defer to Dr. Reilly to talk about cleanup versus disposal because I’m not familiar with that.  We have in the work that we have been doing a regulation regarding disposal.  But as to the two standards or the two versions of the ALARA standard that were referenced, the one in Title 10, CCR, Section 30256(k), says, in part, that “licensees shall be terminated by written notice when” – and I’m skipping a lot of language, but the key language is “reasonable effort has been made to eliminate residual radioactive contamination.”  The key word is “reasonable.”  The ALARA standard speaks to “as low as reasonably achievable.”  So, there is the parallel responsibility to get the contamination as low as possible under “reasonable.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please tell me what Mr. Hirsch is referencing in one of those two – I forget which of those regs – a standard of 1 millirem?  Is that correct?


MR. HIRSCH:  Again, that’s not in the reg.  That’s what the Department says it has used informally to grant waivers to the ban on radioactive waste being disposed of in unlicensed sites.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That was the standard they used in order to—


MR. HIRSCH:  Grant waivers against the absolute ban on it going to unlicensed sites.


MS. YONEMURA:  Dr. Reilly can explain it.  I think he said something regarding it earlier, but I want to make certain that I did not misspeak or misunderstand when I was saying that the two standards in the regulations that I just spoke about require reasonable effort.  As low as reasonably possible, not elimination without any qualifier.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are these decommissioning or disposal?  What are these regs?  Are they affecting disposal or termination of license or decommissioning?


MS. YONEMURA:  Decommissioning and termination of license.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Go ahead.  Thank you.


DR. REILLY:  Senator, Kevin Reilly with the Department of Health Services.


Maybe I should start with that ALARA citation.  ALARA applies to all actions on the part of a radioactive materials licensee.  Their day-to-day functions and practices must be within this concept of minimizing radioactive dose to everybody, employees as well as general public, to “as low as reasonably achievable” with some standards maximums in place.  So, not only does that apply to decommissioning, it also applies to day-to-day functions.  This is where the 100 millirem standard comes in.  ALARA applies to that as well.  


One of the current licensees that may have spoken to you earlier, they are required to practice day-to-day “as low as reasonably achievable” standards to minimize exposure to employees as well as to the basic public and to have maximum amounts of radiation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is the maximum though?


DR. REILLY:  One hundred millirems per year for an operational facility.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you’re saying ALARA allows up to 100.


DR. REILLY:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you disagree with that interpretation?


MR. HIRSCH:  If you would permit me to read the decision of the court – it’s just a few sentences.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not the court.  I want the interpretation that he raises.


MR. HIRSCH:  He is absolutely incorrect.  As he said, it applies to licensees.  Decommissioning is someone who no longer has a license.  That’s license termination.  The same thing is true on the mixing up of ALARA, which says you should take reasonable efforts to get it as low as you can and the regulation on termination which says you should take reasonable efforts to eliminate.  Those are not identical.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I want you to explain that.  


DR. REILLY:  The issue is that ALARA applies to licensees and everything they do.  As they are decommissioning, as they are preparing to terminate their license, they are held to the ALARA.  So, when they reach the 25 millirem with the “as low as reasonably achievable,” ALARA applies to decommissioning of a licensee.


MR. HIRSCH:  The court rejected that and said it was false.


DR. REILLY:  The court did not reject that.  The court rejected the issue of how the process worked with adopting the regulations.


MR. HIRSCH:  May I read them?  It’s just those sentences.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you reading from the judgment or dicta?


MR. HIRSCH:  I’m reading from the ruling, page 2; the argument she’s here referring to by the Department of Health Services, that “the subject regulation” – the 25 millirem – “imposes a more stringent standard than what presently exists is not persuasive.  There is no standard in effect at present for decommissioning of a licensed radioactive site.  The 100 millirem standard is for sites in operation and not decommissioned sites.  Moreover, in practice, decommissioned sites have been required to meet a more stringent standard than 100 millirem and a more stringent standard than the 25 millirem in the subject regulation.  Nor does the ALARA language in the subject regulation transform the subject regulation to a more stringent standard than what has been applied in the past.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask counsel for the Department to respond?


MS. YONEMURA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


This last statement – “Nor does the ALARA language in the subject regulation transform the subject regulation to a more stringent standard than what has been applied in the past” – does not mean that the ALARA standard doesn’t exist.  It does not mean that it doesn’t apply.  I’m not certain exactly what the court meant by that statement, but she did not say that the ALARA standard—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Hirsch, are you an attorney?


MR. HIRSCH:  No.  But the attorney who argued the case is here, if you’d like to ask him.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Maybe we should have him come up.


Would you like to continue?  I interrupted you on that one point.  Are there other key parts of the decision that you want to highlight that may confuse us further?


MS. YONEMURA:  There are none that should confuse you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They all do, I assure you.  Well, we’re going to hear from the attorney that argued the case before the Superior Court.


Would you like to go to the core of this debate about the regs and the various interpretations and the court’s decision?  Obviously, with an advocacy position.


MR. LAURENS SILVER:  Well, I think what Mr. Hirsch read was the critical portion.  I didn’t really hear counsel for Health Services disagreeing with anything substantive.  The court’s decision was in the context, of course, of CEQA and whether or not this regulation amendment, as proposed and finalized, constituted an improvement, as they contended, with regard to environmental protection.  The court clearly rejected that notion.  It said unambiguously that this was basically a relapse in standards, it was not an improvement, and in doing so, the court stated categorically that there is no standard in effect at present for decommissioning of a licensed radioactive site.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But that contradicts Mr. Hirsch’s position.


MR. SILVER:  Well, I think the court there meant a quantitative standard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But he is presenting a quantitative standard in this committee.


MR. HIRSCH:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. SILVER:  The court clearly did reject the notion that the 100 millirem standard is a standard which is properly applied in connection with decommissioning of sites.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is consistent with the Department’s position?  Beyond.  You say licensed as well as decommissioned.


DR. REILLY:  The ALARA standard is applied.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The 100 millirem standard.  This is ALARA up to 100.


DR. REILLY:  Prior to the time that the federal regulation went into place, absent a very specific citation for decommissioning, the 100 was used.  Following 1998, when it went into effect at the federal level, 25 was used, absent a state-specific standard.  Nineteen ninety-eight was the first time there was a specific decommissioning standard in federal law.


MS. YONEMURA:  Madam Chair, ALARA is a separate standard.  They’re not in the same (Side 8) regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.


MR. HIRSCH:  To me, the central question, though, remains:  Did I hear correctly that the regulation, which has now been struck down, which said ALARA plus a cap of 25, that even with the regulation struck down, DHS intends to be releasing sites now at 25 plus ALARA?  Even with that regulation struck down and a requirement from the court that you not adopt any new standard without completion of an EIR.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think they’re trying to provide the committee with assurance that they’re going to seek something less than 25 is what I heard, but I don’t know what that means for the remaining facilities, whether there will be a moratorium or otherwise.


MR. HIRSCH:  If I could beg the indulgence of the Chair to see if we can get this cleared up because, otherwise, we’re going to all be back in court, which I don’t think moves this forward.  We want to get a standard into place.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But there’s an order, though, to go back and do CEQA.


MR. HIRSCH:  Well, that’s my question.  If the court struck down the 25 millirem plus ALARA and said any new standard must comply with CEQA – must do an EIR – what is it that they’re going to do in the interim?  I heard them say they’re going to still use the 25 millirem and ALARA without the completion of the EIR in the interim.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’d like the Department, if they can respond, to do so, but I don’t want to deviate too far from the topic here.


MR. HIRSCH:  I’d just like clarification, if it’s possible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me give them a moment, and let’s see if counsel will allow the Director to say anything regarding that point.


MS. YONEMURA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I’d like to respond.


In the first place, the court did not strike down 25 plus ALARA.  The court struck down 25 as a result of the process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Procedural.


MS. YONEMURA:  Right.


What you should have heard the Director say was that she has been advised that the current state of the law is in California that ALARA remains and that the Department will decommission based upon ALARA.  Given the fact that we are an agreement state, given the fact that, as an agreement state, we are obligated to comply with the federal regulations on this topic, the Department will not release licensees using ALARA if that would take them above 25.  So, the Department is not promulgating a regulation without using CEQA, and the Department is not issuing a standard.  The Department is only going to follow existing law, as the Department has been advised, that currently stands.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, that ceiling, rather than a floor, would be 25.


MS. YONEMURA:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whereas, Mr. Hirsch’s position is, when the court    ruled – and I’m going to go back to this point – they didn’t rule on the merits of the standard.  They ruled on the failure to comply with CEQA.  So, let’s not say the court said 25 is too high.  This is a procedural determination to go back and follow CEQA, whatever that standard may be.  Courts rarely say, “This shall be the standard.”  That’s the function of a legislature.  But they violated a procedural noncompliance with CEQA.  That’s it.  It’s my understanding of the decision.


MS. YONEMURA:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But you continue to say the court clearly said 25 was too much.


MR. HIRSCH:  I don’t believe I said that at all.  I agree with you.  They made no determination of what the number should be.  That’s a matter for the Administration.  They made a legal determination that the procedure had not been followed and struck down the regulation on that basis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.


MR. HIRSCH:  But whatever the basis is, the regulation has been struck down.  It does not exist anymore.  And we’ve just been informed that the agency will continue to act as though that regulation were still in effect, using exactly the same numbers.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, they said they were going to follow the federal standard, which they have to by condition of federal agreement.


SENATOR ROMERO:  But Madam Chair, again, we’ve stipulated we’ve heard over and over that California, as does any agreement state, has our full right to say we can go as strong in whatever standard we choose.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  That requires legislation, that requires CEQA, that requires—


SENATOR ROMERO:  No, it requires a regulation.  An emergency regulation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You still need a process, Senator.  You can’t just say, “Okay, I like this standard; therefore, do it because the feds allow us to do it.”  You need a process, whether it’s emergency regs, whether it’s the administrative law practice under nonemergency regs, or whether it’s your bill in statute.  You can’t say, “The feds said we could do more, then you have to do my standard.”  The bill’s not signed.  So yes, you’re right, California has to make the policy decision.  What do we do as a legislature?  You’ve got a bill.  Senator Kuehl has a bill or two.  The Department knows that they have emergency regs.  I suspect that if they undergo that emergency reg process or the traditional long-term, very burdensome public regulatory process, they’re still going to need some direction from the Administration, and all of these planets will align themselves.  But to say, “Well, we’ve had the right to do this now,” ignores the very decision that was struck down by the court that says you have to have a public process.


MR. HIRSCH:  And I’m agreeing with you, but what disturbs me is that they, without a public process, say for some indefinite period into the future they are, in fact, going to use the 25.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think the court’s been very clear:  Go through CEQA.  I think your pressure is going to get them to do something.


MR. HIRSCH:  I was disappointed.  As I’m sure you’re aware, there have been significant deliberations with the Administration over the last few weeks to come to you at this hearing and announce they have now a clear idea of the policy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect there’s been a little pressure not just with the Department, so let’s be very clear about the politics.  I think, again, all the planets have got to align themselves, and the pressure points that you have been inserting are good ones.


MR. HIRSCH:  All I’m saying is I’m concerned that they are now stepping over the same procedural violation.  


Let me get off that point because I think we’ve covered that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If the court is monitoring this decision, what is the compliance through the—


MR. ___________:  There had to be a return to the writ, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So we have a written order already.


MR. ___________:  Yes, by the first week in July, I think.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’ve got a mechanism to protect the wanton dumping of whatever, or the decommissioning.  I think we’ve got safeguards in place.  It’s all coming together.  I don’t want to represent some abdication of a bright line in the court, because I think that’s a bit of an overstatement.


MR. HIRSCH:  I understand.  May I ask one last clarification question?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sure.


MR. HIRSCH:  Your position of continuing to use this 25 millirem standard in the interim for cleanup, does that extend also to permitting shipments of radioactive waste to—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know what you want to do.  You can use another forum to file your declaration of an order to show cause.


MR. HIRSCH:  I just think it’s helpful for the committee as well to have that clarified.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Senator Ortiz, I do think it’s an important question.  In fact, I was on the verge of asking, does this also pertain to disposal?  Remember, that was my first interest because it’s people who are living next door to the landfills.  So, I think the question is legitimate for this committee to raise and to at least get a preliminary idea as to what is the thinking on that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let’s quickly answer that.  I’ve ignored the fact that there are three other speakers, and maybe Mr. Magavern from Sierra Club will want to weigh in on some of these points as well, if we get him up at the table.


Please respond, if you can.


MS. YONEMURA:  Point of clarification first of all, because I think we may be starting from an incorrect premise.


First of all, the Department has not stated that it’s going to use the 25 millirem standard.  The Department is stating that we believe that the existing state of the law is that the ALARA standard remains, and that’s the standard we intend to use.  We believe also that the existing state of the law is that we have an obligation to comply with the NRC standard.  Therefore, because it is theoretically possible that ALARA could take us above 25, we will make certain that we comply with the federal standard by seeing that that does not occur.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did the court rule to say that the NRC standard was not appropriate?


MS. YONEMURA:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  By using the ALARA standard, is it conceivable that in some instances it actually may be 1?  It’s a case-by-case basis, right?


MS. YONEMURA:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, I don’t know if we can, at this point, going through the regulatory process, adopt a bright line cutoff based on the direction of the court to go back and do a public process that goes through CEQA.  I don’t know that ALARA presumes it’ll be 25 or more.


MS. YONEMURA:  No, ALARA doesn’t presume that.


There’s something else that I need to state for clarification for the committee, and that is that even if the Department were to immediately work on an emergency reg, as I understand the ruling, that would require the CEQA process also.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is, like, six months minimum?


MS. YONEMURA:  Much longer, as we understand it.  We could not issue an emergency reg without going through the same process.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s hope it happens before 2006.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Senator, can I still get the answer on disposal?  I didn’t hear an answer to the question on disposal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Reilly will answer.


DR. REILLY:  The standard that counsel just talked about was a decommissioning standard.  Absent the specific 25 millirem and ALARA standard in ALARA right now, the ALARA remains.  We won’t be in violation of federal law.  This does not address disposal.


SENATOR ROMERO:  So, what does address disposal?  I thought ________ was back to square one because there are two very important legs to it:  decommissioning and then disposal.  I want to go back to it to ask what does it mean with respect to disposal?  We haven’t heard an answer yet.


DR. REILLY:  Independent existing law talks about low-level radioactive waste and means of disposal.  It also defines low-level radioactive waste; independent law that we haven’t talked about up to this point.


SENATOR ROMERO:  So, in terms of that independent law, can you clarify for me today what is DHS saying can be dumped at my neighborhood garbage dump?


DR. REILLY:  Low-level radioactive waste cannot be dumped at a garbage dump, unless there’s an alternative method of disposal that we talked about.  I know this starts to get complicated, but that is one exception.  Low-level radioactive waste must be dealt with in one of a couple of ways:  a low-level disposal site; in some circumstances, released to the air or water.  Those are specified within regulation about standards for disposal of low-level radioactive waste.


SENATOR ROMERO:  So, I cannot dump 10 millirem of radioactive waste at my local municipal waste facility from a decommissioned site?


DR. REILLY:  Radioactive waste is defined in federal and state law.  It must be dealt with in one of those fashions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that a yes or a no?  I’m not the expert.  Again, I’m going to ask you to walk us through this.  I’m really trying just to get an answer.  We did clarify these are two different issues.  I’m very intrigued now with the issue of disposal because this is where I believe the general public health becomes an issue.  I don’t want to belabor it.  I’m really just trying to get a yes or a no.  With respect to what happens now and what you are looking at, with respect to disposal, what becomes the ceiling, if any, for disposal?  Can you give me a number?  Is it 100?  It is 500?  Is it 10?


DR. REILLY:  If it is low-level radioactive waste, it must be disposed of in one of those four or five ways in the law.  If you want to talk about decommissioned sites, if decommissioned sites are released for unrestricted use, there are no restraints or controls on a decommissioned site.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I want you to repeat that for the record, because this is, like, bingo for me.  Please repeat that for the record.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  He stated it for the record now.


SENATOR ROMERO:  I’m going to ask for clarification because I’m not sure I heard it exactly.  I think I heard it, but I want to be absolutely certain that I heard it.


DR. REILLY:  When a site is decommissioned, when a license is terminated, those licenses are typically terminated for unrestricted use, the same way that a hazardous materials site, once a cleanup is done, is released for unrestricted use.  There are no more restrictions on that site following the cleanup that takes it to a level of risk as insignificant for the public health concerns.


SENATOR ROMERO:  This is a complete deregulation.  It’s unrestricted use, which means it could be sold to recyclers and end up in belt buckles and children’s braces, and there is no ceiling as to what millirem level potentially can be out there.  It’s unrestricted.


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator, I think we’re covering grounds that I did cover in my testimony, which is to say that we need to deal with the issues of disposal.  But we are not faced with a new set of regulations that we’re now applying to this difficult area.  


I understand your concerns about decommissioned sites and where the material goes, and that was part of, I think, three hours now plus of discussion in terms of what do we do with this material?  And as we are looking at this, the vast majority of decommissioned sites will be, at an absolute minimum, zero or in very low numbers.  The practice has been that the ALARA allows for that material to go to sites that are not considered low-level radioactive waste sites because the material presents itself in such a fashion that does not create a problem to the public’s health.  I think it’s debatable, as we’ve gone in the last three-and-a-half hours, as to does everyone believe that?  Some do not.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask Senator Romero’s question another way.  The Department reviews up to disposal decommissioning.  Does decommissioning precede disposal determination?


DR. REILLY:  The term “disposal” would be applied to radioactive waste as it relates to either operation or even during cleanup, and I’ll give you an example.


You’ve heard about the E-Tech facility, for instance.  Not under DHS regulation but under Department of Energy.  There was a large amount of material removed from that as part of the cleanup to reach an ALARA standard.  That material was waste.  It went out of state to a low-level radioactive waste disposal site.  Once you clean up thoroughly to a level of ALARA—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you decommission.


DR. REILLY:  And you decommission.  The conclusion is that site no longer poses a significant risk to the public health.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Romero’s concern is if it’s 25 or more—


DR. REILLY:  It won’t be 25 or more because there is that standard for decommissioning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because in making a determination about decommissioning that it’s either, whatever the standard may still say, so then it’s unconditioned disposal?


DR. REILLY:  It’s a matter of this site, having been cleared at an ALARA standard, has some residual radiation perhaps.  Maybe none at all, but it may have some residual radiation.  That residual radiation does not pose a significant risk.  So, just as we clean up a toxic waste site or a HAZMAT facility or anything to a point where there’s no longer a significant health risk, the regulation of that facility discontinues.  There are no deed restrictions currently or any other restrictions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s hear from Mr. Hirsch.


MR. HIRSCH:  You’ve got them to the crux of the issue.  The site that he mentioned called E-Tech is that Santa Susana facility in Southern California.  They had about a dozen reactors.  One of them had a meltdown in ’59.  What is being said to you is that they will clean it up to 25 millirem.  As of a few years ago, they only cleaned it up to 100, and as of a few years ago before that, only to 500, which is, by the way, 7,000 additional chest X-rays, or a 1 in 60 _______ cancer incidence by all agency estimates.  So, they say if it’s below any of those standards, the remaining material can go to the Bradley Municipal Landfill in the North San Fernando Valley, where 4,000 tons of debris did go without the waste operator being informed.  You can send contaminated metals to the Hugo Neu-Proler, another recycling center in San Pedro – which they did – where it was melted down for consumer products.  You can go to the Santa Clara Ranch in Ventura County, and they even argue that you can take buildings that still have that contamination that are portables and give them to a school district, which also happened, but fortunately, when they checked them, those weren’t hot.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, once decommissioning occurs—


MR. HIRSCH:  To whatever standard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now it’s 25 or less.  Has there ever been a regulation by the Department on disposal?


MR. HIRSCH:  Yes.  The regulation in the statutes bar anything that is radioactive from being disposed of in landfills, but they’ve been abrogating that, we discovered, now recently, and that appears to be the problem.  I had thought that after the lawsuit, this was going to stop.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask from counsel whether that’s a correct characterization of the Department’s actions?


MS. YONEMURA:  I can’t speak to the actions.


DR. REILLY:  By decommissioning a facility for unrestricted use per the law, that location no longer poses a risk and no longer is under Department of Health Services’ regulation for radiologic health issues.  It no longer is under the law in terms of it does not represent—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, once decommissioning occurs, have you ever had jurisdiction to monitor where that decommissioned material goes to?  Ever.


DR. REILLY:  That’s not part of the law.  With unconditional release decommissioning, it is a release of oversight, similar to what is done with many other oversights.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has the Department ever had jurisdiction?  Because it’s been represented that they’ve abdicated that responsibility.  I want to hear from Dr. Reilly or counsel.


DR. REILLY:  The regulation talks about releasing for unrestricted use.  There are other means of releasing facilities.  An example:  If you are above 25 millirems, there can be release with institutional restrictions—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Under whatever the standard is, what do you do afterwards?  You don’t track.  I think that’s the concern.  It goes to the inventory question.  It goes to the cumulative impact or effects question.  I don’t want to beat up the Department if, in fact, they’ve never had jurisdiction.  We’re told they have jurisdiction.  I want to know who, in fact, has ever had jurisdiction on this.


Let me hear from counsel.


MS. YONEMURA:  Madam Chair, I was just going to say – and perhaps it’s restating what Dr. Reilly has said – but once we have determined that a licensee has cleaned up appropriately, we release them from our jurisdiction.  We no longer have them under our jurisdiction.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is there a statute that says you should do that?


MS. YONEMURA:  I’m not aware of one.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s what’s called unconditional release?


MS. YONEMURA:  Right.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And again, that’s at the site.  I still want to go back to what happens to that material disposal?  That’s still the element that I’m not hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s what they’re saying:  They don’t have jurisdiction to direct disposal, or they don’t know.  


Let me hear the statute, and then let me hear Mr. Hirsch.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Let’s hear the statute again, but also going back to it that California has every right to set our own standard.  That, to me, is what is so mind-boggling.  Even after three hours, I think we’re still arguing about that in a sense.  Congress gave us the express authority.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And we are the legislative body that does that action, not the Department.  There’s the Executive branch and the Legislative branch.  Then there’s a Judicial branch, which is controlling all of our actions here.


SENATOR ROMERO:  And there hadn’t necessarily been an issue until all of this began to surface when DHS issued its new regs.  That’s when it came to surface.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ve got a bill, and you’re going to exercise our right as a legislature to do what Congress has allowed us to do.


Let me hear the statute.


​​​​​​​​​MR. HIRSCH:  The statute says as follows:  “Any person who knowingly disposes or causes the disposal of any radioactive material regulated by this chapter, or who reasonably should have known that the person was disposing or causing the disposal of the material, at a facility within the state that does not have a license for disposal issued by the department pursuant to this chapter, or at any point in the state that is not authorized according to this chapter, or by any other local, state, or federal agency having authority over radioactive materials, and is in violation of this chapter, or any regulation or order adopted [pursuant to this chapter], is guilty of a public offense, and upon conviction, may be punished as follows:”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is the Department the one that causes the disposal?


MR. HIRSCH:  Well, frankly, I think they are in some jeopardy here because if they have approved these shipments to Bradley and to Hugo Neu-Proler and the rest—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How often has this statute in law ever been used on the Department of Health Services?


MR. HIRSCH:  I was actually citing it as the people who do the shipment, then they should have been enforcing that law.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who has the enforcement authority here?


MR. HIRSCH:  DHS.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Reilly, you are the one that’s supposed to enforce this “knowingly disposes or causes disposal of”?


DR. REILLY:  As Mr. Hirsch mentioned, regulated by this chapter, decommissioned material, decommissioned sites, are no longer regulated by this chapter.  This is the termination of a license.  The same way that termination of oversight occurs in Cal/EPA.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, this isn’t disposal?


DR. REILLY:  It’s no longer regulated.  Decommissioning is no longer regulated under the chapter.  That’s the termination of the license.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, this doesn’t apply.  It’s superceded by which provision?


SENATOR ROMERO:  But we have the choice at what point we say we no longer have responsibility.


DR. REILLY:  Current law says that once you terminate oversight, you no longer have regulatory responsibility.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Going back to that “yes or no,” we have the choice at which point we say, “We don’t have authority, we walk away, you’re on your own, people of California.”


DR. REILLY:  The Legislature has a choice if the law were to be changed.  The current law does not provide—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’ve heard that this is not controlling; that it’s superceded.  Tell me if this is superceded.  Has it ever been the Department’s authority to enforce disposal – and I think legal counsel is important from the Department – and then, if it was, was it superceded by a reg?  


MS. YONEMURA:  Madam Chair, the Department has the responsibility to oversee disposal of its licensees.  Once the Department has decommissioned and released a licensee, it is determined that the material has been decontaminated and is therefore no longer a risk.  Therefore, that would not apply.  It’s not that that has been superceded.  It’s just that after certain actions have been taken, that provision no longer applies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask Mr. Gordon.  You were with Integrated Waste Management Board before you joined the Senator’s staff?


MR. _________ GORDON:  DTSC.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whether it’s the Department of Health Services or any integrated waste, has DTSC ever used this provision to halt or prosecute persons who dispose of radioactive waste after they’ve been decommissioned?


MR. GORDON:  Senator, I’m very uncomfortable speaking for the Department at this point in time.  As far as I know, the department has no regulatory authority over radioactive waste.  That statute applies solely to DHS.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has DHS ever been challenged or sued?  I’d like to know when this has been used or somebody forced to have them try to use it.  


So, no one’s ever used this.


MR. HIRSCH:  No, that’s not correct.


MR. GORDON:  The interpretation seems to be that if they terminated the license the day before to the day after they ship the stuff, that now, once it’s been shipped, they have no regulatory authority over it, and they can send it wherever they please.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The Department doesn’t transport it.


MR. GORDON:  They’ve given it to somebody.  They then terminate the license.  Now the stuff is all … (cross talking).


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the transporter theoretically is the person.  But you don’t know of anyone ever having used this section to halt the disposal.


MR. GORDON:  DTSC does not _______________.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has anyone ever used it?  Like the Attorney General on behalf of the people.


I’ll hear from the attorney that represented the Committee to Bridge the Gap.


MR. SILVER:  Madam Chair, I wanted to call the attention of the Chair and the committee to one section which I think is critical.  At least with regard to the issue of jurisdiction.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But could you speak to this section that has been waved around by Mr. Hirsch and others as abdicating authority?


MR. SILVER:  I think Mr. Hirsch wants to address that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re the attorney.  I want to hear from you.  We brought you up for the good points and the bad points.  Address 115215 and tell me, in your opinion, whether the Department has abdicated their authority on disposal, post-decommissioning.


MR. SILVER:  Well, I have here a letter which I have not read, but which Mr. Hirsch gave me, dated July 1, 1999.  A letter from Director Bontá to the Army Corps of Engineers, in which it did apparently issue a warning and basically said that “Any radioactive material, including naturally occurring radioactive materials, in concentrations exceeding concentrations found in nature, are subject to regulation and licensing as radioactive materials in California.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Regulation and licensing, meaning decommissioning and commissioning of licenses, and regulations of the _________.


MR. SILVER:  And there’s another sentence:  “Disposal of radioactive materials must be either at a site that is licensed by the Department to dispose of radioactive waste or at a site otherwise approved by this Department, unless such disposal is at a site under exclusive federal jurisdiction.”


DR. BONTÁ:  Senator Ortiz?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please respond.


DR. BONTÁ:  That letter, as I recall, was signed by me, sent to the referenced person, in regards to a specific issue that occurred in California in disposal of Manhattan Project waste materials.  It had nothing to do with the decommissioning of a site specific in California.  Our concerns were about authority to place this waste in California.  It’s a different issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Does counsel for the Department want to further address the point or not on point of this provision being applicable?  Why is Manhattan different than the example that was cited?


MS. YONEMURA:  It wasn’t being decommissioned.  It was waste that was being brought into California versus, as the Director said, decommissioning of a licensee.


I want, for the record, to make it clear that I did not state that once a licensee has disposed of waste, should they the next day or the next month be decommissioned, that we have abdicated their jurisdiction as to what they did while they were licensees.  I was speaking to disposal after they have been released.  Disposal that takes place after they have been released.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Did you want to—?


MR. SILVER:  Yes, I’d like to make one comment, Madam Chair, and that is that Health and Safety Code 114705, which is the prefatory section, and I think the critical section in connection with the radioactive waste provisions of the law—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  114705?


MR. SILVER:  Yes, first section.  It says (Side 9) “The Legislature finds and declares that radioactive contamination of the environment may subject the people of the State of California to unnecessary exposure to ionizing radiation unless it is properly controlled.  It is therefore declared to be the policy of this state that the department initiate and administer necessary programs of surveillance and control of those activities that could lead to the introduction of radioactive materials into the environment.”  


Clearly, disposal in connection with decontamination, I think, would constitute “the introduction of radioactive materials into the environment.”  I see no question here but that the Department, and the Legislature intended it, have jurisdiction with regard to disposal.  It obviously has chosen, for whatever reasons, not to exercise it.


But my only point is that I think the Legislature – and the Legislature may need now to refine that – has made it clear that this is an agency that properly must exert control of those activities, including this kind of activity:  the transport of those materials off decommissioned sites, “that could lead to the introduction of radioactive materials” – and radioactive materials is defined also in 114710 – “into the environment.”


So, I think it would be, certainly, a strange reading of this to say that the materials that have been transported off a decontaminated site are not radioactive materials.  They are radioactive materials.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have another interpretation.  That’s a statute that’s findings and declarations.


MR. SILVER:  I understand.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s not on point.  It doesn’t speak to disposal.  It doesn’t speak directly on point post-decommissioning disposal responsibility.


MR. SILVER:  And I think the Legislature may then express a need for legislative clarification.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I agree with you there.


MR. SILVER:  But I think that the intent was there possibly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s a flimsy place to hang the hat on this piece.  It clearly says what the Senators are trying to do, which is let’s push California more on point; whatever that ultimate cutoff may be, let’s exercise that authority.  Some of us have been here since ’98 and ’99, and we’ve had the ability to introduce a piece of legislation, and I think the Senators have been doing that the last couple of years.  You can’t say that because we have the authority, then “Therefore, Department, you shall do this until we get a bill passed.”  That’s the function of the Legislature, and I think the Senators are attempting to do that.


That provision is a broad findings and declarations general intent.  I don’t think it’s on point about disposal post-decommissioning, but it drives home the point that I think the Senators are making.


Okay, we do have other speakers.  Robert Lull and Craig Barney.  Bill Magavern, maybe you can reiterate some of the points on behalf of the Sierra Club.  And Mr. Pasternak.


Mr. Barney?


MR. CRAIG BARNEY:  I didn’t realize this debate would go on quite this long.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I apologize.


MR. BARNEY:  I have some child care issues at home, so I’ll be quick, if I could.


My name is Craig Barney.  I manage the environmental programs for Stanford University, including two programs that have been discussed today:  the Radioactive Waste Management Program and the Chemical Waste Management Program.  I also get involved in mixed waste, so I’m very familiar with managing all these types of wastes.


I would like to correct a couple of things just for the record.  Mixed waste does come from biomedical research.  The earlier statement was it was from weapons research.  There is a wide variety of mixed waste that comes from biochemical and medical research as well.


Also, in the case of DTSC, once DTSC has determined that something is not regulated, they do not track its disposal as well.  So, that’s important to keep in mind.  They have regulations that allow materials containing measurable amounts of chemicals to be disposed of as nonhazardous.  Those are not tracked.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think I’d like to introduce that bill to require DTSC to track what they’ve gotten rid of, because I know I’ve got a couple of sites in my old council district I’d like to get cleaned up.  Union Pacific sites.  Which, by the way, they’ve abdicated their authority to do what my statute and the Legislature required them to do.  A minor point.


Go ahead.


MR. BARNEY:  That point is, if the material is not regulated, it’s not hazardous; therefore, it’s not tracked.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Therein lies this challenge between decommissioning and disposal.


MR. BARNEY:  Correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you think that there is some risk, though, cumulatively, if you decommission 3 millirem here and 4 there and cumulatively it goes to a landfill and it’s 100 or 200?


MR. BARNEY:  I’m not an expert on that, and I didn’t come to speak about the science there.  There’s been, certainly, plenty of discussion.


I really wanted to keep my comments to some of the practical impacts that the proposed legislation would have on managing radioactive waste at a facility like Stanford.


When you define anything above background as a radioactive material, you have a real innate problem, that we’ve already discussed, and that is that background ranges from place to place.  It may vary over time with the same sample.  You may count a sample today, and it may be at background.  You may count it tomorrow, and it may be above background.  This has to do with matrix effects in the sample.  It has to do with the statistical measurement techniques.  It has to do with a wide variety of issues with respect to counting radioactivity.  And as we all know, the background levels do range from 100 millirem to up to 1,000 millirem per year.  So, when you say “background,” that is not one number; that is a variable number.


The second thing in the legislation that is important is we’re supposed to be measuring this background by the best available technology.  This is an implementation problem that is very severe for an operation like ours because there are a variety of measurement techniques that could be employed for any one waste.  They range from using a survey meter to using a scintillation counter.  It ranges from counting for ten minutes to counting for several hours.  It ranges from grinding up a sample.  There are a variety of measurement methods that can be done.  So, when you say “best available technology,” the problem with that, for me, as an operator and a manager of waste, is I have no guidance what that means.  In order not to be second-guessed, and in order not to get into an enforcement problem, I may be forced to go to the most conservative, time-consuming, expensive measurement technique.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s the best available control technology standard.


MR. BARNEY:  Which is not defined in the legislation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That might be helpful to find what that is.


MR. BARNEY:  When you combine these two things – I do have a couple of practical examples that could occur, that I don’t know if they’re intended or not, but they certainly could occur.  A patient may be leaving the hospital who received an iodine dose.  That patient may throw a Band-Aid in the trashcan on their way out of the hospital.  That Band-Aid would certainly have activity measurable above background.  If you use a scintillation counter, ground the Band-Aid up, counted it for three days, you would certainly measure radiation above background in that Band-Aid.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Even things like persons who have radioisotopes inserted, go home, urinate?


MR. BARNEY:  I was going to bring up those same examples, but those certainly would be a problem as well.  And if you were to try to survey these wastes, you could not use a handheld survey instrument because that would not be best available technology.  So, you’d have to use some very complicated survey technique.  For us trying to comply with this, you can see that this would leave us open to all range of noncompliance issues.


I was going to bring up one other item:  If background is not appropriate, what is appropriate is some measurement of dose, but that’s obviously the topic of this discussion.


Finally, in both pieces of legislation there is this notion that the burden of proof is on the person who generated the waste.  Since we now have an impossible standard to meet, and we now have an impossible measurement technique to demonstrate that we met it, we’re exposing ourselves unnecessarily.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wait.  Burden of proof would be on the disposer or the generator?


MR. BARNEY:  On the generator.  That’s the way both legislation are written.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Which bill are you referring to?


MR. BARNEY:  1444 and 1623, I believe.


I won’t get into property transfers.  There’s been enough discussion of that.


Finally, I guess what I’d like to say is we believe that the existing material release regulations that are in place are based on the potential for harm to exposure to the property, the equipment, or the waste, and not only the amount of activity that’s present.  They’re based on the exposure, not just the activity.  That’s a product of many factors, the things like the radioisotopes involved.  One radioisotope may give a greater dose than another radioisotope.  However, when it comes to background, that’s not considered.  Background is background.  It doesn’t matter which isotope it is.  The pathways that those materials could come in contact with people, that’s considered in dose.  That is not considered when you talk about background only.  And also, the maximum feasible exposure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I think, Senator, you were out of the room when Mr. Barney came in.  He has, actually, childcare issues, I suspect back in Stanford, and the traffic, I know, is horrendous.  


SENATOR ROMERO:  I won’t ask any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a quick question.  I know this is probably not your area, but if there was a way to measure the variability among the types of medical potential sources of low-level radiation if there’s a way to accurately measure the variation and design a standard that would reflect that variation and still keep in mind public health in a post-disposal situation, it seems like that might be a solution theoretically/hypothetically.  I don’t know if it’s achievable scientifically, but there might be a way to work through some of those issues, I would hope, if we get to that place.


MR. BARNEY:  I’m certain that the technical experts could work that out.


I guess what I’m concerned about is the way it’s written, I don’t see that I have any option but to scan every single Band-Aid, every single piece of dirt that ever left my facility to make sure that I’m in compliance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  Thank you so much.


Who’s the next speaker?  Mr. Magavern, would you like to weigh in?


MR. BILL MAGAVERN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My name is Bill Magavern.  I’m with the Sierra Club, and you were right earlier.  I am local.  I live in the Southside Park neighborhood in Downtown Sacramento.


Our concern is for the health of Californians who are exposed to radioactive waste that are being deregulated by the Department.  I was shocked to find out last year that the Department was allowing radioactive waste to go to municipal landfills and to metal recyclers, to a ranch.  I am again shocked today to find out that that’s still their policy.


What this means is that, for example, when Rancho Seco is decommissioned, they could send waste from that site, radioactive waste, to the Kiefer Landfill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If it meets the decommissioning standards, the question is whether or not they have the jurisdiction to prohibit transport.  That’s the issue.


MR. MAGAVERN:  And they do.  The Department of Health Services has broad jurisdiction over radioactive materials in the State of California.  They asserted that jurisdiction a few years ago when waste was coming in from a decommissioned site in New York.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But they didn’t have jurisdiction of the decommission of that particular site.  Only transport in.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Correct.  But they were asserting that jurisdiction over the disposal of that waste in California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because they had not predecommissioning jurisdiction to determine that it was safe.  There’s a little bit of a distinction.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Not in the law there isn’t.  They have the authority.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Nobody has cited me the authority to say post-decommissioning that they shall exert jurisdiction over disposal levels.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Well, Mr. Silver did actually.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, it was in findings and declarations.  It was intent that they could, but he also acknowledged that gives them the authority to go in and develop the standards that I think my colleagues are attempting to do.  That is a broad intent.  


MR. MAGAVERN:  I don’t believe that ever before has the Department asserted that it doesn’t have authority over radioactive waste in California.  The Department can direct that the radioactive waste go to a licensed site, and that was, in fact, the policy under Governor Deukmejian and under Governor Wilson.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I believe that.


MR. MAGAVERN:  We’re just asking to go back to that.  Let’s say if it’s radioactive waste, let’s send it to a facility that is permitted to receive radioactive waste.


So, the policy question, I think, is do we want radioactive waste in our local landfills, in our consumer metals like braces, baby carriages, belt buckles, farms, ranches, schools, or do we want it going to permitted facilities?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect that the producers of braces have some mechanism of determining whether those are going to be radiated braces.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Actually, when the metal goes to the metal recycler, the metal recycler is not even informed that there’s radioactive waste in that metal.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They have a means of measuring, I would hope.  Someone says yes, so maybe later on we can hear that.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Well, they do some measurements.  In fact, at times they have to reject metals because they have radiation in them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, they do detect.


MR. MAGAVERN:  The metal recyclers have told me that they don’t want to do that.  They don’t want to have to get radioactive metals.  They have people working in their facilities.  A woman told me that she picks it up and carries it away, and when she gets pregnant, she won’t want to do that.  I would suggest that even now she probably shouldn’t be doing that.


But what we want to do is to confine the radioactive materials, not to spread them around into the environment.  This is exactly what Senator Romero’s bill would do.


On the issue of cleanup standards, there’s been a lot of talk about that.  I think the question is, when McClellan gets decommissioned, when Ranch Seco gets decommissioned, what is the acceptable level of risk to the people living near that site?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It depends on the underlying land use.


MR. MAGAVERN:  I know there’s housing being developed at McClellan.  That is a policy question.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, it’s not being built.  It’s existing.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Sacramento County’s Housing is planning to build housing there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we’ll have that conversation at another time.


MR. MAGAVERN:  The question is, what should be the risk?  The risk assessment takes into account the land use and what are the pathways of exposure.  This is a policy question for the Legislature.  I absolutely agree with you.  Is the acceptable risk 1 in 60 cancer deaths?  Is it 1 in 1,000?  Is it 1 in a million?  


Now, if you look at the way we regulate other risks, we go to 1 in a million.  That’s what DTSC uses.  They can, under certain circumstances, fall back to as much as 1 in 10,000.  Not below that.  So, why should radiation be allowed to kill more people than chemical contaminants are?  What is it about radiation that gives it this privileged status that it can inflict more risks on us?  That’s something we’ve been asking.  And Mr. Wong said earlier he thought they should essentially be the same.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I agree with you it ought not to be allowed.  I don’t think anyone is saying that.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Well, I think some people are actually.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who said that?  I want to know who said that.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Sure.  The Department has said it’s acceptable risk level.  The 25 millirems equates to a risk of 1 in 1,000.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think there was debate even on the federal standard.  We can respectfully disagree that there is some debate what that cutoff is.  ______________ scientists, and I respect that.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Actually, all of the scientific and regulatory bodies, including the National Academy of Sciences, which puts out the authoritative reports on the biological effects of ionizing radiation, gives the same set of numbers.  And Kevin Reilly said this too.  We’re all working off of the same scale in terms of what the government regulatory and the scientific bodies are using.


Now, there are those people – one of them, I believe, sitting to my left – who argue that low doses of radiation are not necessarily bad for you.  People have the right to have that opinion, but that is not accepted by the national and international scientific and regulatory bodies in terms of what is the risk from a certain dose.


So, I think we need to set in the statute, as Senator Kuehl’s bill would do, the more protective standard, and I appreciate your vote in favor of that bill.


Finally, I do think we need to look at—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which bill is that?


MR. MAGAVERN:  SB 1444.  Senator Kuehl’s bill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You might want to check the record.  I already voted for it.


MR. MAGAVERN:  That’s why I said I thank you for your support.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good.  I want that on the record again.


MR. MAGAVERN:  I have checked the record, believe me.  Thank you again.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sierra Club would never have a quibble with my vote, but there’s always a first time.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Finally, I think we need to look at the reform and reorganization of the Radiologic Health Branch.  I don’t think that that’s the only solution.  Moving the boxes around is far from a panacea.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s one thing I haven’t heard from Cal/EPA, and I didn’t hear from Mr. Lowry.  I don’t want to go on record, but there’s been questions as to whether or not Cal/EPA would go further.  I fear that you may get what you want, and you may not get the end result that you want.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Well, I have never said that Cal/EPA would be our savior here.  What I do think we have, though, is a series of problems with the Radiologic Health Branch.  It has, according to the court, violated CEQA.  It seems to me they’re saying they’re going to continue doing what they’ve been doing.  They have deregulated radioactive waste, and we’ve been told today that they refuse to investigate an allegation of illegal dumping of liquid radioactive waste.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where was this?


MR. MAGAVERN:  In Orange County – Senator Kuehl referred to it, and Senator Romero referred to it – from the Moravek company.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Actually, though, they did indicate that – we would give them the information – and that they would pursue it.


MR. MAGAVERN:  But I’m saying that the staffer in the Enforcement Branch who was asked to investigate refused to investigate.  I’m not saying that the senior officials here today refused to; I’m sure that they will investigate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It sounds like they will today, when they’re on record saying they will.


MR. MAGAVERN:  And I’m not referring to Dr. Bontá and Mr. Reilly.  I’m referring to the Radiologic Health Branch.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t want names, but are these the employees that are in question – one or two names?


MR. MAGAVERN:  Yes.


And a couple more points.  DHS has told us that in the early ’90s, it released 275 facilities at a level of up to 500 millirem.  Five hundred is where you get the cancer-death risk of 1 in 60.  We really need to know where those sites are.  This is very disturbing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is this part of the concern that they don’t know where they are because they don’t track?


MR. MAGAVERN:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And the previous Administrations were the ones that, unfortunately, failed to keep records.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Given that they’ve said, though, that they have no record of it, is there any way that you can think of that somehow we can go back and try to find this information, or is it simply it’s gone?


MR. MAGAVERN:  I think this may have been the instance where they told your committee that it would take them four years.  I think maybe they need to take another look at that assessment, come up with something more realistic, and let us know what they can find out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is there a date in your bill, Senator Romero?  Do you have the inventory in your bill?


SENATOR ROMERO:  No, that’s in Kuehl’s.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whoever’s got the inventory should have a date in there.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Under the auspices of the Select Committee, we have asked for a listing, an inventory, of where this has gone.  That’s where we were told it would take four years for them to compile that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We ought to just say this shall be the date that the inventory is completed, basically.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Finally, one question came up that I hope we can get some more information on.  I believe that at a hazardous waste cleanup site, if there is a hotspot left after that site is released, that when that is cleaned up, that waste has to go to a hazardous waste facility; that it couldn’t go into the local landfill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What’s the point of decommissioning?  I interpret decommissioning as saying, “We’ve decommissioned because we consider it safe for public health.”  So, if we want to say decommissioning, even if there’s residual under whatever cutoff that we direct them legislatively, if we want to say decommissioning shall only be a preliminary to monitoring at disposal and continuing to determine whether levels are safe or unsafe, that, I think, is what I’m hearing.


MR. MAGAVERN:  With the Rocketdyne site, they said they got down to ALARA, but then they had truckloads and truckloads of radioactive waste that had to be sent off the site.  How was it ALARA, if all of that waste was later removed?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, probably ALARA for that site, and in order to make it ALARA for that site, you then take it elsewhere.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Why would the “elsewhere” be the Bradley Landfill, which is a Class 3 landfill?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a problem.  It’s something for a future hearing and/or legislation.  I think there’s a lot more to be uncovered here.


MR. MAGAVERN:  I will close there.  We’ve been here a long time, and I appreciate your interest in these issues.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Mr. Lull, you’re next.  Are you tired?  Would you like us to get you coffee?  I’m tired.  It’s been a long week.


DR. ROBERT LULL:  Senator Ortiz and Senator Romero, first of all, thank you for being here and for you all spending so much time trying to get to the bottom of what’s always a difficult issue for people.  I found out about this yesterday actually, and it was fortunate that I was going to be passing through Sacramento.  A good friend of mine who died of ovarian cancer five years ago had a teenage son who is graduating from high school in Reno today, and I am on my way up there to his graduation.  So, I’m actually here wearing my vacation hat.


I’d like to describe for you some of the other hats that I wear and have worn because they relate to my background for being able to be here and talk to you today.


First of all, I’m in my second career right now.  My first career was in the Army, where I was an Army physician.  I was the chief of Nuclear Medicine at the Letterman Army Medical Center my last assignment.  And while I was in the Army, I was the nuclear medicine consultant for five surgeon generals in a row.  I was in for a career, so I’ve overlapped several of them.


I also was a guest lecturer at the interservice nuclear weapons school, where I lectured on the radiobiologic effects and medical effects of nuclear weapons accidents, which they train people to respond to, which they do have on a regular basis so-called broken arrows.  And I was treating patients actively and teaching residents.


When I retired from the Army, I shifted over to the University of California San Francisco, where I’m now clinical professor of Radiology.  I’m the director of the Nuclear Medicine Residency Training Program at the University of California San Francisco.  I’m the chief of nuclear medicine at San Francisco General Hospital.  I’ve been involved in our professional organizations, where I’ve been president of the California Chapters of the Society of Nuclear Medicine and the American College of Nuclear Physicians, and I was president of the National American College of Nuclear Physicians.  Many of the things you’re talking about today I’m actually engaged in teaching my residents year after year, and I also teach the radiology residents about this.


I was appointed – I can’t tell you exactly how many years ago – as one of the commissioners to the Southwestern Low-Level Radioactive Waste Compact.  I represent California at those meetings of the Compact Commission, which has the responsibility for approving the removal of low-level radioactive waste as defined in federal statutes from the compact states, which are California, Arizona, North and South Dakota.  There are federal laws as well as state laws applicable to the Commission and its operations.  That’s most of my hats.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Tell us what your thoughts are on the bodies that you’ve been involved with, as well as continue to be involved with, that are advisory bodies on how we carve this radiation policy.  Can you give us some direction on addressing this?


DR. LULL:  I can give you some ideas, and I have some thoughts about some of the things that have been talked about earlier today.


First of all, I also wanted to declare that I also am a board member of the CALRAD(?) Forum and have been a former chairman of that organization.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is?


DR. LULL:  Which is the radioactive user community that’s looking to develop a cost-effective and safe site.  Nobody wants to have an unsafe place to put low-level radioactive waste.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is it CALRAD?


DR. LULL:  CALRAD Forum.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have they developed a body of policy recommendations that would be helpful for all my scarcity of background reading?  Has CALRAD come to some consensus on some of these things?


DR. LULL:  They’ve come to a consensus, and they’ve been deeply involved in the development of California’s attempt to fulfill its obligation under the federal law and the California laws to develop a low-level waste site.  That was the one at Ward Valley which, you know, has become a real big political hot potato.  One of the bills would eliminate that site.  And you’ve heard testimony about whether it’s cost effective or not.  I think all of these are issues that when things evolve over twenty years, things change.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are we getting to another place beyond Ward Valley?


DR. LULL:  Yes.  I would point out that Ward Valley is, in the fiasco, probably the safest, most well-designed low-level waste site that has ever been put on paper at least, and all the concerns about contaminating the river, I think, have been put to rest by the scientific community and also by the courts.  That doesn’t change the situation, and we’re not here discussing Ward Valley today, so I don’t want to get into it.  


Other people have talked about waste disposal, and they’re using different terms for waste.  I would tell you that every piece of garbage that you put in your garbage can is radioactive.  Every piece of your body is radioactive.  The question is, at what level of radioactivity do you call it something that’s going to be controlled?  Because there is measurable radioactivity.  One of the things we do for measuring people’s lean body mass is we put them in a whole body counter and count the radioactivity emanating from their body from the potassium 40, which relates to their lean body mass.  By calibrating that system, you can count from the background activity emanating from the patient’s body how much lean mass they have versus fat.  So, you can get percent body fat by that technique.  Nobody uses that technique much anymore because it’s expensive.  But it just points out that you can end up measuring even these very low levels.  


As a matter of fact, you can end up calculating risk from such low levels.  I once, as reductio ad absurdum for my residents, sat down and calculated, using the standards that have been calculated at high-dose levels and high-dose rates, where people feel that 1 gram of exposure to a million people will create somewhere between 100 and 200 excess cancer risks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you bring us to some sort of guidelines or recommendations?


DR. LULL:  The guidelines that the NRC adopted of 25 millirem was arrived at after much testimony during the environmental impact statements.  I presume that the state felt that that satisfied their needs.  Obviously, the court didn’t agree with that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the court didn’t speak on the amount.  It spoke to the process.


DR. LULL:  I’m not talking about the amount but the environmental assessment done by the NRC at the national level, at which everyone was able to testify.  Perhaps there’s testimony that was voiced by the Committee to Bridge the Gap and the Sierra Club that they could give you in terms of what they had to say about that level when the NRC was adopting that.  Because we’re one of the agreement states, that would be what we would have to live with.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’re no closer.  CALRAD has not come up with some recommendations that might help guide us.


DR. LULL:  In terms of recommending levels, I think you need to look at what’s the real risk of 25 millirems?  What are equivalent risks?  For instance, you are working in the State Capitol Building.  The State Capitol Building is built of granite; at least the old portion of it that we’re in now.  I don’t know if anyone’s actually measured the background radiation levels in the Capitol Building, but they have done it at Union Station in New York City, where people passing through that on their way to work collect 120 millirems on the average per year just because of the radioactivity they get subjected to from walking through the granite building.  I’m sure that you get more than 25 millirems because you work here in the Senate office building with the granite surrounding you.  Someday you might ask the Radiologic Health Branch to actually measure it and see what the additional dose is.


The question is, are you going to regulate that?  And what’s the cost of these regulatory limits that you’re applying?  When they talk about 1 in a million risk assessment, you have to realize we’re talking about hypothetical risk.  He says, “Five hundred millirems is a 1 in 60 cancer risk.”  That’s theoretical.  There is no data at all that 500 millirems cause anybody to get cancer.  So, you need to really remember this when you’re dealing with what you’re dealing with, because there are costs to achieving those levels.


Now, you need to understand that when we talk about millirems, we’re talking about absorbed dose.  When we talk about radioactivity, we’re talking in terms of millicuries, or we’re talking in terms of millirads per hour, like radiation that you measure from a radioactive source.  When we talk millirems, we’re talking about a dose that’s been absorbed by a human being.  The model that’s used for developing the 25 millirem standard that the NRC has promulgated is someone living full time at the site, growing their food at the site, catching their fish – everything that they use comes from that site.  That’s the model that they use to calculate the radiation dose that’s delivered to the person.  It’s not something you can measure with a meter.  It’s a calculation that’s done, depending on the radionuclides there and the exposure to the person.  The model is a worst-case scenario.


I can tell you that that’s a very safe level, based on all my experience.  It’s safe up to even higher levels, as far as we can tell.  But we do apply this linear extrapolation for theoretical risk assessment, and we use that as a worst-case thing to make sure we’re on the safe side.  And we all utilize that, but don’t let that become like an absolute “That’s going to cause cancers for sure.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


DR. LULL:  Can I say one more thing here?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sure, if you can wrap up.


DR. LULL:  First of all, low-level radioactive waste is defined by federal law.  Smaller quantities than that, such as the material that was brought in from New York State into Buttonwillow’s facility, does not qualify.  Our Commission had no authority over that material.  Of course, we weren’t told it was coming in, and we were angry about them bringing this material in because they couldn’t bury it in New York State because of its radioactivity.  And I understand that the Health Department’s Radiologic Health Branch was upset that this came in.  They weren’t notified of it coming in either.


Now, is that dangerous or not?  Well, it was very, very low levels of activity.  But right now, nothing goes to a waste site that’s low-level radioactive waste.  It’s not allowed.  If it’s something that’s lower than low-level radioactive waste, there are exempt quantities of radioactive materials that can go freely to dumpsites legally right now.  If you measure it, you can measure that.  It’s not illegal, and it happens.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Let me get to the other speakers because we’re two-and-a-half hours beyond time.  We’ve got two more speakers, and we want to have time for public comment.  


I want to ask Senator Romero whether she’s got questions of Dr. Lull.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Actually, I have many, but I cannot ask them.  I rescheduled my flight.  I’ve got another flight that I’m taking, so I’m going to go ahead and depart at this time.  I want to thank all the presenters for being here.  Certainly, under the auspices of the Select Committee on Urban Landfills and other members of the Legislature, we’ll continue to pursue this issue.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thanks.


Welcome.  I didn’t get your name.  I apologize.


DR. OTTO RAABE:  My name is Otto Raabe.  I’m a professor at the University of California Davis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you at the Med Center or the campus?


DR. RAABE:  I’m on campus.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good to meet you.


DR. RAABE:  Since I’m a professor, I brought a handout.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  If you could plough through this quickly.


DR. RAABE:  Let me quickly tell you who I am so you have some idea.  I’ve worked in radiation safety since about 1958.  I have a doctorate degree in radiation biophysics, and I’ve been at Davis as a professor since 1976.  I also am a board-certified health physicist and have been past president of the Northern California Chapter of the Health Physics Society.  I’ve also been president of the National Health Physics Society.  I’ve also been president of the American Academy of Health Physics.  So, I’ve had a lot of experience with this.  My personal research, I have worked with research to try to understand radiation effects, particularly induction of cancer by ionizing radiation.  Much of my research at Davis has been involved using animals to study this.  I’ve published about twenty papers in health(?) literature.


I follow the literature very closely, and I’m going to be referring, in fact, to two papers that I heard just last month of the Radiation Research Society.  Science is evolving.  I have to say in the very beginning that science is involving truth.  That’s what we’re interested in.  I’m going to try to represent the truth as I see it.  The fact is that I believe that there’s really nothing wrong with the radiation protection standards that the federal government has been using.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The 25?


DR. RAABE:  The 25 is more than adequate.  There’s no more risk associated with 25 millirem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Hirsch earlier said that – I think it was the American Academy of Sciences – every major science publication said that—


DR. RAABE:  I think Mr. Lull accurately described it’s been kind of a yardstick to … (inaudible) … The problem is, when people start to say that there are actually bodies, like 1 in 60 people are dying from this stuff, it’s nonsense.  


So, what is the truth about this?  Let’s first mention where the ________ comes from.  Let me give you an analogy so you can understand clearly what this is all about.  Suppose you want to estimate the risk from wind.  Instead of radiation, wind.  _______________ that a hurricane hits the city of Miami at 100 miles per hour for 24 hours and 10 people are killed.  Meanwhile, I can use the _______ model to estimate the risk for wind.  That means that if there’s a 10-mile-per-hour wind in Miami, one person will be killed.  Or, if there’s a 1-mile-per-hour breeze and it lasts for ten days instead of one day, then still one person will be killed.  __________ calculate the risk of ____________ killed by the breeze in this room caused by the air conditioning?  Maybe it’s 10 to the minus 6.  


This is the way these numbers come.  There is no truth to those numbers.  Those are just guesses.  And so, when you talk about risk-based standards, you really don’t have a risk to work with.  


Now, there is a basic difference between chemicals and radiation, and it’s really important.  Mr. Lull pointed this out, I think, indirectly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s be educated on that because I’m not sure what that difference is.


DR. RAABE:  See, the whole world is radioactive.  Everything’s radioactive.  We’re all exposed to ionizing radiation every day, depending on where you live, what part of the United States, what part of California __________.  Twenty-five millirem – is that dangerous?  If you move from Sacramento to Lake Tahoe, you get an extra 25 millirem every year.  Do we regulate people moving to Lake Tahoe because of 25 millirem?  We’ve got a public health problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Tell me why they get a higher rate of exposure.


DR. RAABE:  If you really want a  good one, move to Denver.  In fact, I was talking to … (inaudible) … Colorado.  There they’ve got every which way going because they’re higher up, so they get cosmic rays.  The … (inaudible) … much higher than it is in California … (inaudible) … You put that all together, they get maybe twice as much radiation exposure than California.  


In the second page of your handout, you’ll see the breakdown.  This little pie chart comes from the National Academy of Sciences.  It breaks down the average radiation exposure that people get living in the United States, and it’s about 360 millirems per year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Three hundred and sixty millirems.


DR. RAABE:  At the very right, you’ll see the number 360 millirems per year.  This shows the percentage breakdown.  Where does this come from?  Well, 82 percent of it is natural, 18 percent is medical or so.  Actually, 15 percent is medical.  The _________ associated with everything we’ve been talking about – nuclear technology, radioactive waste, fallout from __________ and so forth – all of this comes down to being less than 1 percent.  So, out of the 360 millirem that all of us receive every year, only about 3 millirem comes from nuclear technologies.  Medicine provides much more than that obviously.  So, we’re all being radiated _______ time.


Now, if we move to Denver, instead of 360, we get about 860 millirem per year.  Primarily, it’s not just the … (inaudible) … that goes way up in Colorado.  There’s a way of calculating the ________________ dose, so it looks to be about 860.  Now, the question is, does that mean that more than 60 people in California are going to die, as suggested, because they’re getting 500 millirems more per year, from cancer?  Actually, Colorado has one of the lowest cancer rates in the United States, much lower than California.  The fact is, there are no new risks associated with this.


It even goes further than that.  I went to the Radiation Research Society meeting, which was held in May, and I heard several people – very excellent scientists – show that these low levels of radiation actually stimulate DNA repair.  What that means is that they improve the rate at which the genetic material of ______________ can corrupt _______________________ from radiation but from heat and from oxygen, metabolism and so forth.  The consequence of this is that the cancer rates actually go down at the lower doses.  So, instead of having people dying from cancer, you actually have a reduction.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re not recommending greater exposure though.


DR. RAABE:  No, no.  I’m not recommending that.  On the last page – I don’t make this up – on the last page, I gave you the abstracts of the two papers that I heard just last month.  The one that’s most informative is by Dr. Redpath, who is at the Department of Radiation Oncology at the University of California Irvine, showing a definite reduction in ____________ transformations at low doses.  Actually, the low doses here he was working with were much higher than 25 millirem.  Twenty-five millirem is a trivial dose for which there’s no known effects.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And these are primarily melanoma.


DR. RAABE:  Actually, in his paper – that’s not expressed in the abstract too well – in his paper he covered several different kinds of transformations and several different kinds of cancer.  I challenge you to call Dr. Redpath and talk to him about this.


So, it’s not strictly an issue of calculating dose.  In fact … (inaudible) … You really can’t calculate the risk.  But just by comparing the radiation exposures that we all get every day, or every year, to these standards, you can see these standards are very protective.


This brings us to the issue that I’ve heard continued several times today, and I think Mr. Lull explained it very clearly.  People are confusing the standards for cleanup with radioactive waste.  I heard that issue.  I’ve been here all day, and I heard that get really garbled several times, and I’d just like to try to clarify that again.  Basically, when we clean up a site, we remove the radioactive waste.  But since the whole earth is radioactive, the site is still radioactive underneath.  Now, to say it’s above background is kind of hard because background varies, even in California, from one place to another place.  


Over at my lab, they were doing a cleanup there, and they set a standard that was close to background for some cleanup, and they took the dirt out that was supposedly contaminated, and then they couldn’t find any dirt in California that met their standard after that for fill-in dirt.  


You see, all the dirt on the face of the earth has radium, ________, and uranium in different quantities, and where you go it’s higher or lower.  Everything’s radioactive.


Okay, so what does the cleanup mean?  Cleanup means you get down to some reasonable low level, and then you calculate, in an extreme situation, what if somebody moves out to that land – after it’s cleaned up, and you walk away from  it – and builds a house and digs a yard and plants corn, you know, just lives off the land and doesn’t live anywhere else, what kind of dose would they get?  We say, “Oh, 25 millirem.”  So that’s where we get the 25 millirem from.  It’s just a hypothetical calculation in the worst case.  So, when you set a standard of 25 millirem, that doesn’t mean that you actually would get 25 millirem … (inaudible).


One of the commentaries – number five, in fact – says that for all of the low-level radioactive waste sites that we’ve had in the United States, and some of them from 20 years ago – they were poorly built and leaked badly and so forth – but for all of these sites that we’ve had, ________ in the public has received – many of them – received 3 millirem of exposure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Three millirem?


DR. RAABE:  Yes.  ___________ in the public has received 3 millirem from all of these sites.  Because, you see, the standard doesn’t mean that anyone actually gets exposed to it.  Now, you want to set a standard of 100 millirem, you say that’s the worst case that … (inaudible) … Well, that doesn’t happen, so the real exposures to the public are much smaller.


So, I guess my bottom-line message is setting a standard of 25 millirem, or even 100 millirem, is not going to create a public health problem.  It’s more than adequate to protect the public, and the public isn’t actually being exposed.


I’ve worked with the Department of Health Services’ Radiologic division over the last twenty-five years.  I am a member and a past-chair of the Radiation Safety Committee at UC Davis, and I’ve had to deal with them with regard to license removals.  I’ve always found them to be highly professional and well trained and very competent.  They know about regulations, about radiation risks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a question about a comment that was bothering me earlier.  Maybe you or Dr. Lull can address it, or anyone.  There was a representation made that medical waste is really less than 1 percent of all the waste produced.  Therefore, the concern here from the medical community is that somehow the good things that they’re doing, whether it’s research or treatment for cancer, in fact will be circumvented by a standard being imposed on the industry.  Do you have any idea what the percentage is?


DR. RAABE:  The percentage depends when you calculate it:  ___________, how many tons, or you consider how much radioactivity … (inaudible) … and this is another thing that I wanted to point out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Volume versus activity.


DR. RAABE:  Mass versus activity.  Let me just say one thing here.  Today I heard people referring to radioactive waste in terms of millirem.  That’s not how you measure radioactive waste.  It’s measured in terms of activity … (inaudible) … It’s not a dose.  It’s on a total amount of ___________ activity.  There’s only a dose if you stand next to it, you see.  So, when we talk about cleanup standards, saying, “If you move onto that property after we clean up it, the worst you can get is 25 millirem a year if you stay there.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Tell me what activity is if it’s not exposure.


DR. RAABE:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, it’s from the time it’s produced to its life.


DR. RAABE:  No.  Every … (inaudible) … has a different rate of decaying, because what you have is the nuclei of the atoms are actually breaking down, and how fast does that happen?  ______________ get to this half-life issue … (inaudible).


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hold on a moment.  Let me finish.   If, in fact, the various bills moving through the Legislature are looking at millirems, how do we translate that into activity measurement?


DR. RAABE:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know, but how do they make it about waste?


DR. RAABE:  They go to the federal regulations with regard to low-level radioactive waste, Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61.  It describes clearly how the waste is categorized on the basis of risk for low-level waste and what happens to it and how it should be disposed of.  Probably, the federal standard is probably what … (inaudible) … millirem per year from the site.  That would be the federal standard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Lull.


DR. LULL:  The way you would take 25 millirem exposure absorbed dose and take that back to the amount of radioactive in millicuries depends on the model which you use and the assumptions you make about which isotopes are there and how much radiation is coming off of them and whether you ingest any of it or not.  All of those would be features of how you translate an amount of isotope concentration that’s in the ground or on the surface into a radiation dose to a person who’s occupying that land afterwards when it’s been decommissioned.  


So, it’s a complex process.  It’s a complex scientific calculation.  It’s not that simple.  You don’t talk in terms of millirems being disposed of at a site.  I know the Senator mentioned, can I put 10 millirems at a site?  That’s not how you measure it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The problem is that’s the standard that ___________ throughout time on the federal level as well as the state level.  So, whether it’s an imperfect or an inappropriate model, that’s what has been used to measure standards.


DR. LULL:  Think analogous to a sunburn.  You may have very bright light outside that’s the source of radiation.  That’s a different kind of wave-length radiation, but it’s similar to ionized radiation.  If you don’t go outside, you don’t get any exposure.  If you go outside for a short period of time, you only get a very small amount of exposure.  You don’t get any sunburn.  You stay out there for a long time and you’ve got a bright sun, you’re going to get a real bad sunburn.  If you don’t have a very bright sun, if it’s in the winter months, you don’t get much of a sunburn.  It’s the same kind of thing with radiation:  A sunburn is the amount of activity.


I’ve got one final comment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask Dr. Raabe to finish up and then determine whether Mr. Pasternak also wants to weigh in.  So, rather than spend a lot of time on your extra comments, can you quickly make a couple of comments?


DR. LULL:  I’ll make it very quickly.


I think that lowering the radiation dose risk level from 25 down to 1 will actually worsen health care in this state for one reason:  There’s not enough money to provide health care.  That’s very expensive to comply with that.  Read the second to the last paragraph from the GAO report that you have about how the costs go up exponentially as you try to decrease down further.  We need more money.  I’m at San Francisco General.  We’re cutting back services because we don’t have enough budget money to provide health care.  We can’t afford to waste money on things that have no impact and no health translation benefit.  We need to use our money more wisely, and I suggest that you try not to do this thing because there’s no basis for it whatsoever.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Appreciate that.  Did you want to continue, Dr. Raabe?  


Are there members of the public who want to comment on this?  If you’d just raise your hand so I can get a sense of how many people do want to speak after our panel is completed.  Okay, everybody’s here as observers.  That’s good.


DR. RAABE:  My opinion is that the state has the responsibility to all producers of radioactive waste, whether it be nuclear power.  It’s not like nuclear power is evil and medical is good.  There are all kinds of sources of radioactive waste in the state, and the state is responsible to see to it that there’s an orderly disposal in a safe site, rather than stored in hundreds of different places all over the state.  It’s safer in a hundred places than a hole in the ground in the desert.  I think it’s important that you realize that, that we need a place.  The University has the same problem.  We have radioactive waste.  We have a thousand laboratories doing biomedical research or engineering research, whatever.  These are radionuclides.  


I’m on the Radiation Safety Committee.  It’s a constant battle:  “What do we do with the waste?”  Build bigger and bigger storage places?  If Sacramento didn’t pick up your garbage and they said, “Just keep it in your garage, and if you run out of space, bury it out in back, stick it in there,” and that’s what’s going on to the companies in this state.  They’re being put under tremendous pressure.


Now, if you choose a standard that’s ridiculously low, then you create a burden that makes _________ impossible.  There is no 1 millirem standard.  That’s impossible.  What does that mean?  I mean … (inaudible) … if you take a flight from Sacramento to New York.  There’s no 1 millirem standard.  So, what does that mean?  As we said, we want 1 millirem against background.  First of all, you have to know what background is because it’s different everywhere, right?  And then, maybe you can clean and clean and clean to try to get it there, but it takes money, money, money to move dirt that is probably essentially clean from here to there – from this spot to some hole in the ground somewhere else.  Of course, it’s money being spent if you do that.  I think it’s better used in research, something that could really help people.  You can set the standard ridiculously low.  The 25 millirem standard is more than adequate.


I guess that’s all my comments.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s been a lot.  It’s been very helpful, and I’m going to read through this as well.  So, thank you for weighing in.  Maybe we should have had you at the front end as we were having the discussion about the standards and the panel discussion.


Can you come back in the future, if we invite you?


DR. RAABE:  Yes.  Can I make one more comment?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sure.


DR. RAABE:  It’s about my handout, what’s in here.  I also put in here three position statements by the Health Physics Society that relate to what we’re doing.  The Health Physics Society is a national association of over 6,000 professionals in the radiation safety field.  You can go to their web site and download these.  One of these supports the 25 millirem standard.  One of them points out that you cannot calculate a risk for exposure below 5,000 millirem.  And the other one relates to the soundness of our radiation standards.  Those are the three I chose.  On the web site you find many others, but I thought that these three position statements represent the 6,000 specialists in radiation safety in the United States, and so I thought the committee might find those of interest.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, yes.  It’s going to be most helpful, and I suspect we’ll invite you back if there are further hearings.


Thank you.


Mr. Pasternak, you’ve been patient.  You’re our last speaker for the day, I believe.


DR. ALAN PASTERNAK:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair, and thank you for hanging in there all day with this issue.


I’m Dr. Alan Pasternak.  I’m the technical director of the California Radioactive Materials Management Forum, an association of organizations that use radioactive materials in the four states of the Southwestern Compact.  Most of our members are in California, and our members include universities, utilities with nuclear power plants, biotech firms, pharmaceutical firms, medical centers, and a number of professional societies in medicine, radiation safety, and engineering.


By way of background, for many years I was on the scientific staff with the University of California’s Lawrence Livermore National Lab, and while I come here as a scientist, I would like to spend most of my time sharing with you the thoughts of an attorney, who happens to be a judge.  I was also a member of the California Energy Commission, appointed by Governor Jerry Brown, in the 1970s.  We lived in Sacramento for about fifteen years, and one of the nicest parts of that experience was that my wife was chairman of the English Department at Saint Francis High School.  There may be a few teachers there who will remember Mrs. Pasternak.


A year-and-a-half ago, as a former member of the Commission, I was invited to their celebration of their 25th anniversary.  This was in December of 2000.  And yes, despite the fact the state was in the middle of an electricity crisis, the Energy Commission was celebrating.  At an afternoon convocation, perhaps the best thing of that whole celebration was a talk by Kevin Starr, California State Librarian and historian, who noted that in the 1970s and 1980s, California state government demonized nuclear energy.  He said that twice.


As I look at these four bills, and one of the reasons I’m happy you held this meeting is it gives us a chance to have an overview.  Instead of considering one bill at a time, we can look at the collective impact.  It’s not going to take twenty-five years.  It will take a few months or maybe a year to look back on 2002 and ask the question:  Was there an effort here to use the legislative process to demonize the use of radioactive materials?  Consider that in the Senate there are two bills – Senator Romero’s bill and Senator Kuehl’s bill – which would expand, by definition, the volume of waste materials that must be disposed of at a licensed low-level radioactive waste facility, and to do that at a time when California doesn’t have such a facility.  


You’ve asked the question, Senator Ortiz, a number of times:  Where is the waste going to go?  Is it going to go out of state?  We don’t have a such a facility.  There was a lot of progress made in the 1980s and 1990s, but in 1999, that progress stopped.  Governor Davis ceased efforts to acquire the Ward Valley site from the federal government; although, I’m sure if he asked for it now, the answer would be “yes.”  And while that waste stream would be expanded by definition, we do not have a site, we do not have a facility.  There is an Assembly bill now on its way over here – Assembly Bill 2214, Mr. Keeley’s bill – which would make it impossible to build such a facility in the State of California.  It not only eliminates the Ward Valley facility for no reason, but he attempts to tell the Nuclear Regulatory Commission how to design a disposal facility, and I think his designs would fail.  They’d be very expensive, but they would fail.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Talk me through the Keeley bill, because it’s been represented as the bill that will arrive at the parameters of how we, in fact, pool together resources to address storage disposal, etc.


DR. PASTERNAK:  The letter I just handed you, and I hope you will, if not put my letter in the record, put the NRC letter that’s attached to it in the record.  The NRC has taken a look at these four bills, and one reason I wanted you to have it is because Senator Romero kept emphasizing the fact that California, as an agreement state, can adopt a more restrictive standard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me quickly ask for the letter.


DR. PASTERNAK:  I just handed it to you, and I faxed it last night.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s been a long week.


DR. PASTERNAK:  The Administration, which I’ve just criticized for not moving ahead on Ward Valley, deserves praise, particularly the Department of Health Services and the Radiologic Health Branch, for asking the opinion of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission on these four bills.  And I understand that this letter went all the way up to the Commission.  It’s signed by a staff member.  It went up to the Commission, all five of whose members, by the way, were originally appointed by former President Clinton.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And they’re still on the Commission?


DR. PASTERNAK:  They’re still on the Commission.  Two of them had been reappointed by President Bush.


The Commission notes that a more stringent criterion is allowed under the Relevant Compatibility Criterion, but only so long as it does not preclude a practice in the national interest.  We are concerned that the draft legislation would have such a preclusive effect.  In other words, this is regulatory jargon.  I was a regulator once upon a time.


If you make the criteria so stringent that you can’t do anything, that society cannot productively use radioactive materials, that they will not allow.  You cannot preclude a practice in the national interest.  One of our concerns, at any rate, is these four bills, taken in total, do that.  For example, Senator Kuehl’s bill, 1444, would perpetuate the current impasse.  We believe it would perpetuate the current impasse on termination of licenses.  


I have a disagreement with you, Senator, on whether the court’s ruling was correct:  the procedural ruling that the Department should have done an Environmental Impact Report.  It seems to me that if every time a state agency in adopting a federal regulation, virtually be reference, could not rely on the EIS done by the federal government but had to do its own, that would be a big waste of time and money.  I hope the Department appeals.  I hope they ask the appellate court to set aside the trial court’s ruling while that appeal is being considered.  It certainly cannot be the first time that a state agency has lost at the trial court level and then went on to win at the appellate and supreme court levels.  That happened with the Ward Valley license.


There’s been some talk of emergency regulations.  I’m addressing the license termination issue right now, which is a serious and immediate problem that is upon us.  There are a number of biotech firms in the San Diego area that cannot terminate licenses and move on to other quarters.  That’s covered in today’s San Diego Union Tribune.  I have heard from a number of private firms.  I have heard from public research agencies:  the Nichols Institute in San Juan Capistrano; the Sidney Cancer Research Institute in San Diego.  These are organizations that want to move on to other facilities.  In some cases, they have favorable real estate deals pending.  They’ve got favorable loans.  They want to move on, and they can’t because the Department’s position has been that as a result of that court ruling, they cannot process their applications.  Even a campus of the University of California has been told that.  This is an issue that needs immediate attention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have these issues not been covered in the two prior hearings?


DR. PASTERNAK:  No, I don’t believe so.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did you guys seek participation in those hearings?


[Response inaudible.]


DR. PASTERNAK:  The problem right now is immediate.  Organizations, public and private, have asked the Department to accept their applications for license termination, and the Department has said, “We cannot process them.”  The court said, and it was read earlier into the record here today, the court said there is no existing standard.  That is a crazy ruling.


California is an agreement state.  It has an obligation to carry out a radioactive control program.  If the Department cannot fulfill that particular function, then one of two things should happen:  Either the state should ask the NRC to come in and perform that part of its role; that we take that part of the agreement state function.  I’m not saying take over the whole function, but that part which the state cannot perform, the NRC should be asked to come in and perform that function and consider these dozen applications.  Or, the NRC should say, “You’re not living up to your obligation, California.  You don’t have your act together.  We’re going to come in and do it for you.”


I’d like to make you aware, with your indulgence for a few more minutes—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, you’ve waited patiently.  I’m more than happy to listen.


DR. PASTERNAK:  I’d like to make you aware of some things that are going on in other parts of the country.  You’ve asked several times, Senator, about disposal and where are we going to dispose it, and disposal in other states.  There are two facilities – one in Utah and one in South Carolina.  I should mention that some of the organizations that are sponsoring these four bills tried to keep us out of South Carolina when Governor Hodges was elected.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that Mr. Hirsch’s group?


DR. PASTERNAK:  Committee to Bridge the Gap.  I’ll be happy to provide you with the documentation of that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please do that.  So, Mr. Hirsch doesn’t want it in California and would like to see them go to Utah or South Carolina, but has filed suit to prevent—


DR. PASTERNAK:  No, he hasn’t filed suit.


MR. HIRSCH:  Madam Chair?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hold on a moment.  I am the chair of the committee.  I will give you an opportunity.  I want to understand the allegation here.


Please tell me what was done.


DR. PASTERNAK:  He went to South Carolina, and I’ll be happy to give you the name of Governor Hodges’ deputy chief of staff who can tell you about the activities of the Committee to Bridge the Gap in South Carolina, persuading them to close the Barnwell facility or, failing that, at least to accelerate their schedule for keeping waste from other states out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to let Mr. Hirsch respond.


DR. PASTERNAK:  I understand.  I’ll be happy to give you this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The other thing I want to reiterate, because I did ask when Mr. Hirsch was here, did he not enter into an agreement with all of the Class 1 facilities in California to no longer receive waste, and he acknowledged that was indeed the case.  If that’s not quite right, let me pull the article I have here.


I want an answer to the question.  If it’s not going to be here in California and it’s not going to be in other states, either by actions of us or by actions of those other states, I just need to ask the question whether the Keeley bill is going to give us the remedy tomorrow that we need.


DR. PASTERNAK:  No, it won’t.  The Ward Valley project was ten years from enabling legislation in 1983, carried by Senator Alquist, to the issuance of a license.  Another three years of litigation.  It’s a thirteen-year project to start at a new site, with a new facility.  As it was pointed out earlier, we lose access to the South Carolina site in 2008.  That’s only six years.  We do not have time to start at a new facility with questionable requirements put in legislation rather than relying on the NRC regulations, as the Alquist bill did.  And as has been pointed out here earlier today, the Ward Valley proposal is probably, given all of the reviews it went through – special review by the National Academy of Sciences – probably the safest facility that had ever been proposed.


There’s litigation not only in California, where the state’s licensee is suing the Department of Health Services.  The case is one of, what the lawyers call, promissory estoppel.  It’s a damages lawsuit.  The company’s asking for          $160 million.  I don’t know where it’s going to come from – education, security.  There are two other lawsuits that I’d like to make you aware of.  One is in the Southeast, and one was just filed Monday.  The states of Alabama, Tennessee, Florida, and Virginia and the Southeast Compact Condition have sued North Carolina for failure to develop a disposal facility.  That lawsuit, since it involves states, not just a commission, that will go directly to the Supreme Court as the court of original jurisdiction.  There’s another lawsuit in the central states, the compact region in which the Compact Commission there is suing the State of Nebraska for its failure to develop a disposal facility and alleging bad faith by former Governor, now U.S. Senator Ben Nelson.  The federal judge in that case has already said that there’s substantial evidence of bad faith in the licensing matter.


These lawsuits I cite as potential templates for action in other parts of the country, including California, to require reluctant host states that lack the political will to fulfill their compact obligations to get on with the job.  


I said I wanted to share with you some thoughts of an attorney, and this will wind it up for me.  You’ve had a lot of documentation placed in front of you – the GAO report – which says below, what is it? 5,000 or 10,000 millirems, you can’t say anything quantitative about risk.  And the linear hypothesis is used as a convenience by regulators.  A lot of other documentation.  I see you’ve got a large briefing book.  


This little volume by Justice Stephen Breyer has a lot of wisdom in it:  “Breaking the Vicious Circle Toward Effective Risk Regulation, and that’s what we’re talking about today.  Just let me share with you a few excerpts.


“Efforts to regulate small risks to health” – and that’s what we’re talking about here.  Very small.  “Efforts to regulate small risks to health are plagued by serious problems of tunnel vision, random agenda selection, and inconsistency.”  He wasn’t talking necessarily about radioactivity.  He was talking in general. 


Now, here’s one he does talk about radioactivity.  “We more likely notice the low-risk nuclear waste disposal truck driving past the school than the much higher risk gasoline delivery trucks on their way to local service stations.  Journalists, whose job is to write interesting stories, know this psychological fact well.”


There is considerable discussion today, Senator, about the possibility of putting into legislation that which might otherwise be in regulation, and Justice Breyer warns against that.  “Detailed statutory instructions.”  He talks about the difficulties with detailed statutory provisions.  He cites the 1984 Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments as an example.  “The problem with this language is it amounts to a set of shots in the dark.  It tries to set and to control in detail EPA’s cleanup agenda, with directions that, later, experience may show to be inappropriate because they fail to achieve any reasonable policy goal.


“Congress is not institutionally well-suited to write detailed regulatory instructions that will work effectively.”  And if I may be so bold as to extrapolate that to state legislatures.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I knew you were going to get there.  Our motto ought to be “Do no harm.”


DR. PASTERNAK:  Yes.


He concludes with the following.  And while there’s a hiatus on license termination, hopefully it’s coming to an end.  I wasn’t quite sure of the effect of the Department’s testimony or not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t want to go over that again, because I’m more confused than before they presented.


DR. PASTERNAK:  All right.  He says, “The sharp decline in confidence” – this is Justice Breyer, Supreme Court Justice – “The sharp decline in confidence in public institutions over the past twenty-five years recall, however, that rebuilt trust in institutions is based not simply on the public’s perception of openness but also on the ability of an institution to accomplish its mission successfully.”  


The regulators have to regulate, and they have to be allowed to regulate.  And applications for licenses should be processed, and applications for license termination should be processed.  If you can’t process an application for license termination, nobody’s ever going to seek a license in this state to begin with, and I’m thinking of the biotech industry, the crown jewel of our economic and health future.  


And then he repeats that at the very end.  “This book reflects the belief that trust in institutions arises not simply as a result of openness in government, responses to local interest groups, or priorities emphasized in the press, though these attitudes and actions play an important role; but also from those institutions doing a difficult job well.”  


It has to do with licenses and license termination.  It has to do with developing a disposal facility such as Ward Valley.  You’ve got to get the job done.


Thanks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  That’s a fitting final presentation for nearly six hours of hearing here.


Before I go and close and thank you all for your time, I do want to address one point that was raised, Mr. Pasternak, regarding whether or not CEQA should have been followed, and I think herein lies a number of major issues that are arising in this discussion about federal standards and federal jurisdiction.  It is an issue that appears, to me, in the letter on the response by the NRC.  Actually, had I caught this prior to the earlier speakers, it would have been part of my questions of all parties involved, particularly those promoting the NRC standards.  I don’t know that the authors have even gotten a copy of this letter from NRC regarding those standards.


DR. PASTERNAK:  We sent it to a number of committees.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  That’s helpful.  It would have structured my analysis a little differently.


Let me address the point you raised regarding whether or not the State of California should have erred in attempting to incorporate, by reference, the NRC standard as consistent with their ability, under the terms of the agreement, as an agreement state.  It may, in fact, have been a legitimate assumption or an appropriate assumption procedurally.  I’m not going to go to the question of the merits of the standard or not, but I think the challenge is when we as states do come forward and enact something as some would perceive to be as burdensome as CEQA – I happen to believe there’s value in CEQA – that the federal government has said California can go beyond in many of those instances, particularly when it relates to the health and safety.  And this may be that question.  Whether or not the Department is going to appeal that procedural ruling, I don’t even dare ask that right now, and maybe they would prevail on appeal.  


But I do want to weigh in and say I think CEQA is a good thing for California, and if, in fact, in this case it wasn’t adhered to either inadvertently or not, I don’t want to have to second-guess whether California should not have gone the extra yard to have done that.


In response to the letter that’s raised here that you use as weighing in as a comment from NRC on the various proposals moving through the California Legislature and their statement that “The four bills address two main areas:  the license termination rule and the low-level waste disposal facilities, the criteria for license termination under the Senate draft legislation would be more stringent (nothing above background or ten to the sixth risk) than the NRC criteria.”  So, one, it’s got to be more stringent than the NRC criteria – that’s what they’re   saying – and a more stringent criteria is allowed, which is the issue of California being able to go beyond, which is Senator Romero’s position and Senator Kuehl’s.  Philosophically, I agree that California, if we can demonstrate there is a value and you have to go through a cost-benefit analysis of those standards, should in fact do that.  And they clearly say we’re allowed, under the Relevant Compatibility Criterion C.  And this is the caveat:  “But only so long as it does not preclude a practice in the national interest.  We are concerned that the draft legislation would have such a preclusive effect.”


Now, I interpret that to mean a number of things.  One, we could run into interstate commerce clause issues.  We could, in some way, come in direct conflict with issues of national interest that would then preempt.  So, I’m not sure they outline how that national interest would be precluded by us going beyond.


DR. PASTERNAK:  If I may.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


DR. PASTERNAK:  If you require cleanup of a facility to background or 10 to the minus 6, and the only way you have of estimating that risk is by using this linear hypothesis – and by the way, Justice Breyer had something to say about the linear hypothesis as well – as Professor Raabe tried to point out, you just cannot quantify it.  If you try to quantify 10 to the minus 6, you come up with something like .05 millirems.  When we have background exposure of 360, you can barely measure it.  What they’re saying is you cannot achieve it, and therefore, nobody’s ever going to seek a license in California.  Therefore, you don’t have all the biomedical work and the research at the universities.  You preclude those practices that are in the national interest.  I’m very concerned about these four bills.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we then see the federal government step in?  What do we do then?  We’re back to no standards or some debate about whether or not the linear model is inappropriate.  We really need to get beyond this disagreement and come closer to some, at least, procedural criteria.  We are stuck here.  I fear that we are stuck even further.


DR. PASTERNAK:  I think you can listen to the testimony of Dr. Lull and Dr. Raabe that the 25 millirem standard is more than adequate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m convinced that there is, certainly, room for debate, but let me spend some time going over this because I think it’s troubling.  We still haven’t answered the ultimate question:  If, in fact, it’s not in California and if, in fact, we have no place to dispose here or in other states, what do we do?  We’re past the point of not producing.


A final comment, Mr. Lull?


DR. LULL:  I would recommend that you perhaps get a copy of the NRC decision papers and the background information when they went through this very same issue which led them to adopt the 25 millirem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If they used the EIS, and CEQA’s a different tool.


DR. LULL:  All that would be available.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Mr. Magavern.


MR. MAGAVERN:  Madam Chair, you said you’d give Mr. Hirsch a chance to defend himself.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I didn’t characterize it as “defend.”  It would be clarify once again.  Come forward.  Mr. Hirsch has a tendency to be a little bit longer than I’d like him to be, so yes or no, did you enter into an agreement with the Class 1 facilities to no longer receive low-level radioactive waste in the State of California?


MR. HIRSCH:  We’ve agreed on the text of the Romero bill that we all support.  That’s the agreement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that a yes or a no?  Those Level 1 facilities will no longer take low-level radioactive waste.


MR. HIRSCH:  I haven’t entered into an agreement with them.  You have a representative of one of them here, but there’s no agreement between us.  One of them has made a voluntary statement that I’ve read in the press.  But I don’t have an agreement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you’re saying you’ve never entered into a verbal, oral, or written agreement with all of those Class 1 facilities to no longer take any low-level radioactive waste.


MR. HIRSCH:  The only agreement we have is to support the Romero bill.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know what that means.  Either yes or no.


MR. HIRSCH:  No, there’s no agreement between us about them not taking waste.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  To no longer receive low-level radioactive waste.


MR. HIRSCH:  I hope they do.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They do receive it.


MR. HIRSCH:  No, I hope they do make such a commitment, but I have not entered into an agreement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  It would be your desire that no facility in California receive any low-level radioactive waste.


MR. HIRSCH:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is your desire?  Every piece of low-level radioactive waste in the State of California today, where would you like to see it go?


MR. HIRSCH:  I’d like to see it go to a licensed disposal facility, and that can be in California or wherever.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We have three licensed facilities that are a Level 1 in California.


MR. HIRSCH:  Those are hazardous.  There’s no licensed radioactive waste facility here or in 47 other states.  There are three licensed radioactive waste sites that handle the nation’s waste as national facilities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where would they go then if they were not those Class 1 facilities?


MR. HIRSCH:  They would go to one of the three national licensed facilities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Outside of California.


MR. HIRSCH:  Or to a facility to be built in California, pursuant to the Keeley bill, if the inventory shows us we have enough volume to make it economical.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When’s the earliest possible date you think we may be able to see a facility built in California under the Keeley bill?


MR. HIRSCH:  If the inventory bill showed that there was a volume enough to make it economical—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s assume hypothetically it is.


MR. HIRSCH:  It would seem to me that would be possible within something on the order of about six years.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what would that cost be?


MR. HIRSCH:  Well, that’s the point because there’s so little volume.  All the studies indicate it would not be economical to have one here in California for just the California state volume.  That’s the point.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’d have to receive from other states?


MR. HIRSCH:  We would anyway under the compact.  We’d take from Arizona and the Dakotas, but all the studies show that’s not enough volume either.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we really don’t have that much in California to have to build one.


MR. HIRSCH:  It’s such a tiny volume – and that was the Atkinson committee statement – that the volumes have dropped so much because of volume compaction, that there’s not enough volume to merit each state having their own site.


DR. PASTERNAK:  Can I comment on that?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please, and then we’re really going to wrap up.


MR. HIRSCH:  I still would like the opportunity to respond to that allegation about me and South Carolina.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


DR. PASTERNAK:  Volumes in recent years have gone up.  They’re certainly not what they used to be.  The question of the economic viability of a given disposal facility and the cost to the users of that facility would certainly depend on how many are using it.  California has the statutory obligation to develop a disposal facility for Arizona, North Dakota, South Dakota, and California.  There are liabilities if we do not do that, and the first one is this lawsuit from the developer U.S. Ecology.  They’re asking for 162 million.  But, if you want to make a facility economically viable, if that becomes a key issue—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Then we have to take from other states.


DR. PASTERNAK:  Then the Compact Commission has the right to do exactly what you just suggested.  They can take some waste from other states that have no place else to go – if that becomes the key issue.  It’s easily solved, if you’ve got the political will to do it and if you’re willing to do it.  If you don’t, well yes, then maybe it’s going to be expensive—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Maybe we can incorporate it in one of the vehicles that’s moving through the Legislature right now.


DR. PASTERNAK:  Incorporate what, Senator?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That receipt from other states.


DR. PASTERNAK:  No, I would not recommend that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t think they’d want to do that either.


DR. PASTERNAK:  I would wait until we had a facility, and the Keeley bill is not the bill.  That’s not the bill that’s going to give us a facility.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  At the risk of opening it up and being here longer than six hours, let me close and thank all the speakers and all of the participants.  You’ve been here for six hours now, and some more, and I thank you for your patience and your diligence and all the information you’ve provided.


My colleagues are no longer here, but I want to commend them because they really do care passionately about this issue.  I’m still searching through the science and who’s at fault and whether, in fact, some of the representations and the solutions that are proposed are either practical or feasible, and I think that’s the process we all have a responsibility to undergo.


DR. PASTERNAK:  Senator, as you can see, we have contacts in the nuclear medicine community and the health physics community.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I may call upon you.


DR. PASTERNAK:  Please do.  We do have a web site, and please do feel free to call on us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  


Let me say that I don’t know where we’re going to go with this.  I hope there’s some resolution.  I do, however, want to share with a number of people who are participating here that I think rather than try to demonize the Department or individuals or some interest group, I think that we need to look at this in a lot more developed way.  I think we need to come to some agreement on some common terms – one – and the interpretation of those terms, because I think there’s been a lot of allegations about what is in statute or regulation that, in fact, result in abdication of authority, as Mr. Hirsch has represented, versus the Department or others – Integrated Waste Management Board, DTSC, which either have said, “We’re doing a good job,” or “We’re doing everything we’re supposed to do” – and I think it’s unfair to suggest that somehow one department or one interest group is the wrongdoer here.  


I’m not one to be inclined to look at extreme and sometimes, I think, inflammatory statements on the record.  I apologize for trying to be stern and get people into the record as to what is actually in the law versus their interpretation versus what could have a wide interpretation; therefore, we end up in the courts.


So, I thank you all for putting up with that process.  I certainly am committed to either have a follow-up committee hearing or we spend more time on these issues so we can get some answers based on some of the representations here.  To the degree we can get some final answers and some final interpretations, then let’s come back and revisit those, because I think we’ve just begun to struggle with a much more complex and broader picture than I think has been covered in the past.


Let me thank my staff.  Let me thank Miss Sanderson for being a patient shadow today from Saint Francis.  Hopefully, you’ve seen the process at one of its better moments.  Actually, it is one of the higher points.  And thank the public.  My staff’s done a great job.


Thank you all.  This meeting’s adjourned.
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